
Shropshire Council
Legal and Democratic Services
Shirehall
Abbey Foregate
Shrewsbury
SY2 6ND

Date:   Monday, 30 January 2017

Committee: 
South Planning Committee

Date: Tuesday, 7 February 2017
Time: 2.00 pm
Venue: Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, Shrewsbury, 

Shropshire, SY2 6ND

You are requested to attend the above meeting. 
The Agenda is attached

Claire Porter
Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer)

Members of the Committee Substitute Members of the Committee
David Evans (Chairman)
David Turner (Vice Chairman)
Andy Boddington
Gwilym Butler
Nigel Hartin
Richard Huffer
John Hurst-Knight
William Parr
Madge Shineton
Robert Tindall
Tina Woodward

Lee Chapman
Heather Kidd
Christian Lea
Cecilia Motley
Vivienne Parry
Kevin Turley
Leslie Winwood
Michael Wood

Your Committee Officer is: 

Linda Jeavons  Committee Officer
Tel:  01743 257716
Email:  linda.jeavons@shropshire.gov.uk



AGENDA
1 Apologies for Absence 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)

To confirm the minutes of the South Planning Committee meeting held on 10 January 
2017. 

Contact Linda Jeavons (01743) 257716.

3 Public Question Time 

To receive any questions or petitions from the public, notice of which has been given in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 14.  The deadline for this meeting is 5 pm on Thursday, 
2 February 2017.

4 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members are reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on any 
matter in which they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the room 
prior to the commencement of the debate.

5 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow Shropshire SY8 2DS (14/05573/OUT) (Pages 7 - 
68)

Outline application for the erection of a new foodstore (Use Class A1), associated petrol 
filling station, and associated car parking to include access.

6 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh Catherton Shropshire (16/02758/FUL) 
(Pages 69 - 94)

Change of use of land to accommodate 4 no. holiday chalets with associated access and 
parking; installation of package treatment plant.

7 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions (Pages 95 - 106)

8 Date of the Next Meeting 

To note that the next meeting of the South Planning Committee will be held at 
2.00 pm on Tuesday, 7 March 2017, in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall.



  
Committee and Date

South Planning Committee

7 February 2017

SOUTH PLANNING COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 10 January 2017
2.00  - 4.48 pm in the Shrewsbury/Oswestry Room, Shirehall, Abbey Foregate, 
Shrewsbury, Shropshire, SY2 6ND

Responsible Officer:    Linda Jeavons
Email:  linda.jeavons@shropshire.gov.uk      Tel:  01743 257716

Present 
Councillor David Evans (Chairman)
Councillors David Turner (Vice Chairman), Andy Boddington, Gwilym Butler, Nigel Hartin, 
Richard Huffer, William Parr, Madge Shineton, Robert Tindall and Tina Woodward

65 Apologies for Absence 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor John Hurst-Knight.

66 Minutes 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the South Planning Committee held on 6 
December 2016 be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

67 Public Question Time 

There were no public questions or petitions received.

68 Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

Members were reminded that they must not participate in the discussion or voting on 
any matter in which they had a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest and should leave the 
room prior to the commencement of the debate.

With reference to planning application 16/02739/FUL, Councillor David Turner 
declared that the speaker for the developer was someone with whom he had had a 
business relationship many years ago and the developer’s Transport Consultant was 
well known to him and for reasons that there may be a perception of bias he would 
leave the room during consideration of this item.

With reference to planning application 16/03878/FUL, Councillor David Turner 
declared that he was a member of The Shropshire Hills AONB Partnership and The 
Shropshire Hills AONB Transition Board and one of the objectors was a personal 
friend.  As local Ward Councillor he would make a statement and then leave the 
room and take no part in the consideration of, or voting on, this application.



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 10 January 2017

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 37

69 Land Adjacent To Sainsbury's Supermarket, Old Smithfield, Bridgnorth 
(16/02739/FUL) 

By virtue of his declaration of interest at Minute No. 68, Councillor David Turner left 
the room during consideration of this item.

The Principal Planner introduced the application and with reference to the drawings 
displayed, she drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and elevations.   

Members had undertaken a site visit and had viewed the site and assessed the 
impact of the proposal on the surrounding area.

Members noted the additional information as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Letters circulated prior to the meeting.

Mr S Robbins, representing Bridgnorth Chamber of Commerce, spoke against the 
proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning 
Committees.

Mr M Cooksey, a local resident, spoke against the proposal in accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

Councillor David Cooper, representing Bridgnorth Town Council, spoke against the 
proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning 
Committees.  

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor Christian Lea, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement, took no part in the debate and did not vote on this 
item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 The proposal would mean the end and demise of Bridgnorth High Street and 
side streets.  Bridgnorth had a wealth of traders and businesses that were 
popular with local people and liked by those that regularly visited the town;

 With regard to paragraph 4.1.2 of the report, he questioned whether the £2.0m 
figure quoted was actually realistic and considered it optimistic to expect that 
much clawback of trade leakage could be achieved as Bridgnorth could not be 
expected to compete with places such as Telford and Merry Hill;

 He expressed concerns regarding the reduction in car parking spaces.  It was 
already difficult to park and more so on a Saturday.   Local traders may not 
always be able to afford to contribute to the current park and ride scheme; and

 The scheme would cause congestion and pollution created by additional 
vehicle movements and delivery vehicles.  This could have a detrimental 
impact on the accessibility of emergency vehicles.

With the permission of the Chairman and due to the fact that additional speakers had 
been allowed to speak against the proposal, the developer was permitted to speak 
for up to six minutes.  Mr J Liggins, the developer, spoke for the proposal in 



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 10 January 2017

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 38

accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees 
and responded to questions from Members.   In response to questions from 
Members of the Committee, Mr Liggins provided clarification on the potential impact 
on the Town, current parking agreement held between Shropshire Council and 
Sainsbury’s and why the DIY store covered by an extant planning permission had not 
been developed.

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor William Parr, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement, took no part in the debate and did not vote on this 
item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 Residents, Bridgnorth Chamber of Commerce and Bridgnorth Town Council 
did not support the proposal;

 Would have an impact on the viability of the Town; there was already sufficient 
shops on the high street;

 Tourism footfall would fall; 
 Bridgnorth had recently become the winner of the 2016 Large Market Town 

award based on its current character; and
 Would result in the loss of valuable car parking spaces and the retail units 

would generate further vehicle movements.

In the ensuing debate and having considered the submitted plans and noting the 
comments of all speakers, Members expressed differing views.  Some Members 
expressed concerns regarding the loss of car parking and considered the developer’s 
estimate that only 4.7% of trade would be lost from Bridgnorth town centre as being 
no more than guesswork with some suggesting that the impact could be higher.  
Some Members acknowledged that the site fell within the development boundary for 
Bridgnorth and supported the proposal and suggested that it would provide increased 
retail choice and help to claw-back expenditure/trade lost elsewhere.

In response to comments and questions, the Principal Planner, Solicitor, Principal 
Policy Specialist Officer and Area Highways Development Control Manager (South) 
provided clarification on parking arrangements, the existing parking agreement, 
extant planning permission, the submitted Retail Assessment, the methodology for 
conducting retail assessments, national and local policy on retail development, future 
parking strategies and the Local Plan review.  Officers advised that the proposed 
reduction of parking spaces and a total trade diversion of 4.7%  could not be 
considered as one that would have a significant adverse impact and significant 
enough to warrant refusal.  Prior to being put to the vote, the Solicitor advised 
Members that if the Committee determine and wish to refuse an application contrary 
to the Officer recommendation, it may not continue to determine that application if the 
reasons to refuse might not be considered to be defensible if challenged and should 
be a “minded to refuse” decision.



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 10 January 2017

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 39

RESOLVED:

That, in accordance with Shropshire Council’s Constitution, consideration of this 
planning application be deferred to a future meeting with Members minded to refuse 
the application for the following reasons:

The Committee acknowledges that the proposal would provide additional retail 
choice in Bridgnorth Town Centre, but the loss of car parking spaces and the 
uncertainty of the impact on independent traders in the Town Centre would be 
contrary to Core Strategy Policy CS15 and paragraph 27 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework.

(At this juncture, the meeting adjourned at 15:50 and reconvened at 15:54.)

70 Walkhamwood Farm, Faintree, Bridgnorth, Shropshire, WV16 6RQ 
(15/05330/EIA) 

The Technical Specialist Planning Officer introduced the application and drew 
Members’ attention to the further representations received as set out in the Schedule 
of Additional Letters.

Members had undertaken a site visit that morning and had viewed the site and 
assessed the impact of the proposal on the surrounding area.  

Members noted the additional information as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Letters circulated prior to the meeting.

RESOLVED: 

That this item be deferred to a future meeting to enable further consideration to 
be given to additional representations.

(As local Ward Member, Councillor Robert Tindall did not vote on this item.)

71 Withies Campsite, Stretton Road, Much Wenlock, Shropshire (16/03878/FUL) 

The Principal Planner introduced the application and with reference to the drawings 
displayed, he drew Members’ attention to the location, layout and elevations.   

Members had undertaken a site visit and had viewed the site, the location of the 
proposed access, facilities building and shepherds huts accommodation, the land 
where tents and touring caravans could pitch, and the existing vehicular access that 
would be closed.  Members also walked the route available across the adjacent 
paddock which pedestrians would take to reach Blakeway Hollow and assessed the 
impact of the proposals on the surrounding area.

Members noted the additional information as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Letters circulated prior to the meeting.



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 10 January 2017

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 40

Mr R Dower, a local resident, spoke against the proposal in accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

Mr R Marcar, a local resident, spoke for the proposal in accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

Councillor Mrs M Hill, representing Much Wenlock Town Council, spoke against the 
proposal in accordance with the Council’s Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning 
Committees.

Mrs M Holt, the agent, spoke for the proposal in accordance with the Council’s 
Scheme for Public Speaking at Planning Committees.

In accordance with the Local Protocol for Councillors and Officers dealing with 
Regulatory Matters (Part 5, Paragraph 15) Councillor David Turner, as local Ward 
Councillor, made a statement and then left the room, took no part in the debate and 
did not vote on this item.  During his statement, the following points were raised:

 On a positive front, the site operated under an Exemption Certificate and 
provided it operated within the constraints of the Freedom Camping Club’s 
rules he believed that it could continue to do so.  This application could be 
capable of making a positive contribution to Much Wenlock’s tourism offer and 
visitor economy and offer a welcome contrast to the normal camping and 
caravanning experience offered around the Town;

 Unfortunately, the application had paid scant regard to the local community’s 
aspirations and had not embraced the Much Wenlock Neighbourhood 
Development Plan in setting out its case; 

 Neighbour amenity - objectors contend that this was not a tranquil site;
 Highways – He drew attention to the repeated concerns expressed with 

regard to highway safety.   The B4371 was governed by the national speed 
limit and many who were familiar with it drove their vehicles to this limit and 
some maybe in excess of this limit.  The road was used by farm traffic and 
articulated and other HGVs and access and egress off the site would require 
the utmost care and more so if unfamiliar with the road and towing a caravan;

 Pedestrians – In bad weather Blakeway Hollow was muddy and slippery and 
in the dark its uneven surface was hazardous and this may lead to 
pedestrians defaulting to walking the highway;

 Landscape – He shared the concerns expressed by the National Trust;
 Flooding – Any hard surfaces would contribute to flood risk in the Town and 

should be avoided; and
 He urged the Committee to refuse the application in its current form; however, 

if granted he suggested that conditions should be attached to address 
flooding, impact (huts should be freestanding and mobile without decking and 
pitches and shepherds huts should have a limited period of occupancy and 
site conditions should limit occupation to the holidays season) and neighbour 
amenity.

In the ensuing debate, Members considered the submitted plans and noted the 
comments of all speakers.  To ensure the provision, establishment and maintenance 



Minutes of the South Planning Committee held on 10 January 2017

Contact: Linda Jeavons on 01743 257716 41

of an appropriate and reasonable standard of landscape, Members requested that 
appropriate deciduous/rural planting should be undertaken and the existing conifers 
should be removed.

RESOLVED:

That, subject to the decision not being called-in by the Secretary of State, Planning 
Permission be granted as per the amended Officer’s recommendation as set out in 
the Schedule of Additional Representations, subject to:

 The conditions as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, subject to:

(i) Condition 3 being amended as set out in the Schedule of Additional 
Representations and to read, “No more than 4 shepherds huts, 5 
touring caravans and 16 tent pitches shall be provided/sited within the 
application site at any one time.”;

(ii) Appropriate conditions being amended/added to ensure that the 
external surfaces of the roof area of the facilities and storage building 
and the shepherds huts be BS18B29; and 

(iii) Improved signage directing walkers/pedestrians to Blakeway Hollow.

72 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions 

RESOLVED:

That the Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions for the southern area as at 10 
January 2017 be noted.

73 Date of the Next Meeting 

RESOLVED:

That it be noted that the next meeting of the South Planning Committee will be held 
at 2.00 pm on Tuesday, 7 February 2017 in the Shrewsbury Room, Shirehall, 
Shrewsbury, SY2 6ND.

Signed (Chairman)

Date: 



Committee and date

South Planning Committee

7 February 2017

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 14/05573/OUT Parish: Ludford 

Proposal: Outline application for the erection of a new foodstore (Use Class A1), 
associated petrol filling station, and associated car parking to include access

Site Address: Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow Shropshire SY8 2DS

Applicant: 

Case Officer: Karen Townend email: planningdmne@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 352276 - 275636

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2016  For reference purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Recommendation:- That the Area Planning Manager be given delegated authority to GRANT 
planning permission subject to the conditions set out in appendix 1 of this report and subject to 
consultation with the Secretary of State.

REPORT

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
1.1 This application was previously considered by the South Planning Committee at 

its meeting on the 11th October 2016.  Members at that meeting were minded to 
refuse the application, the minutes of the meeting record the reason for refusal as:
“The site is outside the Site Allocations and Management of Development 
(SAMDev) boundary and the proposal will have a significant impact and will not 
help to maintain and enhance the vitality and viability of Ludlow Town Centre.  
Accordingly, the proposal will be contrary to SAMDev S10, paragraph 27 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Core Strategy Policy CS15.  The 
development will be contrary to CS6 which requires that proposals likely to 
generate significant levels of traffic to be located in accessible locations where 
opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport can be maximised 
and the need for car based travel to be reduced; and any development should 
contribute to the health and wellbeing of communities, including safeguarding 
residential and local amenity; and
Insufficient information has been submitted relating to the traffic consequences of 
the scheme given other planned development in the area, including the housing 
site allocation LUD017.”

1.2 This report seeks to provide members with further information on the application 
as received from the applicant following the October meeting; the comments 
received as a result of a consultation on this additional information and advice of 
the risks associated with refusing the application for the above reasons.  The 
original report presented to members in October 2016 is attached to this report for 
information.

1.3 The risk of refusing any planning application is that the applicant appeals the 
decision.  This is a risk in that a Planning Inspector deciding an appeal may 
overturn the Councils decision and allow the proposal.  There are costs 
associated with defending an appeal against refusal but there are also risks of the 
Council being required to pay the appellants costs of an appeal.  Costs can be 
awarded if the Council is considered to have behaved unreasonably, in not 
allowing the application or in its conduct in defending an appeal, and the 
unreasonable behaviour has directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or 
wasted expense in the appeal process. The purpose of the of the costs regime is 
stated to include encouraging local planning authorities to properly exercise their 
development management responsibilities, to rely only on reasons for refusal 
which stand up to scrutiny on the planning merits of the case.  All involved in the 
appeal process should behave in a reasonable way including presentation of full 
and detailed evidence to support their case. 

1.4 This report is before members on the basis that the above reason for refusal was 
considered by officers, at the October committee meeting, to not be defensible if 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

challenged at appeal.  The report below seeks to advise members on the 
defensibility of the different parts of the above reason for refusal.

2.0 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RECEIVED 
2.1 Following the October committee meeting the applicant has submitted revised 

plans reducing the size of the store and repositioning it on the application site, a 
revised assessment of the impact on the vitality and viability of the town centre 
and also additional information regarding traffic movements to take into account 
the allocated housing site on the A4117. 

2.2 The agent has confirmed that they have not signed with an end operator but have 
been having discussions with several retailers who have all confirmed that a store 
of approximately 1,951sqm would be suitable and still large enough to claw back 
expenditure currently leaked from Ludlow to other towns.  In terms of layout the 
revised plans show the store backing onto the A49 with the service yard between 
the store and the road.  

2.3 The agent has also sought to clarify that the retail impact, which was originally 
between 10.5% and 11% but now reduced to between 9% and 9.6%, would be, in 
the most an impact on Tesco.  The assessment previously carried out showed that 
the impact on the smaller retailers in the town centre would have been around 
1.4% to 1.8% in the original submission and now around 1.2% to 1.6%.

2.4 An addendum to the transport report has been provided which seeks to test the 
predicted highway conditions in 2026 with the proposed food store and the 
dwellings on the allocated SAMDev site.  The report concludes that the 
roundabout at the A49 and A4117 junction would continue to operate well within 
capacity following both developments.  

2.5 Furthermore, in addition to the changes proposed to the layout the applicant has 
offered to restrict delivery hours outside of school drop-off and pick-up times, 
employ a school crossing person on site and provide acceleration lanes to 
mitigate speeding on the A4117.

3.0 RECONSULTATION COMMENTS
3.1 Consultee Comments
3.1.1 Ludford Parish Council – In response to the latest amendments to this planning 

application Ludford Parish Council makes the following comments.

Ludford Parish Council continues to oppose the development of a foodstore and 
petrol station at Rocks Green.

Ludford Parish Council supports the claims of Ludlow Town Council that the 
proposed food store would have a negative impact on Ludlow Town Centre.

Ludford Parish Council recognises that there is support from some members of 
the public for the proposed supermarket at Rocks Green, however Ludford Parish 
Council is of the view that this is not the majority decision and continues to oppose 
the proposed development. The latest amendment made by the developers has 
not changed this position.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

There are local concerns affecting residents and visitors to Rocks Green Estate 
that have not been addressed by the latest revision. These concerns include:

Pedestrians going to and from Rocks Green Estate (including accompanied and 
unaccompanied children) will be required to cross both the access to the service 
yard of the supermarket, and also the access to the supermarket car park itself. 
The proposed employment of a school crossing attendant at school hours does 
not fully address this issue since it is not within the power of the applicant to 
ensure that the businesses which subsequently occupy the site honour this 
arrangement in perpetuity.

At the junction of Dun Cow Road and the A4117, the impact of an increase of 
traffic using Dun Cow Road would cause a number of problems for residents of 
Rocks Green. The revised application does not improve on these impacts. It does 
not include a proposal to improve the ability of pedestrians crossing over the 
A4117 as outlined in Ludford Parish Council's previous letter of objection.

The assertion made by the applicants in the Planning Committee meeting of 11 
October 2016 that the increase in traffic using Dun Cow Road would not coincide 
with either school transit times or peak traffic hours is also contested by Ludford 
Parish Council because this statement ignores the likely overlap of these hours 
with peak traffic visiting the proposed filling station. The revised application does 
not change the layout of access to the filling station which it is proposed shares 
use of Dun Cow Road with the residents of Rocks Green Estate.

Ludford Parish Council continues to oppose the Shropshire Council SAMDev plan 
that supports commercial development to the south side of the Sheet Island. 
Ludford Parish Council would very strongly oppose development at both Rocks 
Green and at the site to the south of the Sheet island.

3.1.2 Ludlow Town Council – Ludlow Town Council acknowledges that the application 
is in Ludford Parish, and the statutory consultee response is the responsibility of 
Ludford Parish Council, however the detrimental impact of the proposed out of 
town supermarket on Ludlow would be devastating and it is therefore important 
that Ludlow Town Council makes a representation.

Members object to the revised submission from the 22nd December 2016 
because it will still have a detrimental impact on Ludlow, and specifically:  
• The reconfigured footprint of the store is now over 300sq.m larger than on the 
previous plans.  Existing supermarkets are under trading.  There is no proven 
need for such a large out of town supermarket.   

The development threatens to undermine the strong tourism based economy of 
the historic market town of Ludlow.  The population of Ludlow has a finite amount 
of money to spend at the supermarket and an unnecessarily large out of town 
supermarket poses a significant threat to existing successful retail environment in 
the town centre including a market that trades six days a week in the summer and 
seven days a week in December, and has been trading in the town for over 900 
years.  



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

There is evidence of a significant amount of linked shopping currently undertaken 
by town centre supermarket shoppers, which helps to keep the town centre shops 
open.  If this stops, and the town centre shops close, it will devastate the visual 
amenity of the town and undermine the tourism economy.    This argument is 
further supported and developed in previous comments re-iterated below.    

• As well as being too large for the town, the proposed development remains 
speculative with no supermarket provider identified therefore the proposed 
development does nothing to address the acknowledged need for diversification of 
the shopping experience in Ludlow.    

• The re-orientation of the building is significantly detrimental to the visual amenity 
because the blank rear elevation and gable end greet visitors when approaching 
Ludlow from the A49, which is one of the major route ways into the town. 

• The reconfigured service yard has the reduced the landscaping in this area 
undermining the visual amenity and noise reduction qualities provided by 
landscaping. The shape of the area suggests that large delivery vehicles will have 
to reverse and the noise of warning signals will have a detrimental impact on the 
residential area adjacent to the site.

Members acknowledged the need for an additional petrol station to serve the 
town, but there should be no assumption that the Dun Cow at Rocks Green would 
be the most appropriate site.  

Members also reiterated previous comments that are still relevant to the 
application which are detailed in section 4.1.2 of the previous report appended to 
this report.  

3.1.3 Hope Bagot Parish Council – Hope Bagot Parish Meeting continues to object to 
the proposed development at Dun Cow Farm. Our grounds for objection reflect 
those of other contributors in that we feel that this is a speculative development for 
an unwanted supermarket which would deprive the independent retailers of 
Ludlow of vital custom and squeeze the life out of one the last remaining beautiful 
and dynamic town centres in England.

3.1.4 Policy Officer – Members at the South Planning Committee in October were 
‘minded to refuse’ this proposal.  The concerns of the committee included the level 
of impact of the proposal on the town centre, particularly with regard to the impact 
on small shops.  

The Applicant has subsequently amended the Plans for the store to reflect the 
concerns expressed by the committee.  Principally these changes have led to a 
reduction in the size of the store and an amended layout.  These additional policy 
comments relate to the store’s impact on the town centre, taking into account the 
comments made by Members and the proposed reduction in the store’s 
floorspace.  

For a scheme to be refused on retail impact grounds, a significantly adverse 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

impact on the town centre needs to be demonstrated in accordance with NPPF 
Paragraph 26.  The onus in on the applicant to provide sufficient information in 
their Retail Impact Assessment (RIA) in order to firstly arrive at a conclusion on 
the level of impact on the town centre (expressed as a percentage), and secondly 
to conclude on the significance of that impact.   It is accepted the applicant has 
produced a RIA in accordance with national guidance (PPS4 Good Practice 
Guidance) and best practice.  To this end it is considered the conclusions of the 
RIA offer a robust position.  

It is acknowledged the assessment of ‘significance’ is not an exact science and 
will depend on the individual circumstances of a local centre.  However, a 
judgement does need to be made, and to this end there are relevant factors which 
should be taken into account.  Of particular relevance is the ‘health’ of the town 
centre.  Generally, the stronger the ‘health’ of the centre the greater the resilience 
to any impact.  To this end the applicant has also provided a town centre heath 
check as part of the RIA (Appendix 10 to their original RIA).  This ‘heath check’ 
provides information on a number of indicators: diversity of uses; vacancy rate; 
local retailer demand; pedestrian flows; accessibility and environmental quality.  
The RIA concludes Ludlow is performing well and is vital and viable.  This 
conclusion largely corresponds with a similar exercise carried out on behalf of the 
Council in 2007 as part of the South Shropshire Retail Study.   

Original Plans
The original plans for the proposal consisted of a gross floorspace of 3,525m2 
resulting in a net sales area of 2,322m2.  The retail impact methodology used by 
the applicant, and agreed with the Policy Officer, resulted in an impact of around 
11% on the town centre.  

This took into account the impact on the following:
- Direct impact on shops within the Primary Shopping Area resulting from 

trade diversion;
- Direct impact on Tesco at Station Road as a result of trade diversion;
- Indirect impact of the loss of linked trips from Tesco to the town centre 

resulting from trade diversion.

For clarity, in assessing the original plans it was the policy view that the level of 
impact resulting from the proposal was not significantly adverse.  This position 
was supported by Peter Brett Associates acting in their capacity as an 
independent retail consultant.   

Amended Plans 
The applicant has amended the size and layout of the proposed store in light of 
the Committee’s comments.  The proposed store now has a gross floorspace of 
2,787sqm, resulting in a net sales area of 1,951sqm.  This equates to a reduction 
in net sales area of 371sqm (16%).     

The applicant has then reassessed the level of impact resulting from this reduction 
in floorspace using the same methodology as previous.  This results in an impact 
of around 9.6%.  



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

It is evident the proposed reduction in floorspace has resulted in a reduction in 
expected store turnover, which in turn results in a lesser impact on the town 
centre. The applicant’s further assessment continues to show that the majority of 
the impact is on the Tesco on Station Road (7.4% which includes the indirect 
impact resulting from the loss of linked trips) with relatively less impact on 
Ludlow’s smaller shops (between 1.2 and 1.6%), with 0.4-0.6% on Budgens.   

Conclusion
It is acknowledged there will be an impact on Ludlow Town Centre resulting from 
this proposal.  The council are required to assess this level of impact for its 
significance. Having assessed the appellant’s updated information as well as 
revisiting the applicant’s town centre heath check, it continues to be the Policy 
view that this level of impact (9.6%) is unlikely to result in a significantly adverse 
impact on Ludlow’s town centre.  This conclusion has taken into account the 
relative health of Ludlow town centre, as well as the overtrading of the current 
Tesco store at Station Road. 

3.1.5 Highways – Shropshire Council as Highway Authority have now had an 
opportunity to review the additional information submitted by the Applicants 
Highways Consultants, dated 22nd December 2016, and confirm that we continue 
to raise no objection to the granting of consent. It is considered that the applicant 
has demonstrated that the A4117/A49 Roundabout will operate within its 
theoretical capacity, taking into account the additional vehicle movements 
associated with allocated site LUD017.

Despite the above, it is acknowledged that no further analysis has been provided 
with regard to the likely impact on the A4117/Dun Cow Road junction. However, 
the proposed development is a reduction on the previous application considered 
by Committee, and no Highway objection was previously raised. In addition, It is 
considered that on the submission of a planning application for allocated site 
LUD017, consideration will need to be given to the most suitable form of junction 
and the interaction with the proposed food store access if permission is granted. 

3.1.6 Environment Agency – The amended site plan which shows above ground tank 
locations is positive and would enable us to withdraw our objection. The only thing 
we would advise is that it the above ground tank compound is appropriately 
bunded (see comments below), this is not clear from the site plan. 

Recommends conditions relating to the petrol filling station, tanks, drainage and 
surfacing.

3.2 Public Comments
3.2.1 49 letters of objection have been received following the October committee 

meeting.  The letters raise the following concerns:
 Site is not allocated for development
 Outside development boundary, outside Principle Centre and outside Primary 

Shopping Area
 Development is on greenfield site
 Amended scheme does not change impact on town centre 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 Public experience is that Tesco is not overtrading
 Will also impact on Craven Arms, Leominster and Cleobury
 Reduction from 10% impact to 8% is not significant
 Closure of Budgens questions overtrading and need for an additional store
 Business rates due to go up as well
 Will alter the shopping patterns of residents
 Impact on employment
 Impact on tourism 
 Speculative development
 Other retailers in town centre sell childrens clothing
 Development is cramped on the site
 Amended scheme is larger but claiming to be smaller
 Developer probably over-sized the store to be able to reduce it 
 Insufficient landscaping
 Unsuitable development in countryside
 Alternative sites available in the town centre
 Locals don’t want this store
 No need for another supermarket
 Trade draw from Tesco calculated up would mean Tesco has an unreasonable 

and unbelievable income from this store
 Survey work undertaken too small and from unsuitable locations
 Rocks Green needs a small convenience store not something of this size
 Town centre already affected by car parking charges, developer should 

provide 200 parking spaces in the town centre available for free parking
 Highways and traffic safety issues
 Does not provide for pedestrian crossing of the A49 & A4117
 Development of this site is not sustainable
 Noise impact on neighbouring residents

3.2.2 4 letters have also been received in of support of the scheme commenting as 
follows:
 Low income families need a larger store 
 Shops in the town centre are for tourists not local people

3.2.3 Two petitions in support of the proposal have also been submitted by the agent 
with a total of 57 signatures.

3.2.4 Love Ludlow have provided further comment following the publication of the 
amended scheme and information questioning the size changes in the 
amendments and raising concerns that the additional information does not take 
into account linked trips or changes in on-line shopping, that it will impact on 
residents, affect highway safety, drainage and character of the area

3.2.5 Ludlow Civic Society have also written a further objection raising concerns about 
the lack of an end user and the impact on the town centre.

4.0 THE MAIN ISSUES
 Location and sustainability of site 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 Impact on amenities of neighbouring properties
 Retail impact on town centre 
 Highways impact of development and allocated housing site

5.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL
5.1 Location and sustainability of site
5.1.1 Location and policy:  The drafted reason for refusal noted in section 1 above starts 

with the fact that the site is outside the SAMDev development boundary.  
Members raised this as a concern at the October meeting and officers have 
accepted that the site is outside the development boundary for Ludlow as shown 
in the recently adopted SAMDev.

5.1.2 A sites position outside a development boundary is not in itself sufficient grounds 
to refuse a development.  Firstly the adopted Council policies, specifically CS5 
and MD7a, do allow for some forms of development outside settlement 
boundaries; and secondly the non-compliance with development boundaries is 
only part of the overall planning balance.  Officers acknowledge that the site being 
outside the development boundary should in principle be given significant weight 
in the balance weighed against the development proposed. 

5.1.3 However, on the other side of the planning balance is the planning history of the 
site.  As noted in the October committee report there is existing development on 
the site and as such the land can be considered as a brownfield site (previously 
developed land) not a greenfield site as claimed by some objectors.  The 
redevelopment of brownfield land is promoted by paragraph 111 of the NPPF and 
the National Planning Practice Guidance.  Both documents advise that Local 
Authorities should encourage the effective use of previously development land 
provided that it is not of high environmental value.  The brownfield nature of the 
site is a material consideration which should be weighed in favour of the 
development.  

5.1.4 Furthermore, the houses to the north of the application site have been built under 
a 2006 planning consent which indicated the current application site as land for a 
hotel, but did not include it as part of the application.  Prior to that the farm house 
and outbuildings had planning permission for conversion to a hotel and restaurant.   
These previous consents are also material considerations in the determination of 
the current application.  It is accepted that there is no extant consent on the site, it 
is a matter that the principle of redeveloping the site has previously been accepted 
by the Council and this can be given some weight in the consideration.

5.1.5 It is also officer’s opinion that an application for an out of centre retail proposal by 
its very nature could be justified outside the development boundary.  There is 
general support for additional retail floor space to be provided, especially in the 
Principal Centres such as Ludlow and if there are no sequentially preferable sites 
in the town centre or edge of centre which could accommodate additional floor 
space then a site may be required outside the allocated development boundary.  

5.1.6 As noted above the location of the site outside the boundary is not an immediate 
reason to refuse.  It is a matter of weighing up the benefits and harm.  This matter 
is reconsidered later in the report.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

5.1.7 Sustainability of location:  Members also raised concerns about the location of the 
site in terms of its compliance with CS6 in regard to location providing 
opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport and contributing to 
the health and wellbeing of communities and safeguarding residential and local 
amenity.  CS6 seeks to ensure sustainable design and development principles are 
met with all applications.  The issue of amenity is considered in the following 
section of this report.  

5.1.8 With regard to location in terms of promoting walking, cycling, public transport and 
reducing car based travel the site is on the edge of Ludlow.  It is clearly walkable 
from the Rocks Green Estate and will also be within walking distance of the 
LUD017 housing development once completed.  The developer of the food store 
could also be required to help contribute towards the provision of a means of 
crossing over the A49 to encourage walking and cycling from other parts of the 
town.  However, members should also note that there is already a signal 
controlled pedestrian crossing across both the A4117 and A49, contrary to the 
comments from local residents.  

5.1.9 Furthermore, there are two other key points to consider.  Firstly care needs to be 
taken over the wording of CS6.  The policy states “To create sustainable places, 
development will be designed to a high quality using sustainable design principles, 
to achieve an inclusive and accessible environment which respects and enhances 
local distinctiveness and which mitigates and adapts to climate change. This will 
be achieved by:” (amongst other matters) “Requiring proposals likely to generate 
significant levels of traffic to be located in accessible locations where opportunities 
for walking, cycling and use of public transport can be maximised and the need for 
car based travel to be reduced;”

5.1.10 The scheme will generate traffic, the issue is whether this is significant levels of 
traffic.  The Highway Officer’s comments on the application noted the potential 
traffic impact and also accepted that the development would result in significant 
levels of traffic.  However, the Highway Officer also accepted that the site was 
within walking/ cycling distance of part of Ludlow, including parts on the opposite 
side of the A49.  A large proportion of this traffic will already be on the highway 
network, either shopping in the existing food stores in the town centre or using the 
road network to access food stores in other towns. 

5.1.11 The policy requires sites to be located where opportunities can be maximised not 
necessarily where there is already the ability to access the site by sustainable 
means.  The future housing development at LUD017 and the associated provision 
of access over the A49 would help to increase opportunities for means of travel 
other than the private car and if the developer of this site were to also contribute 
towards the access over the A49 this would add to those opportunities.  

5.1.12 The second point to consider is that the proposed food store is intended to provide 
for weekly or main food shopping trips and these are less likely to be done by 
sustainable means such as walking or cycling.  This is a material consideration 
and a factor that should be taken into account.  The Council should be seeking to 
maximise opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport however, 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

food store operators would not develop sites that are not accessible by car.

5.1.13 Overall it is officers opinion that the proposed development would generate 
significant levels of traffic but that there are currently opportunities for walking and 
cycling and these will be developed further with the construction of the housing 
allocation site and the associated crossing of the A49.  Therefore it is considered 
that the proposal accords with policy CS6. 

5.2 Impact on amenities of neighbouring properties
5.2.1 The proposed reason for refusal noted members’ concerns about the potential 

impact on the amenities of residents.  The agent has since submitted a revised 
layout plan which they consider will reduce the impact on the amenities of the 
residents of Rocks Green Crescent.  However, members should not place any 
weight on the amended plan, or the originally submitted plan.  The application to 
be determined is for outline planning permission with only the vehicle access 
submitted in detail for approval at this time.  The layout of the site, the position of 
the food store and associated service area would need to be submitted for 
approval at a later date as a separate application.  

5.2.2 Officers raised concerns about the layout as submitted with the original application 
and the October report notes that officers did not consider that the layout shown 
on the indicative plan was suitable.  The revised plan does not do much to alter 
these concerns, the orientation of the site continues to provide a harsh high barrier 
to the properties on Rocks Green Crescent and the loss of the majority of the 
landscaping on the A49 and A4117. Notwithstanding these concerns, officers 
remain of the opinion that a different layout could be achieved which moves the 
store and service yard further from the existing dwellings and also retains the 
existing landscaping along the A49.  

5.2.3 However, as noted the layout of the proposal is not for consideration at this time.  
As such negotiations have not been entered into, the layout and the direct impact 
on the amenities of the residents from the position of the store, service yard and 
car parking could not be justified as a reason for refusal. In summary, matters 
which are not before the Council for determination at this time should not be used 
to support a refusal.

5.2.4 Members concerns may not have been in relation to direct impact of loss of light 
or privacy but more to do with the ability of residents to walk from the Rocks 
Green estate to the A4117/ A49 safely, the increase in traffic on Dun Cow Road 
and the associated noise on the site.  

5.2.5 Noise from the site could be reduced by placing the store and service yard along 
the A4117 with the car parking between the store and Rocks Green estate and 
with a substantial landscaped buffer between the car park and the houses (with or 
without acoustic fencing).  A footpath with un-manned pedestrian crossings could 
be provided across the site to provide access to the residents and the agent could 
be asked to contribute towards the cost of a crossing over the A49, which the 
future housing allocation is also required to contribute towards.  There will be 
additional traffic using Dun Cow Road and the junction with the A4117 and 
thereafter the junction of the A4117 with the A49.  However, the predicted traffic 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

levels would not be to an extent that would warrant refusal that could be defended.  
The traffic on Dun Cow Road will increase and this will alter the ability of the 
residents of Rocks Green to use the road but the Council Highway Officer’s advice 
is that the increase in traffic would not be severe and as such would not meet the 
test within the NPPF for a defendable highways impact refusal.   

5.3 Retail impact on town centre
5.3.1 The applicant’s retail statement submitted with the planning application concluded 

a retail impact without including the impact on the Tesco store of 1.8% and with 
Tesco included in the assessment this impact goes up to 10%.  The agent did not 
consider that the total impact on the town centre would result in a significant 
impact on vitality or viability.  

5.3.2 However, members at the October meeting raised concerns about the impact and 
were of a view that the impact would be significant and would not enhance the 
vitality and viability of Ludlow town centre.  

5.3.3 Officers have previously accepted that the “without Tesco” figure is unrealistically 
low but that the “with Tesco” figure is more reasonable.  The Council Policy Officer 
has also previously advised that the development proposed would be likely to 
have a greater impact on loss of linked trips than was initially assumed by the 
applicant.  The Policy Officer previously concluded that the total impact on the 
town centre, with lost linked trips added, is likely to be between 10.98% and 
11.37%. It is the Policy Officer’s view that this conclusion has been arrived at 
following a suitably detailed assessment of impact on the town centre; a view 
which is supported by Peter Brett Associates, an independent retail consultancy, 
whose advice was sought prior to the October committee meeting to review the 
retail statement submitted by the applicant.  

5.3.4 Members are reminded that forecasting impact is not an exact science but that a 
reasoned and evidence judgement should be made based on the established 
methodology set out by national guidance.  The Policy Officer’s comments on the 
revised scheme are useful here in that the comments confirm that the onus in on 
the applicant to provide sufficient information in their Retail Impact Assessment 
(RIA) in order to firstly arrive at a conclusion on the level of impact on the town 
centre (expressed as a percentage), and secondly to conclude on the significance 
of that impact.  Without alternative detailed assessment and evidence there would 
not be any justification to suggest a higher impact than that concluded by the 
Council Policy Officer.  

5.3.5 The minutes of the meeting do not suggest that members were seeking to argue 
that the impact was worse than the agent and Policy Officer suggested but that 
the impact of around 11% was significant.  

5.3.6 In the October report officers accepted that 11% is more than a minor impact, but 
did not consider that 11% would result in a significant impact and as such would 
not justify refusing the current application on the basis of the impact on the vitality 
and viability of Ludlow town centre.  Peter Brett Associates commented that the 
estimated trade impacts of over 10% are clearly not insignificant. However, they 
also accept that Ludlow is a healthy town centre that performs well on a number of 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

key indicators of vitality and viability and that within this context the anticipated 
level of trade impact may not lead to significant adverse impacts under the terms 
of paragraph 26 of the NPPF or merit refusal of planning permission in 
accordance with paragraph 27 of the NPPF.

5.3.7 As noted above, in response to this concern the agent has reduced the size of the 
store and also reduced the size of the sales area.  Proportionally the size of the 
sales area to store ratio is increased, however the sales area has reduced and it is 
the agent’s opinion that this also reduces the overall impact.  A revised impact 
table has also been submitted to the Council and both the amended plan and 
revised table have been publically consulted on.  The objections noted in section 3 
above have all been received following the publication of this additional 
information.

5.3.8 Concerns have been raised that the size of the store has increased not reduced.  
The footprint of the building has increased, however the proposal original included 
a partial second floor for storage and this is no longer part of the proposal.  As 
such the footprint is physically bigger but the agent has confirmed that the internal 
gross floor area and sales areas have been reduced.  As such both the agent and 
the objectors are correct, but these are matters of design, scale and layout which 
would be considered under an application for approval of reserved matters, should 
the current outline application be granted and are not for consideration at this time 
(see section 5.2 above).  The gross floor area and sales areas, and the level of 
comparison goods, could be restricted by condition and a new condition 4 has 
been included into the conditions listed at appendix 1 of this report.  The footprint 
of the store could be reduced by reinstating the first floor area, without increasing 
either gross floor area or sales area.  

5.3.9 As such, although the footprint has increased, the sales area has reduced and 
therefore the agent has submitted a revised retail impact table.  The new table 
suggests a revised impact of between 9% and 9.6% on the whole of the town 
centre and an impact of between 1.2% and 1.6% without Tesco.   Since the 
publication of that table Councillor Boddington raised queries with the agent and a 
newly revised table has been submitted.  This table amends the impact on the 
town centre, without Tesco, to 2.3% to 3.1% (but does not alter the impact with 
Tesco).

5.3.10 Paragraphs 26 and 27 of the NPPF are relevant here.  These two paragraphs 
state:
26.  When assessing applications for retail, leisure and office development outside 
of town centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date Local Plan, local 
planning authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is 
over a proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no locally set 
threshold, the default threshold is 2,500 sq m).This should include assessment of:
● the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 
private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal; 
and
● the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local 
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and wider area, up to five years 
from the time the application is made. For major schemes where the full impact 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

will not be realised in five years, the impact should also be assessed up to ten 
years from the time the application is made.

27.  Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have 
significant adverse impact on one or more of the above factors, it should be 
refused.

5.3.11 A retail impact assessment was submitted with the application and the latest 
updated impact table is an addendum to the original assessment.  The 
assessment has considered the impact on existing, committed and planned 
investment in the town centre and has considered the impact of the proposal on 
town centre vitality and viability at the correct time period to comply with the 
requirements of paragraph 26.  The assessment considered that the proposal 
would increase consumer choice in Ludlow and also clawback some of the trade 
which is currently lost from the town by adding another retail operator to the 
existing provision.  The resultant impact percentage acknowledges that there will 
be some impact on town centre trade and therefore viability and vitality.

5.3.12 Paragraph 27 of the NPPF advises that the impact needs to be significantly 
adverse to justify refusal of a planning application.  The decision to be made is 
therefore whether an impact of between 9% and 9.6% is a significant impact on 
one or more of the factors referred to in paragraph 26.  Members need to 
acknowledge in their consideration of impact that the majority of this impact will be 
on the existing Tesco store.

5.3.13 Furthermore, the significance of the impact should also take into account the 
health of a town centre, which is a material consideration in such applications.   As 
advised by the Policy Officer, the stronger the ‘health’ of the centre the greater the 
resilience to any impact.  The ‘heath check’ submitted by the agent provides 
information on a number of indicators: diversity of uses; vacancy rate; local retailer 
demand; pedestrian flows; accessibility and environmental quality.  The Retail 
Impact Assessment concludes Ludlow is performing well and is vital and viable.  
This conclusion largely corresponds with a similar exercise carried out on behalf of 
the Council in 2007 as part of the South Shropshire Retail Study.   

5.3.14 Officers remain of the view that the revised impact would be more than minor and 
not insignificant, as noted by Peter Brett Associates, but accept that there would 
be an impact on the town centre.  However, officers also remain of the opinion 
that, taking into account the health of the town centre and the positive benefits that 
would be gained, from trade clawback and increased consumer choice, that the 
revised level of impact is unlikely to result in a significantly adverse impact on the 
vitality and viability of the town centre.  

5.3.15 However, officers do accept that this is an opinion and that members are entitled 
to reach a different opinion based on the information and facts in front of them.  
Members should be wary of attempting to suggest that the impact would be 
greater than that shown by the agent without further evidence in accordance with 
paragraph 26 of the NPPF.  However, member’s opinion on the significance of the 
shown impact against one or more of the factors to be considered in paragraph 26 
may be different to officers.  If members remain of a view that the impact, even as 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

revised down to 9.6%, would result in significant adverse impact on the vitality and 
viability of Ludlow town centre as a whole then your officers would advise that this 
could possibly be justified as a reason for refusal against paragraphs 26 and 27 of 
the NPPF, Core Strategy policy CS15 and SAMDev policy MD10b.

5.4 Highways impact of development and allocated housing site
5.4.1 Paragraph 32 of the NPPF advises that developments that generate significant 

amounts of traffic should be supported by a Transport Statement and promotes 
sustainable modes of travel, safe accesses and improvements to existing 
transport networks.  Core Strategy Policy CS6 states that proposals likely to 
generate significant levels of traffic should be located in accessible locations 
where opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport can be 
maximised and the need for car based travel to be reduced.   

5.4.2 The drafted reason for refusal noted in the minutes of the October committee 
meeting record the highways concerns, in addition to the sustainability argument 
discussed previously, as:
“Insufficient information has been submitted relating to the traffic consequences of 
the scheme given other planned development in the area, including the housing 
site allocation LUD017.”
The minutes of the meeting note that members expressed concern with regard to 
the increased traffic, the detrimental impact this would have on Rocks Green and 
that the transport assessment submitted with the application for the food store 
should have taken into account LUD017.  The issue of impact on Rocks Green is 
considered above, this section provides additional information and advice in 
relation to the impact of the food store and LUD017.

5.4.3 As noted in section 2 above the agent has provided an addendum to the transport 
assessment to seek to overcome this part of the reason for refusal recommended 
by members.  The housing site LUD017 is allocated in the SAMDev for 
development of approximately 200 dwellings.  The transport assessment 
addendum assesses the scheme for a development of 215 houses and assumes 
that all the traffic would pass through the roundabout to provide a robust 
assessment of potential traffic impact.  Standard methodology and traffic levels 
have been used to predict the amount of traffic that the housing development 
would generate and these industry standards are used across England, with the 
exception of London where traffic is clearly different.

5.4.4 The addendum advises that, based on the predicted traffic flows for the food store 
and the allocated housing site, there would be queues of up to 2 cars for a delay 
of between 4.66 and 6.72 seconds on weekdays and less on Saturdays.  This 
would not be considered to be unacceptable traffic impact and the junction would 
continue to operate well within capacity.  

5.4.5 The Council Highway Officer’s comments on the updated information are provided 
at 3.1.5 above and confirms that they have no objection and that they have 
confirmed that the A4117/A49 roundabout will operate within its theoretical 
capacity, taking into account the additional vehicle movements associated with the 
proposed development and the allocated site LUD017.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

5.4.6 As such there is no evidence or justification to support a refusal on the grounds 
drafted at the October meeting and officers would strongly advise members 
against pursuing this part of the reason for refusal.

5.5 Planning balance 
5.5.1 As noted in section 5.1 of this report the site is outside the development boundary 

for Ludlow.  This in itself is not a reason to refuse planning permission, section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that all planning 
applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  The non-compliance with 
the adopted development plan is a matter which should be given significant weight 
against the proposal in the planning balance.  Officers consider that members may 
also be of the opinion that the impact on the vitality and viability of Ludlow town 
centre is also on the negative side of the balance.  

5.5.2 On the positive side, to be given weight in favour of supporting the application, 
should be the brownfield nature of the site, the previous acceptance of 
redeveloping the site and the economic benefits that will be gained by retaining 
more expenditure in the area and the provision of new jobs.

5.5.3 The environmental impact in terms of visual appearance and impact on residential 
amenities is not at this time known.  The connectivity to residential areas by 
means other than the private car is considered by officers to be neutral as the site 
could be better connected but does provide some opportunities for walking, 
cycling and reducing the need for car based travel.

6.0 CONCLUSION
6.1 For the reasons given in this report officers retain their strong advice given at the 

October committee meeting that the draft reason for refusal detailed in section 1 
above would not be defensible if challenged at appeal and furthermore that 
pursing the draft reason for refusal may put the Council at risk of an award of 
costs.

6.2 The location of the site outside the SAMDev development boundary is 
acknowledged but is considered to be balanced by the brownfield nature of the 
site; the connectivity of the site and its ability to maximise opportunities to reduce 
car based and increase other means of travel is also considered to be neutral 
given the existing pedestrian crossing points, the allocated housing site LUD017 
and that many of the traffic movements associated with this form of development 
would already be on the highway network.

6.3 The impact on the amenities of the residents of properties around the site cannot 
be fully considered at this time but officers consider that an appropriate scheme 
could be designed that would not result in unacceptable levels of harm.  As such 
there is no evidence before members that could justify a defensible refusal on the 
basis of impact on amenities and pursuing this part of the reason for refusal could 
be considered to be unreasonable and would not stand up to scrutiny.  The traffic 
movements from the site, in combination with the traffic from LUD017, are 
accepted to be significant but will not result in severe highway safety implications 
or result in junctions on the highway reaching capacity.  As such the Council 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

would be at risk of an award of costs if the reason for refusal included impact on 
highways when the evidence before members is that the evidence shows 
acceptable levels of impact.  

6.4 Finally, as noted above, officers also remain of the opinion that the impact on the 
vitality and viability of Ludlow town centre would not be significantly adverse.  
However, members could, on this issue reach a different conclusion as officers 
acknowledge that the impact is not minor and the significance of an impact is a 
subjective matter.  Therefore if members are minded to continue to refuse the 
application, as amended, officers would advise that the reason for refusal focuses 
solely on the significance of the impact on the vitality and viability of Ludlow Town 
Centre.

6.5 As noted at the start of this report, there is a risk that a refusal could be appealed.  
Such an appeal could not be defended by any of the officers recommending 
approval of the application as their professional view would be supportive of the 
scheme.  As such it is likely that external professional advice would be required to 
defend the appeal which itself have a cost implication.  Furthermore a refusal on 
the significance of the impact may also not stand up to scrutiny if challenged and 
could also put the Council at risk of a costs award.  This is a decision which 
members will need to make based on the evidence and facts in front of them.

7.0 RISK ASSESSMENT AND OPPORTUNITIES APPRAISAL
7.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal - written representations, a 
hearing or inquiry.

The decision is challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The courts 
become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of policy or 
some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. However 
their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather than to make 
a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will interfere where 
the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore they are 
concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A challenge by 
way of Judicial Review must be a) promptly and b) in any event not later than six 
weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

7.2 Human Rights
Article 8 give the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol 
Article 1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be 
balanced against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development 
of the County in the interests of the Community.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

7.3 Equalities
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in planning committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1970.

8.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 There are likely financial implications of the decision and/or imposition of 

conditions if challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependant on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – in so far as 
they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker.

9.0  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies
National Planning Policy Framework
CS1 - Strategic Approach
CS3 - The Market Towns and Other Key Centres
CS4 - Community Hubs and Community Clusters
CS5 - Countryside and Greenbelt
CS6 - Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS7 - Communications and Transport
CS8 - Facilities, Services and Infrastructure Provision
CS9 - Infrastructure Contributions
CS13 - Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
CS15 - Town and Rural Centres
CS17 - Environmental Networks
CS18 - Sustainable Water Management
MD1 - Scale and Distribution of Development
MD2 - Sustainable Design
MD7B - General Management of Development in the Countryside
MD10A - Managing Town Centre Development
MD10B - Impact Assessments for Town and Rural Centres
MD12 - Natural Environment
Settlement: S10 - Ludlow

Relevant Planning History: 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

14/04052/SCR EIA Screening Request for Proposed superstore and Petrol Filling Station EA 
NOT REQUIRED 5th November 2014
SS/1/03/14950/F Conversion of agricultural buildings to hotel and restaurant; formation of 
vehicular and pedestrian access; installation of a septic tank APPROVED 29th April 2004
SS/1/01/12418/F Renewal of Planning Permission 1/06874/P dated 25th July, 1996 for change 
of use of barns to steakhouse/restaurant and car parking for 40 cars APPROVED 27th 
November 2001
SS/1/6874/P/ Use of barns as steak house/restaurant and car parking for 40 cars APPROVED 
25th July 1996
SS/1/1019/P/ Conversion of barns to a steak house restaurant with car parking for 40 cars. 
APPROVED 27th June 1991
SS/1979/574/P/ Formation of an agricultural vehicular access APPROVED 23rd October 1979

Appeals
SS/1/2521/P/ Change of use from disused farm building to retail sales. ALLOWED 15th March 
1993

10.0       Additional Information

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Cllr M. Price

Local Member  
Cllr Vivienne Parry

Appendices
APPENDIX 1 –  Conditions
APPENDIX 2 – committee report



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 1 - CONDITIONS

STANDARD CONDITION(S)

  1. Approval of the details of the design and external appearance of the development, 
layout, scale, and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority before any development 
begins and the development shall be carried out as approved.
Reason:  The application is an outline application under the provisions of Article 4 of the 
Development Management Procedure Order 2015 and no particulars have been submitted with 
respect to the matters reserved in this permission.

  2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local planning 
authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason:  This condition is required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.

  3. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of two years 
from the date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved.
Reason:  This condition is required to be imposed by Section 92 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990.

  4. The gross floor area of the food store hereby approved shall not exceed 2,787 square 
metres.  The net sales floor area shall not exceed 1,951 square metres and no more than 25% 
of the net sales floor area of the store shall be used for the sales of comparison goods (as 
defined in condition 20).

Reason: To ensure the store does not have a greater impact on the vitality and viability of 
Ludlow town centre than the scheme as amended.

  5. The following information shall be submitted to the local planning authority concurrently 
with the first submission of reserved matters:
- The means of enclosure of the site
- The levels of the site before and after development
- The foul and surface water drainage of the site in accordance with the standing advice from 
the Council Drainage Consultant
Reason:  To ensure the development is of an appropriate standard.

  6. All development, demolition or site clearance procedures on the site to which this 
consent applies shall be undertaken in line with the Protected Species Survey Focussing on 
Bats by Shropshire Wildlife Consultancy dated July 2014.
Reason: To ensure the protection of bats, which are European Protected Species

  7. Construction and demolition work, including the arrival of deliveries and unloading of 
deliveries related to the construction work, shall only be carried out between the following 
hours: Monday to Friday 07:30-18:00, Saturday 08:00-13:00. No work shall be permitted on 
Sundays or Bank Holidays without written consent from the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: to protect nearby residential amenity and the health and wellbeing of residents living in 
close proximity to the development.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

  8. The fuel tanks associated with the hereby approved petrol filling station should be 
located above ground.  Their position and means of preventing fuel spillages and incidents 
shall be submitted for approval along with the reserved matters application.
Reason:  To overcome the objection raised by the Environment Agency.

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL BEFORE THE DEVELOPMENT COMMENCES

  9. prior to the commencement of any work a construction traffic management plan shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the 
Highway Authority for the A49 Trunk Road. The plan shall give details of hours of operation, 
delivery times, access routes and procedures to reduce the spread of deleterious material on 
the strategic road network. The construction traffic management plan shall be implemented as 
approved and reviewed by the appointed main contractor throughout the construction period. If 
changes to the CMP are deemed necessary at any point throughout the construction period, 
these changes will be approved in writing by the local planning authority, in consultation with 
the highways authority for the A49 Trunk Road 
Reason: To ensure the continued safe operation of the strategic road network during 
construction activities, in accordance with paragraph 49 of DfT Circular 02/2013.

 10. No development shall take place until details of the design and construction of any new 
roads, footways, accesses together with details of the disposal of highway surface water have 
been submitted to, and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed details shall be 
fully implemented before the use hereby approved is commenced.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory access to the site.

 11. Prior to the commencement of the development full engineering details of the proposed 
junction improvements to the junction of the A4117 and Dun Cow Road  shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be fully implemented 
in accordance with the approved details before operation of proposed development.
Reason:  To ensure a satisfactory means of access to the highway.

 12. Prior to the commencement of the development full engineering details of the proposed 
foot/cycleway linkages between Ludlow and the development site, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be fully implemented in 
accordance with the approved details before the development is first occupied. 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory alternative means of pedestrian and cycle access to the 
development.

 13. No development approved by this permission shall commence until the applicant, or 
their agent or successors in title, have secured the implementation of a programme of 
archaeological work in accordance with a written scheme of investigation (WSI). The written 
scheme shall be approved in writing by the Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
works and the work thereafter carried out in accordance with the requirements of the WSI.
Reason: The site holds archaeological interest.

 14. No development approved by this permission shall commence until a photographic 
survey, as defined in English Heritage's guidance 'Understanding Historic Buildings: A Guide to 
Good Recording Practice') of the interior/ exterior of the buildings has been be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Reason: This information is required before development commences to record the historic 
fabric of the building prior to development.

 15. Prior to the commencement of development details of the location and design of  a 
minimum of three bat boxes or bat bricks suitable for nursery or summer roosting for small 
crevice dwelling bat species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The approved details shall be implemented in full prior to the occupation of the 
dwelling/ building.
Reason: To ensure the provision of roosting opportunities for bats, which are European 
Protected Species

CONDITION(S) THAT REQUIRE APPROVAL DURING THE CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO 
THE OCCUPATION OF THE DEVELOPMENT

 16. A detailed lighting plan and schedule shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority for the A49 Trunk Road, 
prior to the commissioning or alteration of any external artificial light source. This shall give 
details of lamp positions, directions, and intensity across the site and the surrounding highway 
network. The detailed lighting plan and schedule shall be implemented as approved. 
Reason: To prevent stray light from the site affecting the ongoing safe operation of strategic 
road network, in accordance with paragraph 49 of DfT Circular 02/2013.

 17. A detailed drainage scheme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, in consultation with the Highway Authority for the A49 Trunk Road, prior to 
the commencement of any works that would alter the existing drainage of the site or 
surrounding land. The detailed drainage scheme shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure the site does not drain onto the strategic road network and that the 
proposed method of drainage does not affect the interests of Highways England, in accordance 
with paragraph 50 of DfT Circular 02/2013.

 18. Prior to the first opening of the food store a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved travel plan shall be 
implemented within one month of the first occupation of the development. 
Reason: In order to minimise the use of the private car and promote the use of sustainable 
modes of transport in accordance with guidance in Planning Policy Guidance Note 13.

 19. Prior to any petrol sales or deliveries to either the petrol station or food store service 
yard taking place on site specification of acoustic fencing shall be submitted to the local 
planning authority for approval in writing. The fencing around the service yard must 
demonstrate a proposed 15dB reduction for nearby residents. The fencing associated with the 
petrol filling station shall demonstrate a proposed 5dB reduction of noise at nearby residential 
premises.
Reason: to protect the health and wellbeing of nearby residents.

CONDITION(S) THAT ARE RELEVANT FOR THE LIFETIME OF THE DEVELOPMENT



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 20. No more than 25% of the net sales floor area of the store shall be used for the sales of 
comparison goods. Comparison goods are defined within the COICOP categories for the 
following goods: 
- Clothing materials & garments
- Shoes & other footwear
- Materials for maintenance & repair of dwellings
- Furniture & furnishings
- Carpets & other floor coverings
- Household textiles
- Major household appliances, whether electric or not
- Small electric household appliances
- Tools & miscellaneous accessories
- Glassware, tableware & household utensils
- Medical goods & other pharmaceutical products
- Therapeutic appliances & equipment
- Bicycles
- Recording media
- Games, toys & hobbies
- Sport & camping equipment
- Musical instruments
- Gardens, plants & flowers,
- Pets & related products
- Books & stationery
- Audio-visual, photographic and information processing equipment,
- Appliances for personal care, jewellery, watches & clocks
- Other personal effects.
Reason: To maintain planning control over the type of goods sold from the store and hence the 
viability of Ludlow town centre.

 21. Notwithstanding the provisions of the 1987 Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) 
Order or succeeding orders, the food store hereby approved shall not include the following 
dedicated ancillary retail facilities:   
- A post office
- A dry cleaners
- A travel agents   
- An optician 
- A pharmacy 
Reason: To maintain planning control over the type of goods and services available in the store 
and to safeguard the vitality and viability of Ludlow town centre.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

APPENDIX 2 – COMMITTEE REPORT – 11TH OCTOBER 2016

1.0 THE PROPOSAL
1.1 The application is for outline planning permission for the erection of a food store, 

petrol filling station and associated car parking and landscaping.  Access is the 
only detail which has been submitted for approval at this time with the layout, 
scale, appearance and landscaping are reserved for later approval.  

1.2 The supporting information includes a Planning and Retail Statement, Design and 
Access Statement, landscape report, sustainability assessment, contaminated 
land surveys, archaeology report, ecology surveys, flood risk assessment, noise 
survey, tree survey, transport assessment and travel plan.  An amended retail 
statement was also submitted during the consideration of the application following 
consultation comments from the Council Policy Officer. 

1.3 Prior to consent being granted the Council is required to notify the Secretary of 
State under The Town and Country Planning (Consultation) (England) Direction 
2009 as the application consists of the provision of out of centre retail where, 
cumulatively, with other consented developments, will provide new floor space of 
more than 5,000 square metres.  As such any recommendation for approval would 
be subject to this notification and, subject to the application not being called in, 
conditions as detailed within the report.

1.4 It is the opinion of Shropshire Council as Local Planning Authority that the
proposal is not an EIA development under any part of either Schedule 1 or 
Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 2015 and as such do not require 
an Environmental Statement to be submitted. The application does meet the 
criteria of Part 10(b) of Schedule 2 of the 2015 Regulations being an urban 
development project however taking into account the advice in the National 
Planning Practice Guidance (available online) the application is not considered to 
require an Environmental Statement as the proposed development is not 
significant in relation to the surrounding uses and would not have a significant 
impact or result in significant effects on the environment by virtue of its nature size 
or location.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION
2.1 The site lies to the north of Ludlow on the junction of the A49 and A4117 with 

access off the A4117 via a new mini roundabout on Dun Cow Road.  It is a 1.488 
hectare site with 0.15 of that being for the petrol filling station.  It is currently 
occupied by a farm house and outbuildings which are redundant following the 
construction of the Rocks Green housing estate to the north of the application site.  

2.2 A tall Leylandii hedge runs along the west and south boundaries of the site 
whereas the northern boundary, with the adjacent houses, is a post and wire 
fence.   There is also housing to the west on the opposite side of the A49 with 
open fields to the east on the opposite side of Dun Cow Road.  

2.3 The majority of Ludlow lies to the west of the A49 with the town centre lying on the 
opposite side of the railway line from the A49.  However the existing Rocks Green 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

housing estate and Ludlow Rural Enterprise employment site sit on the east side 
of the A49 and the allocated housing site shown in the recently adopted SAMDev 
is to the east of the A49 on the opposite side of the A4117 from the application 
site.  As such although Ludlow has historically been on the inside of the A49 the 
future growth plan for the town is to the east of the road.  

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION 
3.1 The Parish Council response is contrary to the recommendation from the case 

officer and the local member has advised that they consider the issues raised are 
both material planning considerations and should be debated at committee.

In discussion with the chair and vice chair of the planning committee it was 
concluded that the application should be a committee determination for the 
reasons given above.

As such the scheme of delegation has been followed and a committee decision is 
required.  

4.0 COMMUNITY REPRESENTATIONS
4.1 Consultee Comments
4.1.1 Ludford Parish Council – At a meeting of Ludford Parish Council on Thursday 

29th January it was unanimously resolved that Ludford Parish Council would 
oppose the application for a supermarket and petrol station at Dun Cow Farm.

SAMDev
Ludford PC has been involved with the development of Shropshire Council SAM-
Dev plan since its inception.  Ludford Parish Council (LPC), supported by Ludlow 
Town Council, has consistently advocated that any further development in Ludford 
Parish should be concentrated and confined to the area to the south of Rocks 
Green and to the north of the Sheet, to the east of the A49.  The application site is 
located outside the area defined for the SAM-Dev plan.  Ludford Parish Council 
opposes the application on the grounds that the site is not included in the SAM 
Dev plan.

Ludlow Town Council
Ludlow Town Council (LTC) have opposed the application and expressed their 
view on the detrimental effect of this proposed out of town development on Ludlow 
town centre. Ludlow Town Council has formally informed LPC of the reasons for 
their decision and LPC respects the arguments outlined by LTC. Ludford Parish 
Council supports the case made by LTC without attempting to replicate the 
arguments put forward by LTC which have already been forwarded to Shropshire 
Council.

Love Ludlow
The Love Ludlow group also oppose the application and made a short 
presentation to LPC and explained that it was their view that the scale of the 
supermarket is far too large not only for the surrounding population but also for the 
Dun Cow site. Their representative explained that the employment figures 
mentioned by the developer should be balanced against the 170 full time jobs 
within Ludlow town's food sector which support some 300 employees at suppliers 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

within the local area.  (The Love Ludlow group comprises of members that 
represent the following organisations; Ludlow Chamber of Commerce, Ludlow 
Town Council, Ludlow Civic Society, Ludlow Town Centre Residents Association, 
South Shropshire Green Party, Ludlow Constituency Conservative Association, 
Ludlow Labour, Ludlow Conservation Committee, Ludlow 21, Ludlow Food 
Festival and the Campaign to Protect Rural England.)

Access issues at The Dun Cow site.
Immediately adjacent and north of the proposed site is the recently developed 
Rocks Green housing development. This comprises some 92 dwellings mainly 
designed as family homes.  The access to both the supermarket and the petrol 
station will share the access road that was built for this housing development. At 
busy times there is likely to be both congestion and a conflict between the 
domestic and commercial users of this area. Consequently there are likely to be 
very real health and safety issues with regard to children and young people who 
live at Rocks Green.  

The A4117 site access is only a short distance from the A49 traffic island and the 
increased traffic flows will impact adversely upon the pedestrian route to the bus 
stop and into Ludlow.  Deliveries by HGV's to the site add to the traffic problems in 
this limited area.

Identified concerns for local residents.
The report from the Public Protection team and others highlighted several 
concerns for local residents, including:
The degree of sound protection required would be provided by raised banks with 3 
or 4 metre fences on top, depending on either day or 24 hour deliveries.
Flood lighting of the site presumably for 24 hours either for deliveries or security.
Noise pollution from deliveries, HGV warning systems, rubbish collections and 
constant car movements.
Additional air pollution caused by idling traffic in queues, waiting for car parking 
spaces and diesel fuelled delivery vehicles.
All of the above would cause continual distress to residents especially those with 
young children.
There would be a considerable and unacceptable visual degradation to the 
residential setting and the setting of the surrounding countryside.

Survey Results
A number of surveys have been undertaken using different techniques, including 
surveys on behalf of the developers, instigated by the local MP and a third by a 
Shropshire Councillor. All of them have produced different and perhaps conflicting 
outcomes. All of them registered both strong opposition and support for the 
proposal. As these were informal surveys the results are not conclusive. It is 
assumed that the final ratio and numbers of those in favour and those opposing
the application will be made known to the Planning Committee and taken into 
account in the decision.

Within the Rocks Green community there seemed to be a majority in favour, as it 
would appear to be a real convenience for them; there is also a more widespread 
recognition of the need for an additional petrol station to serve the town.  A more 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

modest retail development within the Rocks Green area would perhaps be more 
suitable.  However, any development would need to take account of the site 
restrictions, the health and safety of the residents and their quality of life. If the site 
were to be developed it is assumed that the SAM-Dev site to the south of the 
Sheet roundabout would be excluded from SAM-Dev.

Conclusions
LPC opposes very strongly any proposal by Shropshire Council to include land for 
commercial development outside the Sheet Road and Rocks Green area in order 
to prevent urban sprawl within a rural situation. There are considerable concerns 
regarding the possible opening up of a green field location area beyond the A49.
There is already a well-established petrol station and convenience store close to 
this site. This is situated further north and on the west side on the A49 at the 
Sheet Road junction.  At this point the A49 is a relatively straight and fast route, 
interrupted by the Rocks Green roundabout which would inevitably become 
significantly busier with this development.

4.1.2 Ludlow Town Council – Members objected to the amended plans because their 
previous objections listed below had not been resolved and the new position of the 
fuel tanks effectively reduces the staff parking spaces from 27 to 11 when parking 
spaces on the site are already relatively low.

Ludlow Town Council’s Representational Committee resolved to object to 
application 14/05573/OUT at their meeting on Wednesday 14th January 2015.  

Members acknowledge that the application is in Ludford parish, and the statutory 
consultee response is the responsibility of Ludford Parish Council, however the 
detrimental impact of the proposed out of town supermarket would be significant 
and therefore members felt their role as community representatives for Ludlow 
town centre is important. 

Community Representations
At the time of writing this letter there were fifty-three public comments of which 
forty-seven are in opposition to the proposal.  These figures give a clear indication 
of the high level of local concern and opposition to the proposal.   

Ludlow Town Centre Residents Association and local organisation Love Ludlow 
have both made representations to the Committee to urge opposition to the 
proposal.    

Detrimental to Existing Street Scene & Residents’ & Visitor Amenity 
Ludlow currently has an enviable range of local independent shops including three 
butchers, two delis, three bakers and many unique retailers selling clothes, 
giftware, domestic goods, confectionary, flowers, snacks, meals & drinks.  These 
shops trade along side small town centre chain store outlets amongst the beautiful 
architecture and ambience of the town and all are subject to the same restriction 
imposed by the medieval street layout.  

The status quo of Ludlow, as it currently exists, is a workable balance that enables 
the town to develop and make plans to ensure Ludlow continues to thrive, 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

however, an out of town supermarket would distort the status quo and devastate 
the town centre.  

Local Knowledge
Members noted that the developer identified the existing Aldi store as 'out of town', 
but, in reality, Aldi is on the opposite side of the same street (Station Drive) as 
Tesco and a pedestrian crossing permits shoppers to safely walk ten metres from 
one store to the other, so both supermarkets are effectively in the town centre. In 
planning terms, the defined area of the town centre may be correctly represented; 
however, the information is misleading without local knowledge.

Outside SAMDev Boundary
The proposed supermarket, petrol station and parking is an ‘out of town’ 
development and outside the SAMDev boundary.  There is concern that this would 
set a precedent for unplanned and unwanted retail development on the outskirts of 
Ludlow.  Members resolved to object to the proposal for all the reasons stated in 
this letter, but one of the primary concerns is the devastating effect that similar out 
of town developments have had on nearby towns such as Leominster and 
Kidderminster.   Shropshire’s SAMDev submission is currently being assessed by 
central government, and has passed some significant stages, which now means it 
carries some weight within the local planning framework.

Infrastructure in the wrong place
An ‘out of town’ supermarket and petrol station offering the same number of 
parking spaces as the town centre will have a detrimental impact on the town 
centre.  The location and self contained facilities of the proposed ‘out of town’ 
supermarket would not facilitate linked shopping trips to the town centre because 
it is on the wrong side of a busy roundabout on the A49 bypass with no pedestrian 
crossing on the road leading to the supermarket.  The proposed supermarket is 
not on the local bus route.   

Linked Trips
On the other hand, the proximity of existing supermarkets Tesco, Aldi & Co-op to 
the town centre enables linked shopping trips into the town centre shops and 
cafes. Linked shopping is important to the town centre shops & businesses 
because they rely on impulse buying, which requires footfall in the town centre.  

Sufficient Provision Already Exists
There is no need for an out of town supermarket in Ludford. Current provision of 
supermarkets is more than sufficient clearly evidenced by the fact that one of the 
existing supermarkets is under trading and up for sale.  

4.1.3 Environment Agency – Object to the proposed development, as submitted, and 
request additional information as detailed below.

The proposed development includes a petrol filing station (PFS) of which there is 
limited information submitted at this time. Whilst we note that this application is 
outline we seek confirmation on the PFS element of the proposals and, 
specifically, the location of the associated tanks to ensure no detrimental impacts 
on controlled waters.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Groundwater: As confirmed in the submitted Preliminary Assessment (Ref: 
TB/JF/SR/07322/PCAR, Dated July 2014) the site is located upon Raglan 
Mudstone and the underlying strata are classified as Minor (Secondary) Aquifer.

Groundwater Protection: Policy and Practice (GP3), 2013: National guidance on 
the storage of potential pollutants is set out in our GP3 available at: 
http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/research/library/publications/144346.aspx
Policy D2 – underground storage: We will object to underground storage on 
principal and secondary aquifers unless there is evidence of overriding reasons 
why:
(a) the activity cannot take place on unproductive strata, and
(b) the storage must be underground (for example public safety), in which case we 
expect the risks to be appropriately mitigated.

The application should confirm that there are no other reasonably available sites 
on unproductive strata.

A feasibility study should confirm that there is a need for the tanks to be below 
ground; and that above ground options are not possible. We acknowledge there is 
a balance to be struck between environmental harm and proximity to sensitive 
uses, public safety, hazard zones including consideration of comments by your 
Petroleum Officer.

Providing this is confirmed, and the tanks are required to be underground, we 
would require the tanks be set above the water table in line with Policy D3.
Policy D3 – Sub Water Table Storage: We will object to storage of hazardous 
substances below the water table in principal or secondary aquifers.

We would recommend that a groundwater assessment be provided to confirm the 
depth to the water table. This may demonstrate that the tanks will be sited an 
appropriate distance above any possible groundwater levels. Alternatively, if there 
is likely to be sub water table storage of pollutants, it may be necessary for the 
application to be revised or refused. In the absence of a water table assessment 
we have concerns and would object to the proposed development as submitted at 
this time.

Pollution control: Where pollutants are stored underground we would expect 
operators to adopt appropriate engineering standards. For petrol stations, systems 
should meet the specifications within the ‘Blue Book’ (APEA, 2011) as a minimum 
requirement with monitoring systems.

Core Strategy Policy CS18: The above approach is supported by Policy CS18 of 
your adopted Core Strategy which states that proposals will ensure that new 
development enhances and protects water quality, including Shropshire 
Groundwater Resources.

NOTE – revised indicative plans have been submitted which show the fuel tanks 
located above ground.  The EA have been reconsulted but have not commented.
 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

4.1.4 Policy Officer – No objection.

Sequential Site Assessment 
In line with the requirements of Core Strategy Policy CS15 and NPPF Paragraph 
24, the applicant has carried out a suitably detailed sequential site assessment. In 
total 7 sites are assessed, and for each the applicant concludes the site is either 
not available or suitable, or both. Based on this information it is considered the 
applicant’s assessment of these sites is reasonable. On this basis it is considered 
the proposal passes the sequential test. 

Impact Assessment 
The applicant’s original Planning and Retail Statement contained an Impact 
Assessment.  Impact assessments should be in In line with Paragraph 26 of the 
NPPF and SAMDev Policy MD10b.

Following a review of its contents the Council considered the methodology behind 
the applicant’s assessment was flawed as it did not include the proposal’s impact 
on the Tesco store at Station Drive within its overall conclusions. It also failed to 
incorporate forecast impact from the loss of ‘linked trips’ within its overall 
conclusions, despite addressing this issue within their evidence.  On this basis the 
Council requested further information from the applicant before a proper 
consideration of impact could be made. 

Further to the Council’s request, the applicant has provided additional information 
regarding the potential impact of their proposed scheme on the Town Centre. This 
additional information looks at:
1) the direct impact of the proposed store on the existing Tesco Store on Station 
Road; and
2) the indirect consequences of this impact on the number of linked trips to the 
town centre. 
It is considered both these issues should be factored into the overall impact 
forecasts.   

In providing this information it is noted the applicant devotes an entire chapter of 
their retail addendum to explain why they continue to feel that assessing impact 
on the Tesco store is not necessary and in doing so they point to a case in 
Maghull.   

The Council does not accept the applicant’s argument and it is considered fully 
justified in requiring this additional information in order to properly assess the level 
of impact on the town centre. Equally, the example of Maghull is considered to be 
misplaced and of no particular relevance given the obvious differences between 
the two proposals. 

Seemingly the key area of disagreement between the Council and the applicant is 
the degree to which Tesco helps support the vitality and viability of Ludlow Town 
Centre despite being situated outside the Primary Shopping Area, but within the 
defined Town Centre.  Indeed, it is rather surprising the applicant continues to 
argue this point given their own conclusions on the importance of linked trips from 
their original statement, which indicated 54% of shoppers using Tesco always or 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

sometimes link their trips with the town centre (data from the Household Survey).   

However, notwithstanding this area of disagreement, the Council nevertheless 
appreciates the applicant’s latest information, and confirm that this is now 
sufficient to provide a conclusion on the issue with a much higher degree of 
confidence. 

Direct Impact 
The applicant’s original Statement provides a breakdown of the estimated turnover 
of the proposed store based upon 85% of its trade originating from the Study 
Area. Whilst it is more usual to apply a 90% market share from the study area, it is 
not considered in this instance this difference will lead to a significantly different 
outcome.

Paragraph 8.31 of the applicant’s original Statement confirms that based on 85% 
the projected turnover of the store will be £21.97m, of which £17.48m would be 
from convenience goods and £4.50m from comparison (non-food) goods.  Table 9 
goes on to confirm the proposal’s floorspace is proposed to be split 75% for 
convenience goods and 25% for comparison goods. 

It is acknowledged that there have been objections raised regarding this aspect of 
the applicant’s Impact Assessment, suggesting that the actual impact will be 
higher. It should be remembered that whilst forecasting impact is not an exact 
science, it does demand a reasoned judgement to be made. It is considered the 
applicant has assessed the forecasted trade diversion levels using a ‘like for like’ 
approach supported by national planning guidance. It rightly indicates the highest 
impact will be on the Tesco and Aldi stores. On this basis, it is considered the 
level of direct impact proposed is based upon a sound methodology.   

Table 1 of the applicant’s Addendum predicts the level of trade diversion from 
Tesco to be £6.29m. This corresponds with the applicant’s earlier assessment and 
is accepted as reasonable. Taking into account the level of impact of Tesco, the 
applicant then factors this into the wider impact on the town centre in Table 2 of 
their Addendum. This results in a 10.2% impact. 

The level of impact when taking into account the impact on Tesco is clearly much 
higher than the applicant’s original forecast of a 2.3% impact. 

Indirect Impact from loss of linked trips 
The applicant then provides an assessment of the impact on linked trips. It is 
apparent that the applicant considers that the results of the household survey 
regarding linked trips overstate the frequency of linked trips, and instead they 
point to the on-line survey results which indicate fewer trips made. In reality it is 
reasonable to suggest the actual figure lays somewhere between these two 
survey conclusions, although it is considered that given the sample size, the 
household survey provides a more robust assessment. 

The applicant then goes on to work through a methodology in attempting to 
quantify firstly the amount of linked trips that would be lost as a result of their 
proposal, and secondly the impact this would have on amount of consumer spend 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

on the town centre.  This assumption is based upon 35% of shoppers to the Tesco 
store carrying out linked trips, which is considered reasonable.

Paragraph 6.4 of the applicant’s Addendum considers that only 25% of those 
customers who currently link their trips between Tesco and the Town Centre 
would not carry out a similar linked trip between the proposed Rocks Green store 
and the Town Centre. It is not considered this is a realistic assumption.  It is 
considered far more reasonable and robust to assume that between 50% and 
75% of linked trips would be lost, given the much greater distance of the proposed 
Rocks Green store and the Town Centre. Unlike the Tesco store, shoppers cannot 
physically see the town centre from where they would be at Rocks Green, and it is 
acknowledged to do so would mean carrying out another car trip.  

It is therefore considered that whilst the basic methodology used to assess the 
impact of the loss of linked trips is sound, the assumptions made on the 
percentages who would not carry out a linked trip should be amended upwards in 
order to provide a more robust assessment.    

If we assumed that 50% of those who currently link their trips no longer (rather 
than 25%) the number of linked trips lost to the town centre would be  39,337 
((224,788 x 35%) x50%) 

At the higher end of the range, if we assumed  75% of those who currently link 
their trips no longer would, the number of lost linked trips to the town centre would 
be 59,006 (224,788 x 35%) x 75%) 

When applying these figures to the proposed average spend of £10 (which is 
considered reasonable) the level of trade diversion increases to: 50% lost trips = 
£0.39m (0.78% diversion rate) 75% lost trips = £0.59m (1.17% diversion rate) 

In applying these figures to the overall level of impact the applicant (0.39% using a 
25% assumption) reaches a ‘Total Impact’ 2.7%. It is not considered this 
conclusion is sound because: -  The level of lost linked trips is considered to be 
more than 25% of those who currently link their trip; and 
-  The conclusion on linked trip impact should be added to the direct level of 
impact on the town centre, including the Tesco store on Station Drive.

So, using the level of direct impact including Tesco (10.2% as set out in the 
applicant’s Table 2) and adding the Council’s higher linked trips diversion rates 
(between 0.78 and 1.17%), it is considered that the level of impact on the town 
centre is between 10.98% and 11.37%

Significance of impact
When taking into account the agreed trade diversion levels on the town centre 
Tesco store, and applying a higher level of indirect trade diversion as a result of 
lost linked trips, it is considered the level of impact on the town centre is around 
11%. 

NPPF Paragraph 27 indicates that ‘impact’ needs to be significantly adverse for it 
to lead to a refusal on these grounds. In taking into account the level of 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

significance it is appropriate to look at the current health of the town centre, as 
well as other factors such as the level of overtrading in town centre stores. 

The applicants have looked at these issues as part of their original submissions 
and their recent addendum. It is agreed that Ludlow currently benefits from a 
relatively healthy town centre emphasised by the low vacancy rate. It is also 
considered that Ludlow’s historic character provides an attractive environment for 
shoppers and visitors, and that the proposal will not impact on this.  

There is no doubt that the proposed store will divert trade from the town centre, 
primarily from the Tesco store and from associated linked trips.  However, it 
should also be acknowledged that the current Tesco store is overtrading 
significantly against its benchmark figure. The reduction in trade to Tesco is not 
therefore forecast to reduce its trade to a position below its benchmark, and there 
is little risk of this store closing as a result. 

Whilst it is considered an impact of around 11% is more than minor, having 
considered the health of Ludlow town centre and the current overtrading at the 
Tesco store, it is considered this level of impact on Ludlow town centre is less 
than significant. 

Other relevant considerations 
The location of the proposed store is located in an out-of-centre location beyond 
the A49 by-pass and it is therefore considered highly likely the majority of 
shoppers to the store will need to use their cars. The applicant argues that the 
majority of ‘linked trips’ to the town centre will continue in any case (the Council 
consider this number will be less than the applicant predicts). Assuming that a 
percentage of shoppers will continue to link their trips with the town centre, they 
will need to do so by car, which is clearly a less sustainable form of ‘link trip’. 
4.2  However, it should also be acknowledged that the direction of growth 
proposed for Ludlow in the SAMDev Plan up to 2026 is primarily to the east of the 
A49 by-pass, including a housing allocation of 200 dwellings to Land south of 
Rocks Green. It is considered the proposed store is well located against this future 
direction of growth, and may well have a positive impact on bringing these housing 
allocations forward earlier in the plan period. These factors should weigh in favour 
of it in the overall consideration of planning balance. 

If approved, it is considered necessary to apply a condition restricting the overall 
comparison floorspace of the store to no more than 25% in line with their Impact 
Assessment. This is in order to protect the vitality of the town centre.

4.1.5 Economic Development – The Business and Enterprise Service supports the 
application which will result in the creation of 210 jobs and investment of £3m.The 
applicant has also indicated a willingness to include a condition on the 
employment of local people and to engage with Job Centre Plus to ensure local 
people are matched to available positions where appropriate. 

The existing Tesco and Aldi stores are both significantly overtrading.  In addition 
there is leakage of shopping expenditure out of the area.  The development of a 
new supermarket would claw this trade back from the existing supermarkets and 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

outside the study area providing a wider range and choice of convenience and 
comparison goods within Ludlow. 

Although there is no named operator the size of the store and the split of 
convenience and comparison goods (75:25) indicates that it will not be a discount 
operator who tend to have smaller stores and a higher ratio of convenience to 
comparison goods (90:10). The impact assessment indicates that the convenience 
goods and comparison turnover trade diversion on the town centre stores will be 
6.2% and 10% respectively. Given that there is potential for larger stores to offer a 
wider range of goods and that that two of the existing operators operate at the 
lower end of the market, (Aldi and Co-op) there is potential for a large store to 
offer a wider range particularly premium goods both convenience and comparison 
goods which could compete directly with the small independent operators. 
Clarification is required to demonstrate that the impact on the town centre will not 
be significant to warrant refusal. 

4.1.6 Conservation – The proposal affects undesignated heritage assets that are 
neither listed or in a conservation area. In considering the proposal due regard to 
the following local and national policies and guidance has been taken, when 
applicable including policies CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development 
Principles’ and CS17 ‘Environmental Networks’ of the Shropshire Core Strategy 
and saved policy E6 of the South Shropshire Local Plan, as well as with national 
policies and guidance, National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 
March 2012. Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 

Previous comments were made by Rachael Parry on 30th January 2015. The main 
point made was the contribution of the buildings to the traditional rural character 
and visual appearance of the area. The historic context of the site has been 
somewhat compromised with the construction of the of A49 Ludlow bypass to the 
west, the housing site to the north as well as further development to the east 
which somewhat encloses this site away from the rural hinterland beyond.

In light of Rachael Parry’s comments, it is noted that the applicant in response to 
those comments have submitted a report from Donald Insall report ‘The Criteria 
for local listing and assessment of Dun Cow Farmstead’ which covers a 
‘Statement of Significance’ of the overall farmstead. It is considered that this report 
satisfies paragraph 128 of the NPPF and is proportionate given that the buildings 
are undesignated heritage assets. 

Whilst the overall character of the site is typical edge of settlement, semi-rural, the 
context of the Rocks Green hamlet (which is evident by the existing residential 
properties to the south) should be acknowledged, and that large-scale 
development could be harmful to that context.

With regards to the overall design of the layout of the site, concern is also shared 
with regards to the loss of green aspect of the site, where the proposed layout 
would bring about an urban character to this site, especially with the proposed car 
park abutting the existing highway with little or no natural buffering, thus creating a 
very hard urban environment. Also the site would bring about visual clutter of cars, 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

where the building would be better situated towards the south-west corner of the 
site this affording a more robust frontage. Overall, the existing trees and 
vegetation should be retained to afford appropriate screening of the proposed 
development. The applicants are advised to engage with the Historic Environment 
team with regards to further design proposals as part of leading up to the 
Reserved Matters stage.

Despite the Donald Insall report stating that Dun Cow Farmstead has low to 
medium significance, the buildings should be recorded prior to demolition, subject 
to further advice from an archaeologist. Despite modern interventions that are 
detailed within the report, there is always potential for underlying historic fabric 
which may be of significance.

The proposal may be acceptable subject to the suggested design amendments 
given above and a condition requiring building recording. 

4.1.7 Archaeology – The proposed development site directly affects one known 
heritage asset recorded on the Historic Environment Record as part of the 
Farmsteads Characterisation Survey which is Dun Cow Farm (HER PRN 24196) 
identified from the digital version of the c.1900 OS large scale mapping and also 
recorded on the earlier tithe map. Additional HER records of a Medieval trackway 
and ridge and furrow earthworks are located in the surrounding area.

In view of the above and in accordance with NPPF Section 128 it was 
recommended at the pre-application enquiry stage (PREAPP/13/00347) that a 
Heritage Assessment of the application site should be provided as part of any 
subsequent planning application. 

A heritage assessment of the proposal site has been submitted with the planning 
application and identified sites of Prehistoric, Medieval and Post-medieval date 
within 1km of the application site. Within the application site itself, cartographic 
evidence identified a number of tracks dating from 1778, a building in the 
southeast corner recorded only in 1886, and two wells recorded in 1903. Dun Cow 
Farm was first recorded in 1835, and based on cartographic evidence it was 
concluded that structures preceding the existing Dun Cow farmstead were unlikely 
to be found on this site. A site visit identified no above ground evidence of 
structures or earthworks or any obvious potential for buried archaeological 
remains, although the report acknowledges that it is not possible to fully assess 
the potential for buried archaeological remains on the site. The report does 
however indicate that the application site has been subject to some past ground 
disturbance, including possible 19th century drainage in the field north of Dun Cow 
Farm, hard standing in the south of the application site, and recent landscaping 
following the construction of the modern housing estate to the north.

The report concludes that the proposed development is deemed to have low 
archaeological potential. However, given the size of the development, it is likely 
that any unknown archaeological remains, together with the features recorded 
from cartographic evidence, will be destroyed during construction works on the 
site; the resulting impact on the heritage resource was considered minor adverse. 
It was therefore recommended that a programme of archaeological work should 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

be undertaken in order to negate or lessen the impact on the unknown 
archaeological resource. 

Please note, the Conservation Officer for South Shropshire will comment on the 
impact of the proposed development on the built heritage. The recommendations 
made below therefore only relate to the archaeological interest of the proposed 
development site. 

Recommendation:
The conclusions of the Heritage Assessment could not rule out the potential for 
below ground archaeological remains within the development boundary. 

In view of the above, and in relation to Paragraph 141 of the NPPF, it is 
recommended that a programme of archaeological work be made a condition of 
any planning permission for the proposed development. 

4.1.8 Highways – Shropshire Council as Highway Authority raises no objection to the 
proposed outline development.  

Principally this development proposal has the greatest effect on the traffic 
movement along the strategic highway (A49) and Highway England are best 
placed to comment on the Transport Assessment in respect to the adjacent 
roundabout junction. 

It should be noted that whilst at the time of the original submission, there were no 
committed development’s within the vicinity of the site. However, Shropshire 
Council now have now adopted the SAMDev Plan 2006-2026. Within the SAMDev 
Plan land has been allocated for 200 dwellings with direct access off Sheet Road, 
opposite the proposed development site, (reference LUD017). This development 
is likely to come forward within the current plan period (2026), but may not come 
forward within the next three years. In the event a planning application is 
submitted for any of the allocated site, then a Transport Assessment will need to 
be submitted and take into account the movements associated with the proposed 
supermarket, if permission is granted.

Despite the above, it is recommended that the applicant provides further comment 
to the likely impact of the allocated site, and that this matter is formally raised with 
Highways England to establish if they continue to raise no objection.

Notwithstanding the above, this proposed supermarket will significantly increase 
traffic on the County Road (A4117). Currently there is capacity on the A4117 to 
accommodate this development and served by the proposed priority junction 
(A4117/Dun Cow Road), However, this increase in development traffic could 
adversely impact the capacity of this arm of roundabout junction, particularly if 
there are knock on effects to the other arms of the roundabout.  

Furthermore, this development will create a local draw from the existing residential 
developments within Ludlow. Some of which are relatively close to the 
development, which could potentially generate greater sustainable movement (i.e. 
walking and cycling).  Currently, the A49 is seen as a barrier to this type of 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

movement and although there is an existing pelican crossing on the southern arm, 
this provision may not be seen as enough to encourage more sustainable travel, 
and/or be used more frequently particularly at peak times, which could have an 
adverse effect on the free flow of traffic on the A49.  It is considered that this 
development should consider and deliver further pedestrian and cycle provisions 
to encourage sustainable travel between the existing residential areas and the 
site, in accordance with national transport policy (PPG13). However improving 
conditions at the roundabout junction on A49, and especially additional and/or 
safer crossing of the trunk road, could affect the capacity of the junction, 
increasing delays and driver frustration.   It may also require the Transport 
Assessment to the revisited. Alternatively, would there be a possibility of 
considering a footbridge over the A49?

In addition, this development should also develop an appropriate Travel Plan to 
consider and encourage sustainable travel principally for its staff and services, but 
to some lesser extent its customers, in accordance with PPG13 and associated 
best practice/guidance.

Access to the foodstore is being sought from an unadopted (private) road serving 
a relatively new housing development. Consent will need to be granted by the 
private landowner, for the proposed access changes and linkages to the new 
development site.

Access 
Proposed vehicular access to the development is via the existing junction of the 
A4117 with Dun Cow Road. It should be noted however that Dun Cow Road is 
currently unadopted by Shropshire Council as Highway Authority, and not 
currently subject to a Section 38 Agreement under the Highways Act 1980. 
Shropshire Council have been working with the currently land owner of the land, 
Shropshire Housing Group, with a view to adopting Dun Cow Road as public 
highway. At this time, any proposed alternations to the carriageway should be 
undertaken with the permission of the land owner, but constructed to an adoptable 
standard.

Impact on surrounding Highway Network
The submitted Transport Assessment indicate that the capacity of the junction of 
Dun Cow Road and A4117 will be close to capacity therefore localised 
improvements are proposed to improve capacity for right turning vehicles. It is 
considered that based on the information submitted the surrounding highway 
network is adequate to accommodate both the access to the store petrol station 
and the residential development to the west of the proposed site. 

However, it is recommended that Highways England are consulted to establish if 
they consider the proposed development to have an impact on the A49.

Reserved matters application
The planning application under consideration is outline; with all matters reserved 
except for access. In the event planning permission is granted and a reserve 
matters application is submitted consideration should be given to ensuring that 
any improvements to Dun Cow Road to provide access to the proposed food store 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

and petrol filling station are constructed to adoptable standard. Details of the 
proposed improvements to the Dun Cow Road Junction and mini roundabout 
should be submitted for approval prior to commencement of development. 

4.1.9 Highways England – No objection.  Highways England previously reviewed a 
Transport Assessment dated September 2014. Further to this, we requested that 
the applicant provide further details relating to future year impact at the A49 
junction, confirmation of committed development and inclusion of the existing 
pedestrian crossing facilities within the junction model. This was satisfactorily dealt 
with through a Transport Assessment Addendum, which was received by 
Highways England on 11 March 2016. 

We have been able to conclude that, based on the details presented as part of the 
Transport Assessment and subsequent Addendum, the junction of the A49 and 
Rocks Green will continue to operate within capacity when the development is 
included in the assessments. As such we are content that the development traffic 
can be accommodated on our network without mitigation works being required. 
We do retain concerns relating to the physical interface between the development 
and land maintained by Highways England in respect of drainage, fencing and 
lighting matters and the impact of construction traffic on the strategic road 
network. 

As this is an outline application, it is considered that these details can be dealt 
with by way of conditions and has therefore recommended conditions.  

4.1.10 Ecology – No objection subject to conditions and informatives.  Has read the 
application and supporting documents, including the Ecology Phase 1 Habitat 
Survey and Bat Survey by LaDellWood dated October 2014 and the Protected 
Species Survey Focussing on Bats by Shropshire Wildlife Consultancy dated July 
2014.

Bats
Shropshire Wildlife Consultancy provided the following additional information by 
email on the 6/7/15 in relation to the bat droppings found in the stable block of the 
larger barn:
1. The bat droppings found within the barn were scattered within and were not in 
excess of approximately 20 faeces;
2. The droppings did not appear to be particularly fresh but were probably no more 
than a few years (2) old;
3. The droppings from their size and shape were most likely to come from 
pipistrelle species probably common pipistrelle.

Three emergence surveys were carried out in July 2014, which recorded no 
definite but an unconfirmed common pipistrelle bat emergence from ‘the barn’.  

Shropshire Wildlife Consultancy state that “there is no apparent need for a 
European Protected Species Licence”. They however propose Risk Avoidance 
Measures including supervision of the roof removal of the buildings (excluding the 
garage and the tin roofed north-western building) by a licenced Ecological Clerk of 
Works between October and late March.  The report also includes some options 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

for bat mitigation but does not specify this.  Due to the loss of potential bat 
roosting areas I would expect bat boxes to be erected in locations away from 
artificial lighting.

Conditions are recommended to require development, demolition or site clearance 
to be undertaken in line with the Protected Species Survey Focussing on Bats by 
Shropshire Wildlife Consultancy dated July 2014 and the provision of bat boxes 
and bricks.  

Landscaping
As noted in my previous memo dated 4th March 2015 the landscaping scheme for 
the proposal should include provision for replacement reptile habitat and 
hibernacula, preferable in the orchard area. For this site to respect the 
Environmental Network I recommend that the landscaping scheme is designed to 
re-create priority habitats as far as possible, such as locally native woodland and 
shrubs, on a larger scale than currently proposed and a condition is 
recommended. 

4.1.11 Trees – Whilst in principle the Tree service see no specific arboricultural objection 
to some form of development at this site, for the following reasons we consider 
that the indicative layout and proposed landscape do not represent the best 
possible sustainable design:

At present the site is well integrated into the landscape with mature trees along 
the A49 and the B4117 serving as an effective screen to the site from views in, 
and as a filter to the site and neighbouring development off Duncow Road for light, 
noise, and air pollution from this busy junction.  The surrounding area to the west 
is heavily developed but effectively screened by woodland with a core area that 
makes the screening robust and effective.  This new development proposes to 
remove the existing effective tree cover and significantly change the nature and 
character of the area (see the consultee comments by the Council’s Conservation 
Officer).

As a historic market Town Ludlow and the surrounding area benefit heavily from 
tourism, it is therefore of the upmost importance that the sustainability and tourism 
aspirations set out in the Shropshire Core Strategy deliver effective long-term 
integration of any development at key gateways to market towns representing the 
very highest of standards  of design so that development is appropriate and 
integrates with the exiting landscape and preserves, conserves or enhances the 
natural and built environment.

The scale of the development has resulted in the parking arrangements being 
pushed to the very boundaries of the site leaving the proposed boundary 
landscape features as narrow strips.  The landscaping section of the design and 
access statement supported by the indicative Landscape Concept (ref: 1085_LC-
04) offers at best a generic proposal and contains insufficient detail to give the 
Tree Service confidence that it will be successful, or that it will sustainably 
integrate the site into the landscape. The following points are of key concern:

- The boundary feature will have no real depth, and whilst if successfully 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

established it might help break up the skyline of this very prominent development 
it will in no way provide the benefits and depth of screening afforded by the 
existing tree cover.

- The proposed planting along the sites boundary with the A49 offers native 
species hedgerow planted with clusters of 4 to 5 Quercus robur.  Firstly, it is 
pointless to plant oak in clusters their condition and form would be affected by 
competition leading to poor specimens and the likelihood of premature removals. 
Secondly, the proposal shows parking bays hard up against the planting scheme, 
whilst it might be possible using root directors and root cells to establish trees 
under parking bays the proximity of what will potentially be large trees to parking 
bays is likely to result in a range of problems that will impact on the sustainable 
retention of the trees.

- The long-term success of 18-20cm girth Tillia cordata in the car park is 
questionable, especially in such compact arrangements.  As with the oak planting 
on the A49 boundary the use of root directors and root cells is only of value if the 
tree is compatible for the long-term with the situation it is put in.  There are far too 
many examples of un-successful carpark planting, typically 20% of trees die within 
five years  with a steady degradation of the remaining stock soon after;   the 
applicant has not offered anything other than an indication that root cells will be 
used as an indication of planned planting. The tree service would need to see that 
the applicant had assessed the site against the recommendations set out in BS 
8545:2014 (Trees from nursery to independence in the landscape)  and specified 
appropriate space, ground preparation, planting measures and after care that 
reflects best practice and a viable chance of success.

Conclusion and recommendations
In order to maximise the commercial potential of the site the buildings and parking 
have taken priority over landscape, a less adventurous proposal would be better 
able to provide a sustainable integrated development at this key gateway to 
Ludlow.

The applicant has an opportunity at this site to provide an example of the very 
best in landscape design but so far have offered a generic landscape plan with no 
supporting documents specifications or indication of how ongoing management 
will ensure the continued good health of the trees for the life of the development 
and beyond.   It is our recommendation that due to the high profile of this site, that 
any final approved application would need to include comprehensive evidence 
based landscape proposals that reflect the very best of arboricultural and 
landscape practice, and should address the following points.

A reduction in the scale of the development would release space for meaningful 
landscape mitigation.

Ensure that all tree planting is in a situation where it will thrive without the need for 
artificial aid once established, less trees within the site but planting in open spaces 
will be more likely to thrive than trees in a capped tarmac car-park. Tree planning 
in open space without metal grills does not require the aftercare that all too 
frequently is absent at commercial premises once the five year replacement 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

conditions have expired.

Boundary trees need a minimum of at least three meters of buffer (open green 
space) between them and the nearest kerb edge so that future changes to the site 
do not impact upon their retention.  This would also remove the need for grills.  
We also recommend that the A49 boundary be planted with a staggered double 
row of trees to give greater resilience and depth to the screen, and that heavy 
standard common lime be considered for its faster growth and greater versatility.

We recommend that the boundary elements of any landscape proposal should be 
established as part of the first phase of site activities and then appropriately 
protected as the remainder of the development is established this will allow a 
season for the trees and shrubs to establish before the site is occupied.  

All tree procurement, planting and after-care should reflect good practice as set 
out in BS 8545:2014 (Trees from nursery to independence in the landscape). 

Recommended conditions:
Recommends conditions relating to tree protection, details of new planting and 
replanting within 5 years, details of other landscaping and implementation 
timetable.

4.1.12 Drainage – No objection. Drainage details, plans and calculations could be 
conditioned and submitted for approval at the reserved matters stage.  

4.1.13 Public Protection – Having considered the information provided would like to 
point out that a detailed plan of the petrol site layout should be submitted at 
reserved matters stage to ensure that a petroleum certification will be likely to be 
granted should planning approval be granted.

With regards to noise the noise report submitted with this application project 
number PB1010 dated 18th September 2014 shows that noise mitigation is 
required. It states that an acoustic barrier at least 3m height is required around the 
deliveries yard which will reduce noise by 15dB. Plans specifically marking this 
should be submitted showing clearly exactly where it will be located which can 
then be conditioned as part of the approved plans submitted with this application. 
Has noted that even with this mitigation there will be noise above WHO and BS 
8233 guidelines at two properties at night. Therefore propose that a condition 
should be placed stating no night time deliveries on site (between 23:00 and 
07:00). Alternatively the acoustic fence could be built to a height of at least 4m 
which is likely to ensure that noise levels are controlled allowing deliveries to 
occur at night. The height of the fence should be stated on any plans being 
submitted.

An acoustic fence is also stated for areas around the petrol filling station. Again 
this should be detailed on any plans supplied including the height and stating 5dB 
reduction in noise at nearby residential properties.

Is of the opinion that unless the applicant provided a specification of the fencing to 
be used that this element of the development should be conditioned as follows:



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Specification of acoustic fencing shall be submitted to the local planning authority 
for approval in writing prior to petrol sales and deliveries to the service yard taking 
place on site. The fencing around the service yard must demonstrate a proposed 
15dB reduction for nearby residents. The fencing associated with the petrol filling 
station shall demonstrate a proposed 5dB reduction of noise at nearby residential 
premises.
Reason: to protect the health and wellbeing of nearby residents.

4.2 Public Comments
4.2.1 211 letters of objection have been received raising the following concerns:

 Inaccuracies in the various reports 
 No proven need for another supermarket, there is sufficient variety of retail 

stores, all of which have extensive spare capacity
 Development of the site will result in the loss of open countryside and views
 Jobs will be lost in the town centre as a result of the development
 Impact on the high street will adversely affect restaurants, B&B’s and general 

tourist trade
 Will set a precedent for out of town development contrary to the SAMDev
 Will not contribute to the building and strengthening of local community, purely 

a speculative project
 Only a small number of people are in favour of this application
 Increase in traffic and pedestrians will create road safety issues for the 

neighbouring estate
 Increase in traffic and delivery traffic will cause considerable noise pollution
 Would encourage the use of cars as it would not be within walking distance of 

local residents, resulting in the increase of air pollution and traffic congestion in 
and around the town centre

 Will have a detrimental impact on Town Centre businesses causing the 
destruction of the economic viability of the town

 Will draw trade and tourism from the town centre
 Free parking will attract shoppers away from the town
 Will impact on existing Tesco store
 Will result in empty stores in the town centre which will make the town centre 

unattractive
 The site is unsuitable for this type of development as it predominantly a 

residential area, and would be better suited to alternative sites
 Concerns over the potential environmental impact of the petrol station being 

located close to dwellings
 Proposed petrol station is too close to the existing one
 Loss of light to neighbouring dwellings from proposed boundary treatment
 Loss of privacy for the locals of Rocks Green
 Will impact on the character of appearance of the housing development
 The supermarket will further isolate population outside town walls, therefore 

they will no longer benefit from the cultural, political and diverse opportunities 
the town offers 

 Increase of risk to pedestrians safety, as they are required to cross both the 
access to the service yard of the supermarket and also the access to the 
supermarket itself



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 Loss of trees would result in the loss of habitat for birds, owls and bats
 The site is too small for the proposal
 The site is too close to the River Corve – there is a potential contamination risk

4.2.2 There have been 18 letters of support received, which are summarised below:
 Another petrol station is needed in terms of terms and competition on price and 

as more residential development is planned
 New jobs are welcomed to encourage the younger generation to stay local
 A new supermarket would offer local residents a choice 
 The site has good access off the main road
 A “higher end” supermarket would attract people from outside of the immediate 

area – possibly contribution to more tourist income being generated
 Parking at the current supermarkets is very poor
 The current supermarkets are failing as residents already travel out of the area 

to shop therefore a new supermarket will not have that much of an impact on 
the current shops

 A new, larger supermarket would potentially have better disabled access than 
the shops on the high street

4.2.3 Philip Dunne, MP for Ludlow, has written formally objecting to the development 
as follows:

I am concerned that this proposed development, if approved, would fundamentally 
alter the balance of retail offer for food, and potentially non-food, in and around 
Ludlow, having a profoundly adverse effect on existing retail activities within the 
town. I do not believe the applicant has demonstrated the need for such a 
significant expansion of the food retail offer on the edge of Ludlow.

Ludlow is a tertiary retail catchment which is already well served with three 
multiple food supermarkets in town offering a competitive mix of price points 
(Tesco, Co-op, Aldi); three convenience stores located in the town centre (Spar, 
One Stop in Tower Street, One Stop in Gravel Hill), two serving residential/ 
business areas, Premier (at Livesey Road and Parys Road and one on Ludlow 
Business Park); and one at the edge of town (Co-op). A separate application has 
also been made for another potential convenience store with petrol forecourt at 
Bromfield Road. 

In addition, Ludlow is now well known as a destination for its quality food 
reputation, with a much wider variety of independent food shops than in other 
towns of its size (circa 10,000 adult residents). These include three butchers, 
three bakers, two green grocers, two organic food specialists, one fishmonger, 
one cheese shop, four delicatessens, two wine shops, one chocolatier, in addition 
to one of the largest farm shops in the Midlands one mile to the north and a very 
active produce market in the town centre several days a week. 

When the prospect of this application became apparent, I undertook a survey of 
local residents in all three Shropshire Council wards in Ludlow to gauge public 
reaction to an edge of town supermarket. I received 1,243 responses over a few 
weeks. 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

These figures show firstly the clear opposition of the majority of Ludlow residents 
that development of an out-of-town supermarket would adversely affect the 
existing traders in Ludlow, and secondly opposition to such development east of 
the A49. 

Ludlow’s market town status and pattern of mainly independent shops, with 
growing presence from multiples, brings considerable economic benefit to the 
town. Analysis of the economic impact of this application on existing providers of 
food is superficial, (and non-existent on non-food), relying in large part on 
unsubstantiated 'estimates', with minimal supporting footfall data from fieldwork 
which to be representative should have been undertaken in a variety of locations 
at varying times during a number of trading weeks. 

Given Ludlow already has three supermarkets, two of which are not experiencing 
increasing year-on-year sales growth (as acknowledged privately to me), in my 
opinion the addition of a fourth and larger supermarket on the edge of town, with 
better parking provision than is available in town, would have a severely adverse 
impact on existing retail businesses. By diverting footfall to the edge of town, away 
from established food retail providers in the town, this would also have a marked 
impact on non-food retailers in the town. 

I urge you to reject this application and make the right choice for Ludlow and its 
residents.  

4.2.4 Ludlow Chamber of Commerce have submitted an objection to the development 
noting that Ludlow current offers something different in the artisan shops which 
the proposal would be direct competition for and set a precedent for further out of 
town development.  The town thrives on local business, character and charm.  

They accept the need for another petrol station but do not consider that this 
requires a substantial supermarket with it.  

4.2.5 A representative of Ludlow Town Centre Residents Association has written in 
objection to the proposal advising that they have received a “storm of protest” from 
the majority of their members.  

Their objections are based on lack of need, location of the petrol station being on 
the same side of the town as the existing one, the precedent for further 
development on the east of the A49 and the impact on the town centre.  

4.2.6 “Love Ludlow”, a organisation made up of a number of organisations in Ludlow, 
have objected to the application questioning the need for development; 
commenting that the proposal is overdevelopment; that there is no over trading in 
the town (one supermarket is currently for sale and clearly under performing); that 
the assessment does not include consideration of internet shopping; there is no 
end user and trade diversion figures are too low.  

The objection details the concerns about the retail impact assessment not taking 
into account on-line shopping and the ascendency of the supermarket; is based 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

on limited survey material; that it makes assumptions and predictions and is based 
on estimates in many parts; that it does not take into account residents work 
patterns; and that the parking provision (200 spaces) does not reflect the vehicle 
movements of 348 per hour.

Comments are also made relating to the design and landscape raising concern 
about the lack of information on the existing landscaping, the proximity of the site 
to the adjacent housing, the removal of the existing tree buffer and associated 
impact on wildlife; and the view of the development form the adjacent 
development, highway and public footpath.  The conclusion of the objection is that 
the scale of the development has not provided sufficient space within the site to 
mitigate the impact of the development.  

4.2.7 CPRE South Shropshire have also objected on the grounds of the potential 
impact on the town centre for similar reasons to those quoted by the Chamber and 
Love Ludlow.  

The Campaign to Protect Rural England sees these small market towns as being 
essential to the life of rural areas. Ludlow’s setting on the River Teme surrounded 
by the Clee Hills, Whitcliffe and Mortimers Forest is a jewel in the Marches. It 
should not be allowed to sprawl into yet another town where development is 
allowed outside the town at the expense of the vitality and viability of the town 
centre.

4.2.8 A detailed objection has been received on behalf of Mid-Counties Co-Operative 
Stores commenting that the development is contrary to the Core Strategy policies, 
does not satisfactorily address the sequential test (in that the Upper Galdeford/ 
Station Drive car park site has been discounted as too small but does not detail 
the scale of the development proposed or consider that not all car parking would 
have to be provided on site) and relies too heavily on the 2007 retail study.

Concern is also raised about the following issues:
- the results of the surveys undertaken have not been submitted and that this 

details may alter the weight which can be given to the survey results;
- the sales details may not include VAT and therefore may affect the impact 

assessment;
- the study area is much larger than the catchment area of the town;
- turnover is overestimated, for both the proposed and existing stores;
- trade diversion is underestimated for both comparison and convenience 

goods;
- the existing Tesco should be considered as in the centre, not out of centre;
- the Tenbury Wells consent has not been considered correctly;
- a high level of job displacement should be expected;

The objection concludes that the impact assessment is fundamentally flawed, the 
sequential assessment does not provide sufficient detail and therefore that the 
proposal does not comply with policy.  

4.2.9 An objection has been received on behalf of Spar raising concerns about the 
sequential test and impact test, the levels of employment, groundwater 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

contamination, heritage impact and accessibility.  

The objection raises concerns about the reliance on the 2007 South Shropshire 
Retail Study, that the application does not consider other, more accessible, out of 
centre sites and that the retail assessment makes assumptions and uses variables 
and further information should be required.  

With regard to accessibility the objection raises concerns about the access to the 
site on foot and suggests that a 4km round trip is not realistic or acceptable and 
that the bus services suggested by the applicant do not cover Sundays and 
evenings.  

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES
 Policy & principle of development
 Sequential site assessment
 Impact assessment
 Layout of site, scale and design of food store
 Impact on neighbours amenities
 Access, car parking and accessibility to town centre
 Impact on historic environment 
 Landscaping and ecology 
 Flooding, drainage and contamination
 Other matters

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL
6.1 Policy & principle of development
6.1.1 Under section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all 

planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Since the 
adoption of the Councils Core Strategy the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) has been published and is a material consideration that needs to be given 
weight in the determination of planning applications.  The NPPF advises that 
proposed development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should be 
approved and proposed development that conflicts should be refused unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF constitutes guidance for 
local planning authorities as a material consideration to be given significant weight 
in determining applications.

6.1.2 The Shropshire Core Strategy was adopted in February 2011. Policies CS1 
(Strategic Approach) and CS3 (The Market Towns and Other Key Centres) aim to 
encourage the continued sustainable growth of Ludlow as one of the main market 
towns in Shropshire.  Ludlow is noted in CS3 as providing a focus for 
development, whilst respecting its historic character.  It is also detailed as an 
important tourist destination which has achieved international renown as a centre 
for quality local food and drink.  The overarching policy of CS3 advises that 
development in the market towns will be to maintain and enhance their role in 
providing facilities and services to the rural hinterlands, and providing a foci for 
economic development and regeneration.  Balanced housing and employment 
development, of an appropriate scale and design will take place within the towns’ 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

development boundaries.  

6.1.3 With regard to retail uses policy CS15 (Town and Rural Centres) encourages the 
provision of appropriate convenience and comparison retail, office and other town 
centre uses preferably within the identified town centres as a ‘town centres first’ 
approach, however it does acknowledge the NPPF sequential and impact tests 
where no town centre sites are available.  Within CS15 the market towns will act 
as principal centres to serve local needs and the wider needs of the spatial zone.  
Appropriate convenience and comparison retail, office and other town centre uses 
will be permitted to support these roles.  

6.1.4 The SAMDev for Ludlow, policy S10, follows from the principles set in the Core 
Strategy policy CS3.  The policy acknowledges that Ludlow is the largest market 
town in southern Shropshire and as such the town is a focus for development and 
growth.  Paragraph 4 deals specifically with the town centre and aims to ensure 
that new main town centre uses will be focussed within the defined town centre 
area and primary shopping area identified on the policies map.  

6.1.5 Also of relevance are policies MD10a – Managing Town Centre Development and 
MD10b – Town and Rural Centre Impact Assessments of the SAMDev.  Policy 
MD10a defines Ludlow as a category ‘B’ town, a settlement with a town centre 
and a primary shopping area.  In category ‘B’ towns there is a presumption in 
favour of retail proposals in ground floor premises in the primary shopping area, 
additional main town centre uses in the primary shopping area and within the 
wider town centre.  Policy MD10b sets local thresholds for impact assessments 
depending on the town.  Developments located outside of the defined town centre 
of Ludlow, and which have a gross floor space of over 300sqm, will require an 
impact assessment to be undertaken and submitted with the application.  Policy 
MD10b also advises that developments which have a significant impact on town 
centres, or where the impact assessment is insufficient, will not be permitted.  The 
policies within the Core Strategy and the SAMDev are considered to be consistent 
with the requirements of the NPPF as detailed in the following paragraphs.    

6.1.6 At a national level the NPPF, section 2, sets out the national policy for determining 
planning applications for retail and other town centre uses. It seeks to be positive 
and promote competitive town centres but does acknowledge that policies will be 
required to consider main town centre uses which cannot be accommodated in or 
adjacent to town centres. Paragraph 24 requires local planning authorities to apply 
a sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses that are not in 
an existing centre and are not in accordance with an up-to-date local plan. This 
test is the “town centre first” approach where out of town sites should only be 
considered where there are no sites within or on the edge of centres and 
preference should be given to accessible out of town sites that are well connected 
to the town centre.

6.1.7 Paragraph 26 of the NPPF also requires out of centre  retail applications not in 
accordance with the development plan to assess their impact  on the town centre 
in order to show the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned 
public and private investment and on the vitality and viability of the town 
centre.Where an impact is judged to be significantly adverse, or if there are 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

sequentially preferable sites available, the proposal should be refused.  . Where 
no significant adverse impacts have been identified, and where the application 
also satisfies the requirements of the sequential test, a decision should be taken 
by balancing the positive and negative impacts of the proposal and other material 
considerations, and also the likely cumulative effect of recent permissions.  These 
two issues of sequential and impact assessments are highly important in 
determining this application.

6.1.8 The Town Council, local MP and local interest groups and objectors have 
questioned the need for a new supermarket or petrol filling station on the edge of 
Ludlow commenting that there are existing supermarkets and independent 
retailers providing for the shopping needs of the area.  The agent has commented 
in their planning statement that they consider that there is a need for a new store 
in Ludlow.  The key point to note on this matter is that although the need for 
additional retail uses is inherent in the assessment of impact on a town centre 
there is no longer a requirement for the need for additional retail floor space to be 
justified in either national or local policy.  As such, providing the application 
complies with the impact test there is no requirement to evidence need.  PPS4, 
the national retail policy prior to the NPPF, removed the requirement for applicants 
to satisfy a test of “need” in justifying proposals for town centre uses and as such 
whether there is a need for the retail units proposed (including the food store) is 
given less weight but can still inform the conclusions reached in terms of the 
impact test.

6.1.9 The key issues are firstly, determining whether there are any sequentially 
preferable sites available and suitable, or likely to become so within a reasonable 
period of time; and secondly whether the proposed retail development would 
result in a significant adverse impact on the existing town centre. These are the 
two tests within the NPPF, policy CS15 and policy MD10b.  The NPPF states that 
applications should only be refused where they fail the sequential test or are likely 
to have a significant impact on existing centres. 

6.1.10 In order to consider these issues the application has been submitted with Planning 
Statement which includes a Retail Statement.  An addendum to this statement 
was also submitted following concerns raised by Officers, local residents and 
other retailers.  The addendum was considered necessary to ensure that the 
impact on the existing Tesco store in Ludlow was properly considered.  The 
details of this statement, its conclusions and the advice resulting from this 
statement are considered in the following sections of the report.  

6.1.11 Also a material consideration is the history of the site.  It should be noted that 
there is existing development on the site and as such the land can be considered 
as a brownfield site (previously developed land).  The redevelopment of brownfield 
land is promoted by paragraph 111 of the NPPF and the National Planning 
Practice Guidance.  Both documents advise that Local Authorities should 
encourage the effective use of previously development land provided that it is not 
of high environmental value.  The brownfield nature of the site is a material 
consideration which should be weighed in favour of the development.  It does not 
over rule the need for a site to be sustainable but it is a matter that should be 
considered as positive in the overall planning balance.  



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.1.12 Furthermore, the houses to the north of the application site have been built under 
a 2006 planning consent which included the current application site as land for a 
hotel.  Prior to that the farm house and outbuildings had planning permission for 
conversion to a hotel and restaurant.   These previous consents are also material 
considerations in the determination of the current application as this evidences 
support for redevelopment of the site and also for further building on this side of 
the A49.

6.1.13 As noted above the SAMDev also allocates land to the south of the A4117, also 
east of the A49, for housing development which will expand the town further over 
the main road.  

6.1.14 It is accepted, as noted by the Town Council and Parish Council, that the site is 
outside the development boundary allocated in the SAMDev, however the site has 
a planning history, is considered to be previously developed land and furthermore 
the application is for an out of centre retail proposal which by its very nature could 
be justified outside the development boundary.  Policy CS5 supports economic 
development outside the boundary and the consideration of retail applications is 
primarily against CS15, MD10a and MD10b and the NPPF in terms of the 
sequential and impact tests.  The Council have not allocated any sites outside of 
Shrewsbury for retail uses but that does not mean that no further retail uses will be 
allowed outside of Shrewsbury or outside settlement boundaries.  

6.2 Sequential site assessment
6.2.1 Severn sites were considered in the sequential site assessment.  None are within 

the town centre as there are no sites of sufficient size to accommodate a food 
store available in the town centre.  

6.2.2 Upper Galdeford/ Station Drive is currently a town centre car park adjacent to the 
library and behind existing retail units on Corve Street.  It is 0.8 hectares in size 
but has a restrictive covenant requiring its use to provide 50 parking spaces for 
the nearby Co-op store.  As such the agent does not consider that the site is 
available.  Furthermore, it is too small and would result in loss of town centre car 
parking.  Corve Street/ Station Drive is 1.7 hectares of land adjacent to the railway 
line, residential and commercial areas and close to the Tesco store.  The land is 
currently part in use by Aldi and part as employment land and therefore is also not 
available for development of a food store.  Gravel Hill/ Lower Galdeford is also 1.7 
hectares but has recently been developed by commercial operations and therefore 
is not available. 

6.2.3 Weeping Cross Lane is considered by the agent to be an out of centre site which 
has been partially developed for residential use with less than 1 hectare 
remaining.  The land is allocated for employment use and therefore the agent 
considers it is not suitable due to its size and allocation.  McConnels land is the 
largest parcel of land considered at 3.1 hectares but is also considered to be out 
of centre for retail planning purposes.  As with the Weeping Cross Lane site the 
land is allocated for employment use and is in use for warehouse, manufacturing 
and storage.  It is adjacent to residential uses, the Ludlow conservation area and a 
SSSI.  As such the site is highly sensitive but is also not considered to be 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

available without impacting the availability of employment land in the town.  

6.2.4 Castle Street Garage site was vacant at the time of the sequential assessment.   It 
is 0.31 hectares, previously used as a petrol filling station, opposite Tesco and 
adjacent to residential uses.  The agent accepts that the site is available but does 
not consider that it is suitable due to its size.  The Castle Street Car Park is a 0.38 
hectare site adjacent to the existing shopping area which the agent considers is 
not suitable as it is too small and would also result in loss of town centre car 
parking.  

6.2.5 The conclusion of the submitted sequential assessment is that there are no sites 
located in or adjacent to the town centre that are available or suitable for the 
development of a food store for Ludlow.  
 

6.2.6 As detailed in section 4.1.4 above the Council Planning Policy Officer with retail 
experience and specialism has advised that the submitted sequential assessment, 
considering the 7 sites noted, is reasonable and shows sufficient evidence that 
there are no sequentially preferable sites.

6.2.7 No evidence has been provided by any other interested parties of any sequentially 
preferable sites and as such there is no evidence before the Council that the 
application does not meet the requirements of the sequential test in national and 
local policy.  

6.3 Impact assessment
6.3.1 The applicant’s retail statement advises that the proposed store is intended to 

cater for the weekly/ main shop which they accept is usually undertaken by car as 
bulky shopping trips would be difficult on the bus, bike or on foot.  The applicant 
has undertaken a household survey and also used existing evidence to establish 
current shopping patterns and understand the potential impact of the store.  The 
evidence provided shows that the town currently retains 72% of the convenience 
expenditure from the area, 26% is spent outside the area and the remainder is 
spent on the internet.  The household survey shows that the majority of people do 
their main food shop at Tesco or Aldi and top up shopping in the town centre 
stores along with specialist purchases and comparison shopping.  

6.3.2 It is the agent’s opinion that the results of the survey work undertaken is that there 
is currently a high level of expenditure leakage from the town but that there is also 
good evidence of linked trips between the existing stores and the town centre 
shops.  The town centre also functions as a leisure, service and employment 
venue.  It is an attractive venue for tourism with a diverse range of goods and 
services, specialist and independent food retailers working with the town’s food 
reputation.

6.3.3 Ludlow has a defined Primary Shopping Area (PSA) and a larger defined Town 
Centre. The applicant   expressed an opinion that Tesco (and Aldi) are outside of 
the existing town centre because they fall outside the defined Primary Shopping 
Area, and therefore the assessment of Impact on these stores is not relevant.  
However, Council officers do not agree with this view and note that Tesco is in the 
identified town centre in the recently adopted SAMDev.  It is accepted that it is not 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

in the PSA, however the town centre expands beyond the PSA and does include 
the Tesco store.
 

6.3.4 The view of the Policy Officer is that a suitable impact assessment must include 
the direct impact of the proposal on the Tesco store at Station Road, as well as 
the indirect impact from the loss of ‘linked trips’ to the area resulting from the loss 
of footfall between the Tesco store and town centre.  This view is supported by 
Paragraph 26 of the NPPF which states that Impact Assessment should include 
an assessment of “the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability”.  
The direct impact on Tesco is considered particularly important to the vitality of 
Ludlow’s town centre given the obvious ‘like-for-like’ nature of Tesco and the 
proposed store.  It is also considered that because of this ‘like-for-like’ impact, the 
impact on Tesco store is clearly going to be much greater than the impact on 
Ludlow’s smaller shops situated in the town centre.  This is important to 
acknowledge in the overall assessment of direct impact; the level of impact is not 
going to be spread evenly across all shops in the town centre.  However, it is 
considered that Tesco acts as an anchor store for the town centre, and that any 
loss of trade to this store will have some indirect impact from the inevitable loss of 
linked trips.  

6.3.5 The Policy Officer’s view on these matters is outlined in detail in the policy 
comments section of this report, and his views have been endorsed by Peter Brett 
Associates.  It is accepted that Aldi is outside the defined town centre, and 
therefore should not form part of the applicant’s Impact Assessment.  In response 
to these views, the Council requested additional information to assess the direct 
impact on the Tesco store at Station Road, and for this to be included within 
applicant’s overall assessment of impact.  It was also requested that the applicant 
quantify the level of indirect impact resulting from the loss of linked trips and for 
this to be included within the overall assessment of impact.  The applicant’s retail 
addendum subsequently provided this information and allowed the Council to 
make an informed judgement on the significance of the level of impact.   

6.3.6 The initial retail statement submitted with the application, which did not include the 
proposal’s impact on the Tesco store or the loss of linked trips, suggested that the 
proposed store would compete with Tesco and Aldi and also clawback leaked 
expenditure but that it would not compete with town centre specialist food shops.  
The trade diversion from the town centre was calculated to be £0.7m and the 
trade diversion from Tesco and Aldi would be £11.88m.  However, the agent 
suggests that both Tesco and Aldi are currently over trading and would continue to 
trade with limited impact on viability if the proposed store was built.  The existing 
trade of both stores will reduce but not to an extent where either store would 
cease trading.  

6.3.7 The amended retail statement was submitted during the consideration of the 
application which still sought to argue that Tesco was not in the town centre but 
did provide the impact assessment required by officers to take into account the 
impact on Tesco.  Without the Tesco store included the agent advises that their 
assessment suggests a 1.8% impact.  With Tesco included in the assessment this 
impact goes up to 10%.  As such this confirms the view that the main impact will 
be on the existing Tesco store rather than on the smaller shops.  Even with this 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

increased impact the agent does not consider that the total impact on the town 
centre would significantly impact on vitality or viability.  

6.3.8 Although the agent has acknowledged that shoppers currently link trips between 
Tesco, Aldi and the town centre they comment that the level of linked trips is 
minimal and therefore would not be significantly affected by the proposal.  The 
suggestion is that shoppers undertake their main shop in either Tesco or Aldi on a 
separate trip to visiting the town centre.  The results of a survey in Tesco car park 
shows that very few shoppers are parked in Tesco and then walk into the centre.  
The agent therefore suggests that if linked trips are carried out on the same visit 
the link is undertaken by car.  As such the agent considers that the proposed food 
store would continue this principle of shoppers visiting the town centre by car then 
visiting the food store by car (or visa versa).  

6.3.9 Furthermore the agent suggests that the Tesco and Aldi store have not had the 
impact on the town centre that was perceived by objectors at the time they were 
being considered for planning.  The town trades positively and has a higher 
number of independent convenience goods retailers than average.  The agent 
considers that the erection of a new food store will not affect the success of the 
town or market and that shopping patterns will not substantially alter as the retail 
offer in the town is different to the retail offer from the application.  

6.3.10 The Policy Officer’s detailed comments are included within this report under 
section 4.1.4.  As previously noted these views have also been assessed by Peter 
Brett Associates acting as an independent retail consultant on the matter.  Peter 
Brett Associates support the views of the Council’s Policy officer with regard to the 
methodology for assessing impact, and the overall conclusions on impact.    Both 
the Policy Officer and Case Officer would like members to note that forecasting 
impact is not an exact science but that a reasoned and evidence judgement 
should be made.  

6.3.11 The agent’s conclusion of the impact forecast is that the impact on the town 
centre, including the impact on the existing Tesco store, is 11% and without the 
Tesco store is 2.3%.  The Council Policy Officer has advised that the “without 
Tesco” figure is unrealistically low but that the “with Tesco” figure is more 
reasonable.  To this end the Council has accepted the applicant’s assessment of 
the level of impact on the Tesco store.

6.3.11 Linked trips are also considered by the Policy Officer who suggests a greater loss 
of linked trips than assumed by the applicant and also advises that the impact of 
loss of linked trips should be added to the direct impact on the town centre.  The 
Policy Officer concludes that the total impact on the town centre, with lost linked 
trips added, is likely to be between 10.98% and 11.37%. It is the Policy’s Officers 
view that this conclusion has been arrived at following a suitably detailed 
assessment of impact on the town centre; a view which is supported by Peter 
Brett Associates.  

6.3.12 The decision to be made is therefore whether an 11.37% impact is a significant 
impact on the town centre.  Paragraph 27 of the NPPF advises that the impact on 
a town centre needs to be significantly adverse to justify refusal of a planning 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

application and that the current health of the town and trading levels of existing 
stores can also be taken into account.  

6.3.13 Officers are of the opinion that Ludlow has a healthy town centre with low 
vacancies and an attractive environment.  The existing Tesco store is overtrading 
against national benchmark figures and this has been confirmed by the Council 
Economic Development Officer in his comments at 4.1.5.   As such officers accept 
that the proposed food store at Dun Cow will divert trade from the town and that 
11% is more than a minor impact, however officers do not consider that 11% will 
result in a significant impact and as such would not justify refusing the current 
application on the basis of the impact on the vitality and viability of Ludlow town 
centre.  

6.3.14 Due to the level of objections received and the controversial nature of this 
proposal officers considered it was appropriate to seek the external and 
independent advice of Peter Brett Associates on the submitted retail information 
and the opinion of the Council Policy Officer.   It is accepted that the Policy 
Officer’s view is contrary to the view of the Town Council, Chamber of Commerce. 
MP and local residents and as such the decision was taken to seek additional 
advice to ensure that Officers were taking the correct approach.

6.3.15 The external advice is from an independent retail consultant who has not got any 
conflicting interest in the application or Ludlow.  The retail consultant has agreed 
with the Council Policy Officer on the position of the existing Tesco being within 
the town centre and that the impact on this store should therefore also be taken 
into account.  The consultant has also agreed with the applicant that 35% of main 
food shopping trips are linked with a town centre visit and that the average spend 
at linked trips is £10.  However, they have queried why the applicant hasn’t 
considered loss of linked top-up shopping in Tesco and town centre and queried 
the potential for linked trips from the proposed store given the distance to the town 
centre.  

6.3.16 Although the consultant has raised queries they do not suggest that either of these 
queries should be referred back to the developer for further work to be carried out.  
The consultant comments that they consider it unlikely that overall levels of trade 
impact resulting from direct and indirect impacts would be significantly higher than 
the figures set out at Table 2 of the Retail Addendum, even if an element of linked 
trips from diverted top-up food shopping trips were included and it was assumed 
that a higher proportion of linked trips associated with main food shopping trips 
were lost. The general points made by the applicant in terms of the distinctive offer 
of Ludlow Town Centre are noted, as is the fact that many linked trips will relate to 
spending on services and that impacts on the retail turnover of the town centre 
may therefore be lower than assumed. 

6.3.17 Overall the consultant advises that the indirect impacts of the proposed 
development would not result in significantly higher trade impacts than the direct 
trade impacts estimated by the applicant within the Retail Addendum.  The 
consultant advises that the estimated trade impacts of over 10 per cent at 2019 
are clearly not insignificant. However, they also accept that Ludlow is a healthy 
town centre that performs well on a number of key indicators of vitality and viability 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

and that within this context the anticipated level of trade impact may not lead to 
significant adverse impacts under the terms of paragraph 26 of the NPPF or merit 
refusal of planning permission in accordance with paragraph 27 of the NPPF.

6.3.18 Taking account of all of the advice provided and the evidence before the Council it 
is officers opinion that the proposed development has proven the sequential test 
has been met and also proven that there will not be significant adverse impact on 
the vitality and viability of the existing town centre.  Accordingly officers would 
advise that the application should be supported and that a refusal on the basis of 
the impact of the proposed store would not be a defendable refusal of the planning 
application.

6.4 Layout, scale and design
6.4.1 Policy CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development Principles’ of the Shropshire 

Core Strategy requires development to protect and conserve the built environment 
and be appropriate in scale, density, pattern and design taking into account the 
local context and character. The development should also safeguard residential 
and local amenity, ensure sustainable design and construction principles are 
incorporated within the new development. 

6.4.2 Although an outline application an indicative layout has been submitted to show 
how the site could be developed.  The indicative layout suggests the food store to 
the northwest of the site with car parking between the store and the A4117 and 
the service area to the side.  The indicative layout and the design and access 
statement suggest a food store of 3,525m2 made up of 2,534m2 on the ground 
floor and 991m2 on the first floor with a sales area of 2,322m2.  The D&A 
suggests a split of 75% convenience and 25% comparison goods.  The petrol 
filling station is shown as a canopy with 6 pumps and a kiosk.

6.4.3 The submitted design and access statement acknowledges that the development 
will be a significant change to the existing landscape but considers that it will 
integrate over time as the landscape matures.   The store will be built to meet 
BREEAM very good standard with low water consumption, surface water 
management systems, sustainably sourced materials and re-use of heat from 
refrigeration units. 

6.4.4 The fuel tanks for the petrol filling station were initially proposed to be 
underground.  However, following the objection from the Environment Agency the 
agent has confirmed that the tanks can be situated above ground.  This is 
considered to overcome the objection from the EA who were reconsulted on the 
amendment but have not submitted any further comment.

6.4.5 Notwithstanding either the EA objection or the amendment the application is for 
outline consent with the layout, scale, appearance and landscaping of the site 
reserved for later approval.  As such, if outline consent were to be granted, the 
position of the fuel tanks could be considered before or during a reserved matters 
application.

6.4.6 However, it is also officer’s opinion that the indicative layout is not appropriate in 
terms of the positioning of the store and service yard at the rear of the site, the 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

removal of the roadside hedge and the impact this indicative layout would have on 
the character of the area and the amenities of the residents of Rocks Green.  It is 
officer’s opinion that the site should be designed to respect its position on the 
edge of Ludlow, the existing landscaping and the existing dwellings.  As such 
officers would not support the indicative layout but also note that this is a matter 
which is reserved for later approval, along with scale and design.  This is a view 
that is supported by the Conservation Officer’s comments detailed at 4.1.6 above.

6.4.7 It is accepted that food store operators prefer to lay out their sites with the store at 
the rear and car park at the front with the store overlooking the car park and both 
being visible from the adjacent road.  This may be a preference but it is not 
considered to be an appropriate layout for this site or for Ludlow.  The existing 
constraints and opportunities have not been taken into account and as such, 
although officers are in support of the principle of the development proposed on 
this site and have no objection to the indicative layout of the petrol filling station, 
officers would not support the layout of the store and car park as shown and these 
matters would need revising and careful consideration before a reserved matters 
application is submitted.  

6.5 Impact on residential amenity
6.5.1 Policy CS6 ‘Sustainable Design and Development Principles’ of the Shropshire 

Core Strategy indicates that development should safeguard the residential and 
local amenity. 

6.5.2 Prior to submission of the application the applicant carried out a consultation 
exercise.  There was general support for a petrol filling station and a balanced 
response to the proposal for the food store.  Respondents raised issues regarding 
traffic, access, need, impact on town centre, design, opening hours and jobs.  

6.5.3 All of these issues are dealt with elsewhere in the report.  The comments received 
during the Council’s consultation on the current planning application are detailed 
in section 4 above.  At this time there are no objections on the basis of impact on 
residential amenity.  However, as noted above, officers do not consider that the 
layout shown on the indicative plan is suitable.  

6.5.4 A noise survey was carried out which has recorded background noise levels and 
considered potential noise from traffic, service yard, the car park, petrol filling 
station and equipment at the store.  As a result of the noise survey work barriers 
are proposed around the service yard and parts of the car park where there are 
near to residential properties.   Considerate vehicle movements, such as no 
reversing beepers, are also suggested for within the service yard.  The noise 
survey notes that without this mitigation the nearest properties would be adversely 
affected.  The applicants have indicated an intention to erect a 3m high acoustic 
barrier fence on the north boundary of the site.  

6.5.5 As such the indicative layout and the noise survey suggests a very harsh barrier 
along the rear of the site between the proposed store and the existing residential 
area.  This area was designed with a high quality finish and layout and provides 
dwellings with pleasant open aspects.  The indicative layout as shown would 
result in a high fence along the boundary and does not respect the views of the 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

public from this housing development.  It also provides the service area in close 
proximity to the existing dwellings.  Officers are of the opinion that a different 
layout could be achieved which moves the store and service yard further from the 
existing dwellings and also retains the existing landscaping along the A49.  

6.5.6 Although the mitigation proposed by the applicant would reduce the impact on the 
residents of these properties the mitigation may not be necessary if an alternative 
layout is provided.  

6.6 Highways, access, parking and rights of way
6.6.1 Paragraph 32 of the NPPF advises that developments that generate significant 

amounts of traffic should be supported by a Transport Statement and promotes 
sustainable modes of travel, safe accesses and improvements to existing 
transport networks.  Core Strategy Policy CS6 states that proposals likely to 
generate significant levels of traffic should be located in accessible locations 
where opportunities for walking, cycling and use of public transport can be 
maximised and the need for car based travel to be reduced.   

6.6.2 A full Transport Assessment has been carried out and submitted with the 
application.  This notes the existing highway situation, road widths, speeds, 
footpaths, street lighting and crossing points.  It acknowledges that the A49 is a 
trunk road.  The report details the proposed improvements to Dun Cow Road to 
widen the carriageway and add a mini roundabout.  Improvements are also 
proposed to the junction with the A4117.

6.6.3 Trip generation and traffic surveys have been carried out on the A49, A4117 and 
Dun Cow Road.  The TA predicts potential traffic movements and suggests that it 
is unlikely that all movements would be new as many would be from shoppers 
who already use other stores in the area.  The prediction in the TA is that 51% of 
traffic would be diverted from the existing Tesco and Aldi stores.  The report also 
considers that many store visits will be generated from traffic already passing the 
site on the A41.

6.6.4 The TA also comments on junction capacity noting that the junction of Dun Cow 
Road with the A4117 could be at or approaching capacity at peak times once the 
development is complete and open to trade but considers that this may be 
reduced by customer choice, ie customers choosing what time of day to visit the 
store and to avoid peak times.  Furthermore the TA suggests that queueing 
vehicles can be accommodated on Dun Cow Road.  Alternative junction 
arrangements such as traffic lights and a roundabout were considered but both 
were assessed as having the potential to result in other delays.  With regard to the 
other local junctions the A41 to A4117 and A4117 to Henley Road would both 
operate well within capacity after the development.  

6.6.5 The design and access statement submitted with the application advises that the 
proposal will include 227 parking spaces of which 13 are disabled spaces and 9 
are parent and child spaces.  Cycle parking is also proposed and the site is within 
1 minute walk of the nearest bus stop which serves the town centre.  

6.6.6 There are existing pedestrian crossings on both the A4117 and the A49 and the 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

applicant considers that the site is accessible on foot, bicycle and by bus with the 
town centre, train station and significant areas of residential development within 
walking distance.  However, the TA accepts that as a main food shopping venue 
these trips are likely to be limited.  

6.6.7 The Council Highway Officer’s comments are provided in full at 4.1.8 above.  The 
Highway Officer has acknowledged the potential traffic impact of the proposal but 
has raised no objection.  Highways England have also commented, given that the 
site access is close to the A49 (as detailed at 4.1.8 above).  Highways England 
also have no objection to the proposal concluding that the junction of the A49 and 
Rocks Green will continue to operate within capacity and hat the development 
traffic can be accommodated on the strategic network without mitigation works 
being required. 

6.6.8 Access to the foodstore is being sought from Dun Cow Road which the Council 
Highway Officer has advised is an unadopted (private) road.  Consent from the 
landowner will be required separate to the planning application, however the 
access should be provided to an adoptable standard as the Council Highway 
Officer has advised that the landowner is intending on requesting adoption of the 
road.

6.6.9 The Council Highway Officer has considered the impact on the local road network 
and accepts that there will be an increase in traffic but that there is capacity to 
accommodate this development.  Improvements to the junction for vehicles turning 
right are included in the proposed application and these are promoted by the 
Highway Officer as beneficial.  

6.6.10 Walking and cycling has also been considered by the Highway Officer who notes 
that the A49 is currently a barrier to this type of movement.  It is therefore 
recommended that as part of the development further pedestrian and cycle 
provisions should be delivered to encourage sustainable travel between the 
existing residential areas and the site.  This matter can be dealt with through an 
appropriately worded condition.  

6.6.11 A draft Travel Plan has also been proposed which recommends that the store 
employs a travel plan coordinator and that the travel plan is used to promote cycle 
access, the use of public transport and car sharing, especially for staff.  The 
Council Highway Officer has confirmed that this should be developed further in 
accordance with PPG13 and associated best practice/guidance.

6.7 Ecology and trees
6.7.1 The NPPF and policy CS17 of the Shropshire Core Strategy require consideration 

to be given to the impact of the proposed development on the natural 
environment.  This particularly relates to the impact on statutorily protected 
species and habitats and existing trees and landscaping.  A protected species 
survey has been undertaken and submitted with the application and this has been 
considered by the Council Ecologist.

6.7.2 The submitted ecology report notes the existing buildings, grazing land and tree/ 
hedge boundaries.  There are no records of badgers, dormice, reptiles or 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

amphibians (including great crested newts).  Records are available showing otters 
1km west of the application site but there are no watercourses close to the 
application site which would serve as connecting corridors to the recorded siting.  
The nearest local nature reserve is 2km from the application site.  A separate bat 
survey report has also been submitted on the basis that the site provides foraging 
opportunities.  No evidence was found of bats using the buildings during the 
surveys but the author suggests that there is still a possibility of roosting bats and 
as such recommends removal of the roofs on the buildings is carried out under 
supervision.  Bats were found to be using the site for foraging and bat boxes are 
therefore recommended.  

6.7.3 It is accepted by the applicant’s ecologist that almost all of the existing vegetation 
and habitats will be removed but the author considers that the existing site is of 
low nature conservation value and that the development of the site can enhance 
ecology by planting native species hedges and trees.  Recommendations include 
site clearance under ecological supervision and further surveys if 12 months pass 
between the existing surveys and the commencement of development.  However, 
it is also noted that the farmhouse was not surveyed as access was not possible.  

6.7.4 A tree survey was carried out which accepts that most of the existing trees are to 
be removed.  The hedge boundary to the east, with Dun Cow Cottage, is to be 
retained, all others are to be removed, including the hedges on the boundary with 
the A41 and A4117.  The design and access statement recommends additional 
native species landscaping for decorative and ecological benefit.

6.8 Drainage
6.8.1 Policy CS18 ‘Sustainable Water Management’ of the Shropshire Core Strategy 

indicates that development should integrate measures of sustainable water 
management to reduce flood risk and avoid an adverse impact on water quality 
and quantity.  

6.8.2 A full Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) has been carried out and submitted in 
support of the application.  The FRA advises that the highest part of the site is 
117AOD, adjacent to Dun Cow Road, and the lowest point is 112AOD.  The site is 
in flood zone 1 and therefore at lowest risk of flooding.  The FRA recommends 
surface water from the development is drained to the existing surface water sewer 
in Rocks Green but that it may need to be pumped and attenuated to control run 
off to greenfield rate.  The proposals include permeable paving, except at the 
petrol filling station, and that further assessment may enable the use of 
soakaways.  

6.8.3 The Council Drainage Consultant has not raised any objection to the principle of 
approving the site and has recommended that drainage details, plans and 
calculations could be conditioned and submitted for approval at the reserved 
matters stage.  There is no evidence to show that the site is not capable of being 
provided with a satisfactory drainage system which would ensure that the 
development complies with policy CS18 and as such this matter can be dealt with 
by condition.  

6.9 Other matters



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.9.1 Dun Cow Farm, the farm which forms the application site, is recorded in the 
Shropshire Historic Farmstead Characterisation as being of archaeological 
interest.  The farm dates from 1835 and as such there is a potential for 
archaeological remains but no previous surveys have been carried out.  The 
applicant has also noted nearby heritage assets.  However, it is the applicants 
opinion that the setting of Dun Cow Farm has already been affected by the 
construction of the A49 and Rocks Green housing estate.  Any archaeological 
remains are likely to be local and of limited significance but the applicant accepts 
that the development of the site would destroy and archaeology and therefore 
accepts that there is a requirement for a condition.  

6.9.2 The Council Conservation Officer has commented that the existing buildings on 
the site, a farmhouse and farm buildings, have some heritage importance.  The 
applicant has therefore submitted a statement of significance which provides detail 
on the age of the building, their quality and rarity.  The Conservation Officer, under 
section 4.1.6 above, confirms that the statement is sufficient for the NPPF 
requirements and has not raised any objection to the loss of the existing buildings 
providing they are recorded prior to demolition.  

6.9.3 An assessment of potential for contaminants was also carried out.  This has noted 
the existing buildings, previous uses and the presence of 2 above ground heating 
oil tanks on concrete bases.  These tanks are considered to be in reasonable 
condition and as such the assessment suggests that there is not likely to be any 
contamination on site.  

7.0 CONCLUSION
7.1 The proposed development has been assessed in accordance with section 38(6) 

of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, namely that any 
determination must be made in accordance with the development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. In particular, the proposed 
development has been assessed against locally adopted policies and the National 
Planning Policy Framework in relation to retail development. This assessment 
concludes that approval of a food store on the application site would not have a 
significant adverse impact on the vitality and viability of Ludlow town centre.

7.2 Taking into account the provisions of the conditions, this proposal is considered to 
accord with the requirements of the current development plan as a whole including 
the need to protect the vitality and viability of town centres and to support 
appropriate retail and other economic development, taking into account sequential 
and impact assessments. This is with reference to Shropshire Core Strategy 
policies CS1, CS3, CS6, CS9 and C15, Shropshire Site Allocations and 
Management of Development policies MD2, MD10a and MD10b and paragraphs 
23 to 27 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

7.3 Furthermore it is considered:
- That Ludlow is suitable for the form of development proposed (Policies CS1 and 
CS3 of the Shropshire Core Strategy);
- That the proposal would not result in any significant adverse impact on Ludlow 
town centre (as assessed under the requirements of Paragraph 26 of the NPPF);
- That, overall, it will deliver positive impacts (by reference to policies CS6 and 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

CS9 of the Shropshire Core Strategy) by reason of the employment generation 
and the potential to retain and clawback trade to Ludlow.

7.4 Furthermore, the access, parking and potential for enhanced pedestrian and cycle  
linkages to the surrounding area are considered to meet the principles of 
sustainable development and the requirements of the NPPF and policies CS6 and
CS9 of the Shropshire Core Strategy. The site is capable of being drained without
resulting in a greater flood risk as required by the NPPF and policy CS18 of the
Shropshire Core Strategy; subject to an appropriate layout and noise mitigation 
the development can be designed so as not to have an unacceptable impact on 
the amenities of surrounding residents in accordance with the requirements of the 
NPPF and CS6 of the Shropshire Core Strategy; and the landscaping and 
ecological impacts can also be protected or mitigated in line with the NPPF and 
CS17 of the Shropshire Core Strategy.

7.5 Accordingly the proposal is considered to comply with the Development Plan Core 
Strategy policies CS3, CS6, CS7, CS17 and CS18 and with the requirements and 
aims of policy CS15 in seeking to protect the vitality and viability of Ludlow Town 
Centre.  The scheme is also in accordance with the policies within the Shropshire 
Site Allocations and Management of Development (SAMDev) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), specifically paragraphs 23 to 27.  In arriving 
at this decision the Council has used its best endeavours to work with the 
applicant in a positive and proactive manner to secure an appropriate outcome as 
required in the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 187.

8.0 RISK ASSESSMENT AND OPPORTUNITIES APPRAISAL
8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they disagree 
with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be awarded 
irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal - written representations, a 
hearing or inquiry.

The decision is challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third party. The courts 
become involved when there is a misinterpretation or misapplication of policy or 
some breach of the rules of procedure or the principles of natural justice. However 
their role is to review the way the authorities reach decisions, rather than to make 
a decision on the planning issues themselves, although they will interfere where 
the decision is so unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore they are 
concerned with the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A challenge by 
way of Judicial Review must be a) promptly and b) in any event not later than six 
weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights
Article 8 give the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow 
Shropshire SY8 2DS

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Article 1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be 
balanced against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development 
of the County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities
The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in planning committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1970.

9.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
9.1 There are likely financial implications of the decision and/or imposition of 

conditions if challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependant on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – in so far as 
they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker.





Committee and date

South Planning Committee

7 February 2017

Development Management Report

Responsible Officer: Tim Rogers
email: tim.rogers@shropshire.gov.uk   Tel: 01743 258773   Fax: 01743 252619

Summary of Application

Application Number: 16/02758/FUL Parish: Farlow 

Proposal: Change of use of land to accommodate 4 no. holiday chalets with associated 
access and parking; installation of package treatment plant

Site Address: Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh Catherton Shropshire  

Applicant: Mr Paul Harding

Case Officer: Elizabeth Attwood email: planningdmse@shropshire.gov.uk

Grid Ref: 363976 - 279146

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved.  Shropshire Council 100049049. 2016  For reference 
purposes only. No further copies may be made.

mailto:stuart.thomas@shropshire.gov.uk


Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Recommendation:-  Refuse for the reasons set out below:

 1. It is acknowledged that the proposed development would contribute to the rural 
economy and to the role of Shropshire as a tourist destination to stay. However these benefits 
are considered to be outweighed by the following environmental harm:
The principle of the proposed change of use of agricultural land and the erection of four holiday 
chalets in this remote and unsustainable rural area is contrary to both local and national policy 
planning policy which aims to locate this type of development adjacent to existing settlements 
or close to existing facilities. The introduction of significant new built form in to this very open 
location would detract from the visual amenity of the area and fails to respect the local 
distinctiveness of this part of Upper Marsh. The proposed log cabins and associated hard 
landscaping would appear as incongruous additions to the area and as such would result in a 
detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the area. Accordingly, the proposed 
development is contrary to Local Plan policies CS5, CS6, CS16 & CS17 of the adopted Core 
Strategy and policies MD2, MD11, MD12 of the SAMDev and national guidance contained 
within the NPPF, in particular paragraphs 7, 17, 28, 58 and 109.

 2. The application site is adjacent to Catherton Common (SSSI and SWT Reserve) and 
within both a buffer zone and ‘corridor’ of the Shropshire Environmental Network. Therefore, 
the proposed scheme must clearly demonstrate how the development will promote the 
preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats and ecological networks. It is not 
considered that the level of suggested ecological enhancement will balance the likely adverse 
drainage impacts on the SSSI associated with the development. Furthermore, no consideration 
has been given to the additional recreational pressure on the SSSI and the Shropshire Wildlife 
Trust Reserve which could occur as a result of the proposed new tourism enterprise. 
Accordingly, the proposed development is contrary to policies CS17 and CS18 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and policy MD12 of the SAMDev and national guidance contained within the 
NPPF and in particular paragraphs 109 and 118.

REPORT

1.0 THE PROPOSAL

1.1 The proposal comprises a change of use of land to accommodate four x 8 berth 
holiday chalets with associated access and parking and installation of package 
treatment plant.

1.2 This is a resubmission of a previously refused application (15/04508/FUL) for a 
similar proposal which comprised 4 x two storey chalets positioned in a row fronting 
the public highway.  The chalets were 6.2m to the ridge with a crucifix shaped 
footprint with overall dimensions of 13.5 x 8.0m finished in timber boarding with a 
slate roof. Surface water drainage was to be via soakaways and foul drainage 
would be via an existing septic tank which is located to the rear (east) of the site. 
The application was refused under Officer delegated powers for the following 
reasons:

1) The principle of the proposed change of use of agricultural and the erection 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

of four holiday chalets in this remote and unsustainable rural area is contrary 
to both local and national policy planning policy which aims to locate this 
type of development adjacent to existing settlements or close to existing 
facilities. The introduction of new built form in to this very open location 
would detract from the visual amenity of the area and fails to respect the 
local distinctiveness of this part of Upper Marsh. The proposed log cabins 
and associated hard landscaping would appear as incongruous additions to 
the area and as such would result in a detrimental impact upon the character 
and appearance of the area. Accordingly the proposed development is 
contrary to Local Plan policies CS5, CS6, CS16 & CS17 of the adopted Core 
Strategy and policies MD2, MD11, MD12 of the SAMDev and national 
guidance contained within the NPPF 2012.

2) The application site is adjacent to Catherton Common (SSSI and SWT 
Reserve) and within both a buffer zone and 'corridor' of the Shropshire 
Environmental Network. Therefore, the proposed scheme must clearly 
demonstrate how the development will promote the preservation, restoration 
and re-creation of priority habitats and ecological networks. No information 
has been submitted in this respect and therefore the proposed development 
is contrary to policies CS17 and CS18 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
policy MD12 of the SAMDev and national guidance contained within the 
NPPF 2012.

1.3 The site area is 1.6 acres and the proposed layout indicates 4 x single storey 4 
bedroomed chalets positioned in a row fronting the public highway.  The 
resubmitted proposal comprises chalets which would be approximately 3.4m to the 
ridge with a rectangular shaped footprint with overall dimensions of 20.0 x 6.8m 
and would be constructed from Western Red Cedar with a fibre cement roof.

1.4 These chalets are lower than the previous ones but cover a greater footprint. Each 
chalet comprises four double bedrooms (two of which are en-suite), a bathroom, 
storage/utility, kitchen/diner and lounge.

1.5 The immediate area surrounding the chalets would be slabbed and one gravel 
parking space would be provided for each unit. Access off the public highway would 
be provided in between the Oaks trees and would comprise gravel over Terram 
Geocell matting to create a permeable drive.  Low level lighting is proposed 
however no further details have been provided.

1.6 Surface water drainage would be via soakaways and a sustainable drainage 
system and foul drainage would be via a Package Treatment Plant. The submitted 
block plan shows that the existing septic tank and herringbone soakaway which is 
located to the rear (east) of the site was previously sized to cater for the new 
Holiday Lets however it is understood that this will be replaced with a package 
treatment plant.

1.7 The site would be developed in two phases of two units. The two units on the 
northern side will be installed in 2017 followed by the remaining two in 2018.

2.0 SITE LOCATION/DESCRIPTION



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

2.1 The site is situated in open countryside and is adjacent Catherton Common SSSI 
and Shropshire Wildlife Trust Nature Reserve.  The site is relatively flat pasture 
land and is bordered by post and wire fencing. There is a row of mature Oak, Silver 
Birch and Holly trees along the western (roadside) boundary and to the east of 
these a row of recently planted mixed hedging whips.

2.1.2 Within the same ownership but outside the site boundary is an agricultural building 
which is accessed via a gated stoned track. There is a significant number of logs 
associated with the building stored along the track and adjacent the building.

2.1.3 The nearest residential dwelling is located on the opposite side of the road over 
100m away to the west.

2.1.4 Approximately 1000 Beech, Oak, Ash and Hawthorn whips were planted in 2015 
between the application site and the adjacent SSSI.

3.0 REASON FOR COMMITTEE DETERMINATION OF APPLICATION

3.1 The Shropshire Council Division Members have requested that the application is 
determined by Planning Committee due to the mixed feeling as to whether the 
application should be supported or not. The Principal Planning Officer in 
consultation with the Chair and Vice Chair of the South Planning Committee 
consider that this proposal raises material planning considerations that warrant a 
Committee determination in this case.

4.0 Community Representations
 -Consultee Comments.
Where consultees have submitted more than one set of comments, the latest 
comments are set out first below in order to show whether any earlier concerns 
raised have been addressed.

4.1 Farlow Parish Council – Comment: 

An application for the erection of 4 holiday chalets at Upper Marsh Catherton was 
again considered.
There is a considerable amount of additional documentation however it is 
considered that the issues which led to the Council recommending rejection of the 
last application have not really been addressed. Although the Council was mindful 
to again reject this application, in view of its complex nature, together with the 
sensitivity of the area, the plethora of documentation, the late receipt of some of 
this documentation and the request by the Applicant for a site meeting with Natural 
England, it is recommended that this application is considered by full planning 
committee.

4.2 SC Highways Development Control – No Objections.
The Council’s Highway Engineer has no objections subject to conditions in respect 
of access, parking and turning, gates and disabled access. Informatives in respect 
of no drainage on to the highway, Mud on highway, Works on, within or abutting the 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

public highway and Sky glow as suggested.

4.3 SC Drainage – No Objections:
The Council’s Drainage Engineer has advised that the drainage proposals are 
acceptable.

4.3 SC Ecology (23-11-16) – Comment:
Natural England would need to remove their objection before any grant of planning 
permission.

4.3.1 SC Ecology (09-11-16) – Objection:
Natural England and Shropshire Wildlife Trust have objected to this application and 
SC Ecology agree with their objections. Insufficient information has been provided 
to prove that the proposed development will not result in adverse impacts on the 
SSSI (through foul and surface water drainage and recreational impacts).

Unless sufficient information is submitted to satisfy Natural England's and 
Shropshire Wildlife Trust's concerns, planning permission should not be granted.

4.3.2 SC Ecology  (05-06-16) Comment:

Natural England must be formally consulted and a response received prior to the 
planning decision.

Welcome the additional native species planting and recommend retention of mature 
trees and scrub along the western and southern boundaries as habitats for bats, 
nesting birds and other wildlife.

In the event of planning permission being given recommend conditions in respect of 
a post construction habitat management plan, a landscaping plan and a lighting 
plan. Informatives in respect of nests, wild birds and clearance of the site are also 
suggested

4.4 Shropshire Wildlife Trust (16-11-16) – Object:
The additional area of habitat creation is welcomed but can this be adequately 
guaranteed for the long term? What kind of monitoring and management can be 
expected and what enforcement would be realistically achievable? Our concerns 
re. location and potential recreational pressure remain unaddressed so our 
objection still stands.

Their position on drainage would be reviewed in the light of expert opinion i.e. from 
within Shropshire Council or Natural England.

4.4.1 Shropshire Wildlife Trust (01-09-16) – Object:
Recognise and welcome the enhancement suggestions for the site but are not 
convinced, as yet, that this would balance the potential impacts.

With regard to the drainage issues I would need clearer professional reassurance 
that the PTP would pose no possible threat to the condition of the SSSI and SWT 
reserve. As I am not an expert in foul water drainage systems I would hope that 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

expertise within Natural England, the Environment Agency or Shropshire Council 
drainage teams might help resolve this issue

See no mention of how visitor pressure will be addressed.

4.4.2 Shropshire Wildlife Trust (25-07-16) – Object: 

While an ecological assessment has now been undertaken (an improvement upon 
the previous application 15/04508/FUL) this has only partly addressed our earlier 
concerns. Although the findings of the assessment indicate that the ecological 
value of the site may not be high, it is located within both the corridor and buffer 
area of Shropshire’s Environmental Network and immediately adjacent to a SSSI.

The tree planting mentioned in the design and access statement seems to consist 
of a mix including Ash, Beech, Cherry and Sycamore which are not particularly 
appropriate for the location and would appear to have been planted primarily for 
screening rather than ecological reasons.

The suggested Biodiversity Management Plan makes good suggestions regarding 
the management of marshy grassland and hay meadow but our experience is that 
such recommendations are often neglected in the long term.

We are not convinced that the current level of suggested ecological enhancement 
will balance the possible impacts associated with the development which include:

 Drainage – as per our earlier objection there appears to be little detail on the 
package treatment plant (PTP). Given the proximity of a sensitive SSSI and 
mire habitat we are concerned that the PTP may not provide an adequate 
solution. Many PTPs are not designed to treat phosphate and there appears 
to be a lack of conclusive evidence to suggest that they would be 
appropriate in close proximity to a SSSI and mire habitat. We also note that 
Natural England Reports NECR170 and NECR179 both conclude that PTPs 
require a steady flow of sewage and sites that generate erratic loads such as 
holiday accommodation may need to install flow balancing systems.

 Additional Recreational Pressure – the close proximity of the development to 
the SSSI and Shropshire Wildlife Trust Reserve is likely to focus visitor 
pressure on this sensitive area and increase the costs of managing the site.

Operations likely to damage the special interest of Catherton Common include:
 “Dumping, spreading or discharge of any materials”; and
 “Recreational or other activities including motor-cycling, likely to damage the 

stream margins, bogs and heathland vegetation”.
We would therefore recommend that Natural England is consulted on this 
application.

While we recognise the importance of tourism for the economy of Shropshire, 
policy is clear that suitable locations in and around existing settlements should be 
used.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

4.5 Natural England (25-01-17) – Objection Maintained:

This application is in close proximity to Catherton Common Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI). Natural England objects on the grounds that the application, as 
submitted, is likely to damage or destroy the interest features for which Catherton 
Common has been notified. Our concerns are set out below.

We note the response from Churton Ecology to the points we made in our previous 
response however they do not appear to address our concerns.
They have highlighted potential damage to the site through the foul drainage 
proposed which we agree with. In addition they have suggested that they do not 
have the expertise to comment on the impacts which suggests the applicant should 
consider additional expertise.

Natural England’s internal wetland specialist has suggested that the habitat interest 
feature of the SSSI has no tolerance for increased levels of nutrients and the 
developer has yet to provide evidence that the proposals will not lead to increases 
or that alternative/less damaging sites have been considered and ruled out.
Additionally recreational impacts have yet to be considered/assessed as we have 
previously advised.

In summary the area of the SSSI likely to be affected is the most vulnerable and 
insufficient evidence has been submitted to demonstrate that the SSSI interest 
features will not be damaged or destroyed through the foul drainage proposals or 
recreational pressure. The applicant has also not demonstrated that the mitigation 
hierarchy has been applied through consideration of alternative sites. 

 If your Authority is minded to grant consent for this application contrary to the 
advice relating to Catherton Common SSSI contained in this letter, we refer you to 
Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), specifically 
the duty placed upon your authority, requiring that your Authority; 
 Provide notice to Natural England of the permission, and of its terms, the notice 
to include a statement of how (if at all) your authority has taken account of Natural 
England’s advice, and 
 Shall not grant a permission which would allow the operations to start before the 
end of a period of 21 days beginning with the date of that notice. 

4.5.1 Natural England (22-09-16) – Objection Maintained – Further information required.

We note the additional information and comments in relation to our previous 
response however we still believe further information is needed to understand the 
implications of the proposed development on the SSSI. Our previous comments 
were: 
“Foul and surface water drainage – We note that the application proposes the 
installation of a package treatment plant to serve the development however the 
information does not appear to provide details of the quality of treated effluent 
resulting from the package treatment plant. There will also be soakaways for 
surface water drainage however the locations of these soakaways and the 
interactions between foul and surface water and their potential effects on the SSSI 
have not been considered. We note that the Ecology Report undertaken by Churton 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Ecology and dated June 2016 identifies that without appropriate precautions that 
drainage from the site may negatively affect the SSSI however it does not appear 
to state what measures should be taken.

Recreational impacts – the site may be sensitive to recreational impacts however it 
does not appear that consideration of this potential impact has been included within 
the proposal. We understand that the area of SSSI adjacent to the site is amongst 
the most sensitive.” 

The additional information and comment includes specification from the 
manufacturers of the proposed package treatment plant however there is no 
interpretation of how the treated effluent may affect SSSI features or to 
demonstrate that the SSSI will not be affected. Indeed point 1 the response from 
Churton Ecology states that while they have highlighted drainage as an area of 
concern they have not commented on the likely impacts. 

We note the email from the agent which makes reference to a number of trees 
planted on the site to ensure biodiversity as a whole is not lost as a result of the 
proposals ww welcome the intention however they are not within the SSSI and the 
planting of ‘000s of trees’ may itself have a negative impact on wetland habitats 
within the SSSI. Also, with reference to the mitigation hierarchy compensatory 
measures i.e new habitat to make up for damage / loss should be as a last resort 
after avoidance and mitigation. 

If the applicants / agents wish to discuss the proposals directly with Natural 
England, we would advise using our Discretionary Advice Service. 

The first step is for the developer to fill out a simple form, so we can register their 
interest, and make sure they have the right adviser for their case. Please visit our 
website for more information and a downloadable request form here.
 
We also note the comments from Shropshire Wildlife Trust who consider that 
further information in relation to drainage and recreational impacts is necessary and 
would recommend you have regard for their concerns. 

Should the application change, or if the applicant submits further information 
relating to the impact of this proposal on the SSSI aimed at reducing the damage 
likely to be caused, Natural England will be happy to consider it, and amend our 
position as appropriate.

4.5.2 Natural England (27-07-16) – Object: Further information required.

This application adjacent to Catherton Common Site of Special Scientific Interest 
(SSSI). Natural England objects to this development on the grounds that the 
application, as submitted, is likely to damage or destroy the interest features for 
which Catherton Common has been notified. Our concerns are set out below. 

Catherton Common SSSI is an extensive area of wet and dry heathland, the 
diversity of the area is increased by the presence of streams and wet flushes and 
as such water quality is critical to the nature of the SSSI. At present the unit closest 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

to the proposed development is in Unfavourable – Recovering condition. 

At present we believe further information is needed to understand the implications 
of the proposed development on the SSSI 

Foul and surface water drainage – We note that the application proposes the 
installation of a package treatment plant to serve the development however the 
information does not appear to provide details of the quality of treated effluent 
resulting from the package treatment plant. There will also be soakaways for 
surface water drainage however the locations of these soakaways and the 
interactions between foul and surface water and their potential effects on the SSSI 
have not been considered. We note that the Ecology Report undertaken by Churton 
Ecology and dated June 2016 identifies that without appropriate precautions that 
drainage from the site may negatively affect the SSSI however it does not appear 
to state what measures should be taken.

Recreational impacts – the site may be sensitive to recreational impacts however it 
does not appear that consideration of this potential impact has been included within 
the proposal. We understand that the area of SSSI adjacent to the site is amongst 
the most sensitive. 
Additionally clarification of the ecology report would be useful. The site description 
suggests that there is little of interest, however for the ‘site’, it gives a species list 
though, without frequencies which include four high value indicators present 
including autumn hawkbit, bird’s foot trefoil, yellow rattle and common spotted 
orchid. The field may qualify as high value Lowland Meadow and Pasture 
priority/BAP habitat if there are two frequent and two occasional indicators. 
Additionally damp pockets are described with rushes including jointed, lesser 
spearwort, and three sedge species, which could indicate this area as high value 
purple moor grass Rush pasture priority habitat http://csguidance/Process/HT-
supported/Documents/cs_behta_manual_part2.pdf . 

Should the application change, or if the applicant submits further information 
relating to the impact of this proposal on the SSSI aimed at reducing the damage 
likely to be caused, Natural England will be happy to consider it, and amend our 
position as appropriate. 

If your Authority is minded to grant consent for this application contrary to the 
advice relating to Catherton Common SSSI contained in this letter, we refer you to 
Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), specifically 
the duty placed upon your authority, requiring that your Authority; 
 Provide notice to Natural England of the permission, and of its terms, the notice 
to include a statement of how (if at all) your authority has taken account of Natural 
England’s advice, and 
 Shall not grant a permission which would allow the operations to start before the 
end of a period of 21 days beginning with the date of that notice. 

Other advice 
We would expect the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to assess and consider the 
other possible impacts resulting from this proposal on the following when 
determining this application: 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 local sites (biodiversity and geodiversity) 
 local landscape character 
 local or national biodiversity priority habitats and species. 

Natural England does not hold locally specific information relating to the above. 
These remain material considerations in the determination of this planning 
application and we recommend that you seek further information from the 
appropriate bodies (which may include the local records centre, your local wildlife 
trust, local geoconservation group or other recording society and a local landscape 
characterisation document) in order to ensure the LPA has sufficient information to 
fully understand the impact of the proposal before it determines the application. A 
more comprehensive list of local groups can be found at Wildlife and Countryside 
link. 
Biodiversity enhancements 
This application may provide opportunities to incorporate features into the design 
which are beneficial to wildlife, such as the incorporation of roosting opportunities 
for bats or the installation of bird nest boxes. The authority should consider 
securing measures to enhance the biodiversity of the site from the applicant, if it is 
minded to grant permission for this application. This is in accordance with 
Paragraph 118 of the NPPF. Additionally, we would draw your attention to Section 
40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006) which states that 
‘Every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard, so far as is 
consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of conserving 
biodiversity’. Section 40(3) of the same Act also states that ‘conserving biodiversity 
includes, in relation to a living organism or type of habitat, restoring or enhancing a 
population or habitat’.

4.6

Public Comments

A site notice and 18 direct neighbour letters have publicised the application; Five 
letters of objection have been received. The issues raised are:

 I was very surprised and disappointed to see a new application for this 
large scale green field development considering the refusal for previous 
application and the strength of feeling and no local support.

 The only change in this new application is the roof height has been 
lowered slightly and the front elevation has increased to a massive 20m 
(significantly more than an average detached house). I have no idea how a 
20m long building with 4 double bedrooms and 3 bathrooms can be 
described as "a caravan". My previous comments therefore still stand (see 
application 15/04508/FUL) and I would like to add the following based on 
comments in the submitted Planning Statement- 

 This development will significantly degenerate the qualities and 
features that make this area unique. The location is adjacent (the new 
buildings are less than 30m away) to an important reserve, Catherton 
Common. This is over 300 Hectares of tranquil and unspoilt open land. 

 This field is also part of an important buffer zone between the common 
and farmland. Without vigorously maintaining this buffer and wildlife corridor 
the common will increasingly become an isolated patch and its nature as a 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

unique wildlife haven will be affected. The fields, adjacent to the common, 
have for hundreds of years been used as grass keeps and hay making for 
the grazing animals when they are taken off the common. The complex 
ecosystem of the area has developed to use and rely on this unique feature. 

 Apart from the holiday lets in the area, which are all based on existing 
and appropriate buildings adjacent to the owner's properties, there are no 
tourism-based facilities in the immediate area. The nearest pub is 2 miles 
away and is not a tourism-based business. This development will not 
improve local services through economic growth as stated in the statement. 
The only benefit will be financial profit to the landowner. There may be a 
demand for a part time cleaner but the area already has a number of holiday 
lets that already struggle to find someone local to provide this service.

 This field is no longer directly linked to a local farming business (it was 
sold to the current owner as a separate parcel of land). It has already 
suffered one diversification activity (forestry business). This is more 
compatible with the rural nature of the area and has been concentrated in 
one corner of the field leaving the rest unspoilt (until now). The rest of this 
historic field should be left as pasture. 

 Any new green field housing development in the area must be 
prioritised to meet local housing demands and not for tourism. Demands for 
tourism can and are being met by more appropriate accommodation 
adjacent to existing owner’s properties. In the parish plan any new housing 
is prioritised for single plot exception sites where there is proof of demand 
for a local family member. This tourism development is not compatible with 
this aim as well as not even being linked to any settlement areas.

 The 3 examples submitted of similar development (I could only see 2) 
are not similar. The Kinlet example is not part of an ANOB or adjacent to a 
unique area of open common land and the Craven Arms example is for 
Yurts and a very different proposal.

 I hope the planners will consider and take into account how the 
proposed development will affect the area immediately and in the future, as 
it is likely if planning consent is given, in the way of these things, further 
planning applications will be made to enlarge the properties, build more 
properties and eventually get permanent residential occupancy. 

 Reading the application it is clear that the applicant bought the field 
with the sole purpose of developing it, this is confirmed as they planted trees 
in preparation. The land was a field not a development site and what is 
worse it is in an area of outstanding natural beauty. There are lots of holiday 
rental properties in the area and also caravan parks, chalet parks and sites, 
where holiday makers can stay and enjoy the area. If there is a requirement 
for more holiday accommodation at all surely this is the wrong place for it.

 We were amazed to see yet another application for this development. 
The previous application for 4 two bedroom cabins with 180 feet of building 
frontage has now been replaced with 4 four bedroom cabins with over 260 
feet of building frontage which will be larger than many of the local 
permanent dwellings.

 At night with dark skies and no street lighting properties are difficult to 
locate therefore bright lights and signage would be necessary along the 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

frontage and beyond. This would deter nocturnal and retiring wildlife.
 All of our previous objections on application 15/04508/FUL still stand.
 Catherton Common is an area of outstanding beauty with wonderful 

flora and fauna to behold. It homes many species of wildlife and is visited 
regularly by wildlife enthusiasts. Why spoil this area for the wildlife such as 
the Curlews who nest here?

 The chalets will be adjacent to a commercial property which has 
sawmills being used late into the night and weekends and regular bonfires 
are lit, why would anyone wish to stay on a commercial yard when there are 
ample caravan sites and holiday lets in the area?

 One lady who stays in a local holiday let regularly throughout the year 
and walks daily across the common comes from the edge of the Yorkshire 
Moors and always comments how fresh the air is and says that it is cleaner 
than that of the Yorkshire Moors. Why spoil this clean fresh air with 4 chalets 
and all of the additional carbon emissions which will be brought in to the 
area by the number of cars visiting each chalet.

 I read with interest all of the comments in support of this application, 
but notice that not one of them actually live on Catherton Common and 
certainly not opposite the proposed site. Would any of them like this being 
built in full view of their home. The drive down to the crossroads is 
continually needing to be repaired due to potholes appearing from the heavy 
traffic from this wood yard which has resulted in our family alone having to 
have 7 road springs repaired on our vehicles over the last 3 years. This 
application is for "holiday chalets" will this turn into a "mini housing estate" 
over the next few years. The Council should listen to the concerns of those 
parishioners who it will have the most impact on as opposed to those who 
live nowhere near and don't use Catherton Common on a regular basis.

 This proposed site will have a significant impact on our beautiful wildlife 
which is the main reason why it should not be allowed to go ahead. 

4.7 Nine letters of support have been received. The issues raised are;
 Surely this would bring business into the local area. People coming to 

stay will support the local pubs and shops, Cleobury Country Market etc. I 
understand the views on protecting the common but visitors will walk the 
area and appreciate our beautiful countryside - we are lucky to live 
somewhere which has SSSI zones and such natural beauty and it is 
understandable that others would wish to visit.

 The applicant is a very well respected member of the local community, 
who has always supported the rural economy in which he both lives and 
works. I too was born and raised in the local community and feel that this 
development, and the visitors it will attract, will be of great benefit to 
businesses in the surrounding towns and villages. Any new opportunities we 
can provide to bring new visitors into our beautiful landscape should be 
welcomed, especially in our current economic climate.

 I am a local business person and I run a very similar business as the 
one proposed by Mr Harding. I have a wooden holiday chalet a few miles 
away from the proposed site, also next to AONB, SSI and within the 
Shropshire hills. We have been running for four and half years and every 
year our business has grown rapidly. Tourism is such an important factor in 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

the local rural economy and something that needs to be supported and 
encouraged. We are fully booked from April to November with many months 
through the winter also booked. I am regularly having to turn down bookings 
as the dates are already taken.

 My business, as would Mr Harding's, supports the local rural economy 
in many ways. We regularly use builders, plumbers, electricians for general 
maintenance. We have regular contract with a local laundry company, we 
use a grass maintenance company for landscaping, a local IT person for our 
website, local photographer and printers for advertising. We use a local 
bakers for guest’s cakes, local butchers for guest’s breakfasts. Shropshire 
and the surrounding areas have a vast array of amazing tourist attractions 
which we actively promote to all of our guests as well as local restaurants, 
pubs, cafe's, bars, leisure centres, cinema's and of course shops. 

 As a local businessman and Chair of School Governors it is vital for the 
local economy that we attract and support tourism and therefore projects of 
this nature.

 I am well aware of the proposed location of these chalets as I have 
lived around this area for all of my life and I'm confident that they would be 
constructed in such a manner as to merge with the local environment and 
therefore not detract from the wonderful countryside we are fortunate to live 
in.

 I feel that the holiday chalets will be of a high quality and whilst being 
sympathetic to the area will also be in line with the local character. I strongly 
believe that the chalets will not in any way detract from their surroundings, 
rather they will enhance it. As the chalets will be aimed at the top end of the 
tourist market they will undoubtedly attract affluent visitors who will add a 
welcome boost to the local economy. In current times initiatives like this that 
bring a financial return to communities are sorely needed.

 Having seen from afar how Mr Harding has built his current company I 
believe he has the right attributes to make a success of the holiday chalets 
should his application be approved.

 Without a correct balance between Tourism, Environment, Wildlife, 
Housing and Work for local families and the community, this community will 
flounder. 

 It is very disappointing to read some of the objections from other locals 
which appear to comment incorrectly in elements of the project and have 
done throughout. His site boundary with the common has been repaired 
along with the plantation of native trees which will add to the biodiversity of 
the site as well as a screen (both visual and auditory) which should answer 
some of the objections. A number of the objections make it sound as though 
the site is being built on the common which it clearly is not but is adjacent to 
the common and with the building of the log cabins and the wood plantation, 
this will assist with the local wildlife in stable ecosystems, and allow visitors 
to experience the common and surrounding. With the local shoots and horse 
trekking and other local outdoor experiences available the increase in such 
projects bringing more people to the area can only help with local 
businesses (both new and old) throughout the year with all the area has to 
offer across all the seasons.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

 The applicant is a local person, and the proposed site is private and 
well screened. 

 My support comes from the business angle. There is a market for more 
holiday lets in this area, be they in the form of cottages/chalets or whatever, 
as so many love to visit the South Shropshire and on up into the Shropshire 
Hills area. 
I understand the objections listed, and the need to protect the ecological 
environment of Catherton Common, however, new local business needs to 
be supported and encouraged. The Planning Authority must create a viable 
way forward so as to accommodate all these local needs. Employment in 
rural areas is in great demand and opportunities to create more must be 
considered seriously.

5.0 THE MAIN ISSUES

Principle of development
Visual Impact and Landscaping
Residential Amenity
Highway Safety
Ecological Impact
Drainage Impact

6.0 OFFICER APPRAISAL

6.1 Principle of development

6.1.1 Paragraph 28 of the NPPF supports a prosperous rural economy and advises that 
a positive approach to sustainable development should be taken. This includes;

   ● supporting the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business and 
      enterprise in rural areas, both through conversion of existing buildings and well   
      designed new buildings;
   ● promoting the development and diversification of agricultural and other land- 
      based rural businesses;
   ● supporting sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments that benefit    
      businesses in rural areas, communities and visitors, and which respect the      
      character of the countryside. This should include supporting the provision and  
      expansion of tourist and visitor facilities in appropriate locations where identified  
      needs are not met by existing facilities in rural service centres.

6.1.2 Policy CS5 advises development proposals on appropriate sites which maintain 
and enhance countryside vitality and character will be permitted where they 
improve the sustainability of rural communities by bringing local economic and 
community benefits, particularly where they relate to small scale development 
diversifying the rural economy; including farm diversification; and the retention and 
appropriate expansion of an existing established business. 

6.1.3 Policy CS13 recognises the importance of supporting rural enterprise and 
diversification of the economy in particular areas of economic activity associated 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

inter alia in respect of green tourism (low impact tourism). The proposal is not 
considered to be green tourism as is simply ‘standard tourism’.

6.1.4 Policy CS16 requires visitor accommodation to be in accessible locations served by 
a range of services and facilities. In rural areas proposals must be of an appropriate 
scale and character for their surroundings, be close to or within settlements, or an 
established and viable tourism enterprise where accommodation is required. As 
noted above in order to be considered sustainable, Government guidance 
contained within the NPPF rural tourism is expected to respect the character and 
appearance of the countryside. The provision of visitor facilities should be in 
appropriate locations where identified needs are not met by existing facilities in 
rural service centres.

6.1.5 Policy MD11 states that holiday let development that does not conform to the legal 
definition of a caravan will be resisted in the countryside. Broadly speaking the 
legal definition of a caravan covers any structure designed or adapted for people to 
live in which is capable of being moved from one place to another (whether by 
being towed or by being transported on a motor vehicle or trailer) and any motor 
vehicle. This includes twin units separately constructed and designed for assembly 
on site, provided that the twin unit is physically capable of being moved or 
transported on a motor vehicle or trailer. The log cabin supplier has specification 
confirms that:

 The cabins are constructed from massive natural logs with precision 
joinery,

 The Kareela caravan design is constructed in the manufacturers yard 
and assembled on site in two sections, each on a rolling chassis. The 
final act of construction is to connect the two sections together. This is 
common industry practice for 20m units (the full length allowed under 
the Caravan Act) because of the cost and safety implications of 
moving 20m sections by road. The two sections can be moved again 
at a later date.

6.1.6 A letter of support from Hoseasons (holiday rental company) which advises that the 
Heart of England is a popular location for holiday accommodation and high quality 
lodges would attract a more affluent customer and that there is an overriding 
demand for accommodation in the area has been submitted with the application. 

6.1.7 The Design and Access Statement makes reference to superseded policies which 
are noted however they are not material planning considerations which can be 
taken into account in determining the application. Examples of previously approved 
tourism related applications have been submitted however these applications were 
determined prior to the adoption of the Core Strategy and the SAMDev. 

6.1.8 Previous planning policy supported new tourism enterprises in the rural area (as 
stated in the Design & Access Statement and demonstrated by the historic planning 
approvals referenced by the agent). Notwithstanding, support from Hoseasons and 
that fact that despite their size the cabins fall under the definition of a caravan as 
noted above current policies require visitor accommodation to be in accessible 
locations served by a range of services and facilities. In rural areas, proposals must 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

be close to or within settlements, or an established viable tourism enterprise where 
accommodation is required (CS16). Proposals which would result in isolated, 
sporadic, out of scale, or which may either individually or cumulatively erode the 
character of the countryside, will not be acceptable (CS5).

6.1.9 The proposed development comprises a greenfield site in a rural location which 
officers maintain is an isolated location with no nearby amenities. It would not be 
close to an established and viable tourism enterprise where it has been 
demonstrated accommodation is required. The proposal is therefore considered 
unsustainable and contrary to both local and national policy and guidance. 
Accordingly, the principle of the proposal is considered contrary to the 
aforementioned policies.

6.2 Visual Impact and Landscaping

6.2.1 Paragraph 64 of the NPPF states that; Permission should be refused for 
development of poor design that fails to take the opportunities available for 
improving the character and quality of an area and the way it functions

6.2.2 Policy CS6 seeks to ensure that development is appropriate in scale, density, 
pastern and design taking into account the local context and character.

6.2.3 Policy CS16 notes that the rural and tranquil nature of Shropshire’s countryside is a 
key component of Shropshire’s attractiveness as a visitor destination, it is therefore 
vital that all tourism proposals, particularly in rural areas, is compatible with their 
location so that Shropshire’s unique character and tranquillity is retained. Further to 
the requirements in Policy CS16, policy MD11 recognises that chalets and log 
cabins have a greater impact on the countryside and schemes should be 
landscaped and designed to a high quality.

6.2.4 Policy CS17 aims to ensure that all development contributes to the local 
distinctiveness, having regard to the quality of Shropshire’s environment, including 
landscape.

6.2.5 Policy MD2 requires development to respond effectively to local character and 
distinctiveness, it should not have a detrimental impact on existing amenity value 
but respond appropriately to the context in which it is set. As such, new 
development should respect the existing pattern of development, both visually and 
in relation to the function of spaces, retain and enhance important views and 
landmarks and respond appropriately to the local environmental and historic 
assets.

6.2.6 Policy MD11 of the SAMDev states that; Tourism, leisure and recreation 
development proposals that require a countryside location will be permitted where 
the proposal complements the character and qualities of the site’s immediate 
surroundings, and meets the requirements in Policies CS5, CS16, MD7, MD12, 
MD13 and relevant local and national guidance. In addition, all proposals should to 
be well screened and sited to mitigate the impact on the visual quality of the area 
through the use of natural on -site features, site layout and design, and landscaping 
and planting schemes where appropriate.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.2.7 Policy MD12 supports development which contributes positively to the special 
characteristics and local distinctiveness of an area.

6.2.8 The site is currently an agricultural field and despite the existing trees which are 
growing along the roadside boundary, and the additional whips which have been 
planted, it is very open and has no meaningful screening. The scale, design, 
appearance and siting of the proposed large log cabins would result in an 
incongruous addition in this very rural location, and would be at odds with the open 
character and appearance and tranquillity of the area. The log cabins would appear 
as alien features and this together with the domestication of the immediate 
surrounding land by the creation of patio areas, access drives and parking would 
result in an adverse impact upon the local distinctiveness and landscape of the 
area. 

6.2.9 The proposal is therefore considered contrary to Local Plan policies CS5, CS6, C16 
and C17, MD2, MD11& MD12 and national guidance contained within the NPPF 
which aims to improve the character and quality of an area and the way it functions 
and conserve and enhance the natural environment by protecting and enhancing 
valued landscapes.

6.3 Impact on Residential Amenity

6.3.1 Given the separation distances between the proposed site and the dwellings in the 
area it is considered that there would be no adverse impact up residential amenity 
of the scattered dwellings in the wider locality. Accordingly, there is no conflict with 
policy CS6 which aims to safeguard residential amenity.

6.4 Impact on Highway safety

6.4.1 Policy CS6 requires all development to be safe and accessible to all and have 
appropriate parking. SC Highways has commented that; The proposed site is a 
field off the Hill Houses to Catherton road, a narrow, two lane, rural, ‘C’ class road 
(C6248/10) which is governed by a 60mph speed limit.  The field is just north of the 
boundary of Catherton Common which is marked on the road with a cattle grid.

6.4.2 The site is located on a field which already has agricultural industry in the form of 
timber management and storage. The proposal is for four chalet holiday homes to 
be sited behind an existing screen of trees with an access onto the Catherton road 
just north of the cattle grid.

6.4.3 The site is in an isolated location in an area of South Shropshire which has very 
scattered farms and dwellings and very small hamlets. The nearest town with a 
variety of facilities is Cleobury Mortimer approximately 5 miles south-east of the 
proposed site.

6.4.4 The field is level with the road and there is good visibility in both directions from the 
proposed access. The first few metres of the access, from the road should be made 
to hard standing to prevent the re-location of loose material onto the road – this is a 
road safety issue as it could have an effect on vehicle braking.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.4.5 Although the road carries the national speed limit, the expectation of the amount 
and frequency of traffic is low. The proposal is unlikely to significantly adversely 
affect highway safety or local conditions.

6.5 Ecological Impact

6.5.1 This proposed development site is within the Environmental Network and as such 
the proposed scheme must clearly demonstrate how the development will 'promote 
the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority habitats and ecological 
networks' as required by paragraph 117of the NPPF..

6.5.2 Furthermore, Paragraph 118 of the NPPF sets out that local planning authorities 
should aim to conserve and enhance biodiversity, and that development likely to 
have an adverse effect on a Site of Special Scientific Interest should not normally 
be permitted. As mentioned above Core CS17 requires development to protect and 
enhance the diversity, high quality and local character of Shropshire’s natural 
environment, and to have no adverse effect on ecological assets.

6.5.3 Policy MD12 relates to the conservation, enhancement and restoration of 
Shropshire’s natural assets. It this respect it must be demonstrated that the social 
or economic benefits of development clearly outweigh the harm to natural assets.

6.5.4 Natural England and Shropshire Wildlife Trust both maintain their objections after 
considering additional information being submitted by the applicant’s agent and 
ecologist. Natural England’s response to the latest additional information submitted 
by the applicant’s ecological consultants is set out at 4.5 above.

6.5.6

6.5.7

Their consultation responses are noted below;

Natural England: This application is adjacent to Catherton Common Site of Special 
Scientific Interest (SSSI). Natural England objects to this development on the 
grounds that the application, as submitted, is likely to damage or destroy the 
interest features for which Catherton Common has been notified. Our concerns are 
set out below.

6.5.8 Catherton Common SSSI is an extensive area of wet and dry heathland, the 
diversity of the area is increased by the presence of streams and wet flushes and 
as such water quality is critical to the nature of the SSSI. At present the unit closest 
to the proposed development is in Unfavourable – Recovering condition.

6.5.9 Foul and surface water drainage – We note that the application proposes the 
installation of a package treatment plant to serve the development however the 
information does not appear to provide details of the quality of treated effluent 
resulting from the package treatment plant. There will also be soakaways for 
surface water drainage however the locations of these soakaways and the 
interactions between foul and surface water and their potential effects on the SSSI 
have not been considered. We note that the Ecology Report undertaken by Churton 
Ecology and dated June 2016 identifies that without appropriate precautions that 
drainage from the site may negatively affect the SSSI however it does not appear 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

to state what measures should be taken.

6.5.10 Recreational impacts – the site may be sensitive to recreational impacts however it 
does not appear that consideration of this potential impact has been included within 
the proposal. We understand that the area of SSSI adjacent to the site is amongst 
the most sensitive.  The additional information and comment includes specification 
from the manufacturers of the proposed package treatment plant however there is 
no interpretation of how the treated effluent may affect SSSI features or to 
demonstrate that the SSSI will not be affected. Indeed, point 1 the response from 
Churton Ecology states that while they have highlighted drainage as an area of
concern they have not commented on the likely impacts.

6.5.11 We note the email from the agent which makes reference to a number of trees 
planted on the site to ensure biodiversity as a whole is not lost as a result of the 
proposals we welcome the intention however they are not within the SSSI and the 
planting of ‘000s of trees’ may itself have a negative impact on wetland habitats 
within the SSSI. 

6.5.12 Also, with reference to the mitigation hierarchy compensatory measures i.e. new 
habitat to make up for damage / loss should be as a last resort after avoidance and 
mitigation.

6.5.13 If your Authority is minded to grant consent for this application contrary to the 
advice relating to Catherton Common SSSI contained in this letter, we refer you to 
Section 28I (6) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), specifically 
the duty placed upon your authority, requiring that your Authority;

 Provide notice to Natural England of the permission, and of its terms, 
                   the notice to include a statement of how (if at all) your authority has    
                   taken account of Natural England’s advice, and

 Shall not grant a permission which would allow the operations to start 
   before the end of a period of 21 days beginning with the date of that  
   notice.

6.5.14

6.5.15

Shropshire Wildlife Trust has commented;

While an ecological assessment has now been undertaken (an improvement upon 
the previous application 15/04508/FUL) this has only partly addressed our earlier 
concerns. Although the findings of the assessment indicate that the ecological 
value of the site may not be high, it is located within both the corridor and buffer 
area of Shropshire’s Environmental Network and immediately adjacent to a SSSI.

6.5.16 The tree planting mentioned in the design and access statement seems to consist 
of a mix including Ash, Beech, Cherry and Sycamore which are not particularly 
appropriate for the location and would appear to have been planted primarily for 
screening rather than ecological reasons.

6.5.17 The suggested Biodiversity Management Plan makes good suggestions regarding 
the management of marshy grassland and hay meadow but our experience is that 
such recommendations are often neglected in the long term.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

6.5.18 We are not convinced that the current level of suggested ecological enhancement 
will balance the possible impacts associated with the development which include:

 Drainage – as per our earlier objection there appears to be little detail 
on the package treatment plant (PTP). Given the proximity of a 
sensitive SSSI and mire habitat we are concerned that the PTP may 
not provide an adequate solution. Many PTPs are not designed to 
treat phosphate and there appears to be a lack of conclusive 
evidence to suggest that they would be appropriate in close proximity 
to a SSSI and mire habitat. We also note that Natural England 
Reports NECR170 and NECR179 both conclude that PTPs require a 
steady flow of sewage and sites that generate erratic loads such as 
holiday accommodation may need to install flow balancing systems.

 Additional Recreational Pressure – the close proximity of the 
development to the SSSI and Shropshire Wildlife Trust Reserve is 
likely to focus visitor pressure on this sensitive area and increase the 
costs of managing the site.

6.5.19 Operations likely to damage the special interest of Catherton Common include:

 “Dumping, spreading or discharge of any materials”; and
 “Recreational or other activities including motor-cycling, likely to 

damage the stream margins, bogs and heathland vegetation”.

While we recognise the importance of tourism for the economy of Shropshire, 
policy is clear that suitable locations in and around existing settlements should be 
used.

6.5.20 The applicant’s ecology Consultants, in response to the concerns raised by Natural 
England about the likely/possible impacts of the proposed drainage on the SSSI 
have responded that they are not experts in foul water drainage systems to be able 
to give details of the necessary precautions, and hope that the expertise within 
Natural England, the Environment Agency or Shropshire Council drainage teams 
might help to resolve this issue. They comment that the Cramer Stream appeared 
to be already polluted where it enters the SSSI from the north at a point 230m east 
of the development field, and they assume Natural England are aware of this 
situation.

They comment that there is no water course within the development field or along 
the north boundary of the SSSI adjacent to the development field or the adjacent 
field to the east. They acknowledge that ultimately water must drain from the 
application site into Cramer Gutter, but suggest it is highly unlikely to reach the 
SSSI until it has filtered through the eastern part of the development field and the 
whole length of the adjacent field to the east; a water course developing towards 
the south-east of this latter field where any water from these fields (and from others 
to the north) will enter the Cramer Gutter stream/SSSI.



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

The applicant’s ecological consultants consider that the proposed tree planting is 
unlikely to affect the hydrology of the SSSI, because pockets of woodland are 
already a feature of the area both on the SSSI and along the roadside fronting the 
application site. They comment that whilst 0.25ha of semi-improved grassland 
would be lost to cabins and 0.4ha would be disturbed but re-instated as grassland, 
over 1ha of existing grassland and 0.25ha of existing mire/acid grassland will be 
conserved and enhanced. Thus the loss of 0.25ha of grassland would be 
compensated for by an increase in biodiversity of over 1.5ha of existing habitats, 
with restoration of another 0.4ha.

With regard to new tree planting, the applicant’s ecological consultants comment 
that they did not include this in compensation/mitigation as it already exists (albeit 
only since 2014), but state that it is worth noting this will result in additional loss of 
semi-improved grassland (approximately 0.5ha overall, with only half of this in the 
development field) but at the same time will provide new habitat of some ecological 
value.
  

6.5.21 Natural England has responded to the above comments from the applicant’s 
ecological consultants and may be found at 4.5 above. In summary the area of the 
SSSI likely to be affected is the most vulnerable and insufficient evidence has been 
submitted to demonstrate that the SSSI interest features will not be damaged or 
destroyed through the foul drainage proposals or recreational pressure. The 
applicant has also not demonstrated that the mitigation hierarchy has been applied 
through consideration of alternative sites. There is insufficient information on the 
quality of the treated effluent from the package treatment plant and interaction 
between foul and surface water soakaways, and what precautions, if any, would be 
practical to safeguard the SSSI.

6.6 Drainage Impact

6.6.1 Core Strategy policy CS18 relates to sustainable water management.  SC Drainage 
considers that the proposed Package Treatment Plant (PTP) is acceptable. 
However, it should be noted that any potential impact upon the adjacent SSSI and 
SWT reserve does not fall within the remit of SC Drainage and comments are made 
only from an engineering point of view. 

7.0 CONCLUSION

7.1 It is acknowledged that the proposed development would contribute to the rural 
economy and to the role of Shropshire as a tourist destination to stay. However 
these benefits are considered to be outweighed by the following environmental 
harm: The principle of the proposed change of use of agricultural land and the 
erection of four holiday chalets in this remote and unsustainable rural area is 
contrary to both local and national policy planning policy which aims to locate this 
type of development adjacent to existing settlements or close to existing facilities. 
The introduction of significant new built form in to this very open location would 
detract from the visual amenity of the area and fails to respect the local 
distinctiveness of this part of Upper Marsh. The proposed log cabins and 
associated hard landscaping would appear as incongruous additions to the area 
and as such would result in a detrimental impact upon the character and 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

appearance of the area. Accordingly, the proposed development is contrary to 
Local Plan policies CS5, CS6, CS16 & CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
policies MD2, MD11, MD12 of the SAMDev and national guidance contained within 
the NPPF 2012.(Paragraphs 7, 17, 28, 58 and 109).

7.2 The application site is adjacent to Catherton Common (SSSI and SWT Reserve) 
and within both a buffer zone and ‘corridor’ of the Shropshire Environmental 
Network. Therefore, the proposed scheme must clearly demonstrate how the 
development will promote the preservation, restoration and re-creation of priority 
habitats and ecological networks. It is not considered that the level of suggested 
ecological enhancement will balance the likely adverse drainage impacts on the 
SSSI associated with the development. Furthermore, no consideration has been 
given to the additional recreational pressure on the SSSI and the Shropshire 
Wildlife Trust Reserve which could occur as a result of the proposed new tourism 
enterprise. Accordingly, the proposed development is contrary to policies CS17 and 
CS18 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy MD12 of the SAMDev and national 
guidance contained within the NPPF 2012.(Paragraphs 109 and 118).

8.0 Risk Assessment and Opportunities Appraisal

8.1 Risk Management

There are two principal risks associated with this recommendation as follows:

 As with any planning decision the applicant has a right of appeal if they 
disagree with the decision and/or the imposition of conditions. Costs can be 
awarded irrespective of the mechanism for hearing the appeal, i.e. written 
representations, hearing or inquiry.

 The decision may be challenged by way of a Judicial Review by a third 
party. The courts become involved when there is a misinterpretation or 
misapplication of policy or some breach of the rules of procedure or the 
principles of natural justice. However, their role is to review the way the 
authorities reach decisions, rather than to make a decision on the planning 
issues themselves, although they will interfere where the decision is so 
unreasonable as to be irrational or perverse. Therefore, they are concerned with 
the legality of the decision, not its planning merits. A challenge by way of 
Judicial Review must be made a) promptly and b) in any event not later than six 
weeks after the grounds to make the claim first arose.

Both of these risks need to be balanced against the risk of not proceeding to 
determine the application. In this scenario there is also a right of appeal against 
non-determination for application for which costs can also be awarded.

8.2 Human Rights

Article 8 gives the right to respect for private and family life and First Protocol 
Article 1 allows for the peaceful enjoyment of possessions.  These have to be 
balanced against the rights and freedoms of others and the orderly development of 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

the County in the interests of the Community.

First Protocol Article 1 requires that the desires of landowners must be balanced 
against the impact on residents.

This legislation has been taken into account in arriving at the above 
recommendation.

8.3 Equalities

The concern of planning law is to regulate the use of land in the interests of the 
public at large, rather than those of any particular group. Equality will be one of a 
number of ‘relevant considerations’ that need to be weighed in Planning Committee 
members’ minds under section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

9.0 Financial Implications

There are likely financial implications if the decision and / or imposition of 
conditions is challenged by a planning appeal or judicial review. The costs of 
defending any decision will be met by the authority and will vary dependent on the 
scale and nature of the proposal. Local financial considerations are capable of 
being taken into account when determining this planning application – insofar as 
they are material to the application. The weight given to this issue is a matter for 
the decision maker.

10.  Background 

Relevant Planning Policies

Central Government Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance

Shropshire Core Strategy:
CS5 Countryside and Green Belt
CS6 Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS13 Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
CS16 Tourism, Culture and Leisure
CS17 Environmental Networks
CS18 Sustainable Water Management

SAMDev Plan:
MD2 Sustainable Design
MD11 Tourism facilities and visitor accommodation
MD12 The Natural Environment

 



Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY: 

10/00494/FUL Formation of an agricultural access at Uppermarches, Catherton Common 
PERMIT 27TH April 2010
14/03958/AGR Erection of steel frame building PRIOR APPROVAL NOT REQUIRED 9TH 
October 2014
15/04508/FUL Change of use of land to accommodate 4 no. holiday chalets with associated 
access and parking; installation of package treatment plant REFUSE 22nd January 2016
 

11.       Additional Information

View details online: https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-
applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage 

List of Background Papers (This MUST be completed for all reports, but does not include items 
containing exempt or confidential information)
Design and Access Statement
Ecology Report
Holiday Accommodation Market Statement

Cabinet Member (Portfolio Holder)  
Cllr M. Price
Local Member  

 Cllr Gwilym Butler
 Cllr Madge Shineton
Appendices
Informatives

Informatives

 1. Despite the Council wanting to work with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
manner as required in the  National planning policy Framework paragraph 187, the proposed 
development is contrary to the policies set out in the committee report and referred to in the 
reasons for refusal, and it has not been possible to reach an agreed solution.

 2. In determining this application the Local Planning Authority gave consideration to the 
following policies:

Central Government Guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework
National Planning Practice Guidance

https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://pa.shropshire.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


Planning Committee – 7 February 2017 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh 
Catherton Shropshire  

Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Shropshire Core Strategy:
CS5 Countryside and Green Belt
CS6 Sustainable Design and Development Principles
CS13 Economic Development, Enterprise and Employment
CS16 Tourism, Culture and Leisure
CS17 Environmental Networks
CS18 Sustainable Water Management

SAMDev Plan:
MD2 Sustainable Design
MD11 Tourism Facilities and Visitor Accommodation
MD12 Natural Environment

-





Contact: Tim Rogers (01743) 258773

Development Management Report

SCHEDULE OF APPEALS AS AT COMMITTEE 7th February 2017

LPA reference 16/02548/FUL
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr Richard Edwards
Proposal Erection of new dwelling to replace existing 

agricultural building (with consent for residential 
conversion)

Location Agricultural Building
Inellan, 
Clee Hill Road, Burford
Tenbury Wells, Shropshire
WR15 8HL

Date of appeal 14.10.16
Appeal method Written Representation

Date site visit
Date of appeal decision 19.01.17

Costs awarded
Appeal decision Dismissed

LPA reference 16/02831/FUL
Appeal against Refusal

Committee or Del. Decision Delegated
Appellant Mr & Mrs J Southorn
Proposal Erection of three dwellings with detached garages; 

creation of visibility splay (revised scheme)
Location Development Land West Of Cwm Gweld

Wall Under Heywood
Shropshire

Date of appeal 02.11.2016
Appeal method Written Representation

Date site visit 05.01.2017
Date of appeal decision 26.01.2017

Costs awarded
Appeal decision Dismissed

Committee and date

South Planning Committee

7 February 2017





  

 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 10 January 2017 

by I Radcliffe  BSc(Hons) MRTPI MCIEH DMS 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 19th January 2017 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/16/3158906 

Agricultural Building, Inellan, Clee Hill Road, Burford WR15 8HL 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr Richard Edwards against the decision of Shropshire Council. 

 The application Ref 16/02548/FUL, dated 8 June 2016, was refused by notice dated 

4 August 2016. 

 The development proposed is described as the replacement of existing agricultural 

building (that benefits from permission for residential use) with a new dwelling. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issue 

2. The main issue in this appeal is whether the appeal scheme comprises 
sustainable development as defined in the National Planning Policy 

Framework(‘the Framework’), having regard to; 

 whether the location of the proposed development would comply with 
the development plan; 

 the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area; 
and, 

 the accessibility of services and facilities from the site. 

Reasons 

Location of development 

3. The Council determined under an earlier application that conversion of the 
agricultural building to a dwellinghouse would be permitted development and 

that prior approval was not required.  However, this conversion has not taken 
place and I saw during the site visit that the building is still in agricultural use.  
As a result, the proposed development would be for a new dwellinghouse in the 

open countryside. 

4. The appellant argues that as the conversion of the agricultural building to a 

dwellinghouse would be permitted development, the principle of a dwelling on 
the appeal site has been established.  However, unlike an application for 
planning permission, the GPDO effectively grants planning permission without 

assessing compliance with the policies of the development plan that direct the 
location of development and seek to protect the countryside.  As a result, the 

principle of a new dwelling house on the appeal site, other than through the 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3158906 
 

 
2 

exercise of the permitted development rights described, has not been 

established. 

5. The development plan for the area consists of the Shropshire Core Strategy 

(2011) and the Shropshire Site Allocations and Management of Development 
(SAMDev) Plan (2015).  The approach of the development plan, in order to 
further sustainability objectives, is to focus the delivery of housing on the 

larger settlements in the County that have a range of services and facilities.   

6. Paragraph 55 of the Framework advises that to promote sustainable 

development in rural areas housing should be located where it will enhance or 
maintain the vitality of rural communities.  In rural areas, consistent with this 
approach, policy MD1 of the SAMDev supports new housing in Community Hubs 

and Clusters.  In the rural area where the appeal site is located, Burford is 
identified as a Community Hub by policy S10 of the SAMDev.  However, the 

appeal site is located some distance away from Burford within the open 
countryside and so would not comply with either of these policies. 

7. In relation to new isolated homes in the countryside, paragraph 55 of the 

Framework states that local planning authorities should avoid such 
development unless there are special circumstances.   In the open countryside, 

consistent with the Framework, policy CS5 of the Core Strategy and policy 
MD7a of the SAMDev strictly control new development.  It is no part of the 
appellant’s case that the proposal would fall within the exceptions to these 

development plan policies.  As a consequence, the proposal would be contrary 
to these policies also.  

8. Policy MD3 of the SAMDev deals with the delivery of housing.  It supports 
sustainable development on windfall sites, both within settlements and within 
the open countryside, having regard to the policies of the development plan, 

particularly those that relate to its spatial strategy for housing.  I will decide 
whether the proposal would be a sustainable development in my overall 

conclusions. 

Character and appearance 

9. Of the various development plan policies referred to, I consider policies CS6 

and CS17 of the Core Strategy and policy MD12 of the SAMDev Plan to be the 
most relevant to this issue.  These policies seek to conserve and enhance the 

natural environment taking into local context, distinctiveness and the character 
of the landscape. 

10. The agricultural building is a single storey rectangular shaped building located 

within an open agricultural landscape of rolling hedged fields and occasional 
copses of trees.  Owing to its position on high ground it is in a prominent 

position.  The building is set well back from Clee Hill Road and visually stands 
apart from the occasional buildings located next to the road.  Due to its simple 

form and use of materials, I agree with the Council that it is clearly legible as 
an agricultural building and does not appear out of place in this rural setting.  

11. The proposal would involve the demolition of this building and the construction 

of a two storey, four bedroom dwelling in its place.  The house would have a 
narrow rectangular plan form, with the entrance to the house contained within 

its eastern gable end.  It would be orientated so that its widest elevation faces 
southwards over the open countryside which rolls away into the distance.  At 
some 20m in length and 6.75m in width it would have a large footprint. The 

house would be set down into the site, so that in views from the road it would 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3158906 
 

 
3 

appear to be a single storey dwelling.  However, in medium distance views 

from the public footpath to the south, the urbanising effect in this prominent 
position of the large two storey house and its extensive glazing would be 

readily apparent.  This adverse effect would be added to by the prominence of 
the wide balcony wrapping around the building and the domestic paraphernalia 
which would accrue within the large curtilage of the proposed house.  

12. In the event that the appeal is dismissed, it is likely that the barn would be 
converted to a dwelling under permitted development rights.  However, the 

conversion, with its limited use of new openings, would retain the overall 
agricultural form and character of the building.  It would also result in a smaller 
dwelling than the appeal proposal and would have a smaller curtilage.  As a 

result, its urbanising effect on the character and appearance of the countryside 
would be markedly less than the appeal proposal. Consequently, I attach little 

weight to this fall back position in favour of the appeal. 

13. For the reasons given above, the urbanising effect of the proposed 
development would unacceptably harm the character and appearance of the 

open countryside and its rural landscape, contrary to policies CS6 and CS17 of 
the Core Strategy and policy MD12 of the SAMDev Plan.  

Accessibility 

14. The appeal site is located in an isolated location approximately one mile from 
Burford and 1.5 miles from Tenbury Wells.  However, there are no regular bus 

services that would allow future residents of the proposed development to 
access the services and facilities in these settlements.  Given the distances 

involved, and that Clee Hill Road has no footway, these settlements could not 
reasonably be accessed on foot.  Whilst within comfortable cycling distance, 
given the uphill location of the appeal site and the national speed limit that 

applies to this unlit road, cycling would only be an option for the most confident 
and able.  As a consequence, future occupiers would be heavily reliant on the 

private car and in terms of accessibility by sustainable modes of transport the 
appeal site is poorly located. 

Overall Conclusions: The Planning Balance 

15. The policies of the Framework as a whole constitute the Government’s view of 
what sustainable development means in practice.  There are three dimensions 

to sustainable development: environmental, economic and social.   

16. In this appeal, as the proposed new house would be located in the open 
countryside it would be contrary to policy CS5 of the Core Strategy and policies 

MD1, MD7a and S10 of the SAMDev Plan.  Policy MD3 of the SAMDev though 
supports sustainable housing development on windfall sites within the open 

countryside having regard to policies of the development plan. 

17. Socially, the proposed development would contribute to addressing housing 

need in the County.  However, as it would only contribute a single house, and 
no shortfall in the required supply has been demonstrated, the weight that I 
attach to this benefit is limited.  In terms of space, light, storage and outdoor 

private amenity space, the proposal would provide a higher standard of 
accommodation than the approved conversion of the existing building under 

permitted development rights.  Nevertheless, as the conversion in these 
respects, and overall, would provide a good standard of residential amenity, 
this is a benefit of the scheme to which I attach little weight.  Economically, the 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3158906 
 

 
4 

proposal would create employment and generate demand for materials, albeit 

this would be limited to the construction period.  

18. In terms of the environment, the south facing orientation of the building and its 

extensive use of glazing maximises opportunities for passive solar gain and 
solar energy.  It would also be built to a high standard in terms of 
environmental performance.  As a result, it would comply with policy CS6 of 

the Core Strategy and policy MD2 of the Core Strategy which seek good 
standards of sustainable design and construction.  However, this has to be 

balanced against the demonstrable harm that would be caused to the 
countryside and landscape by the urbanising effect of the proposal, and its poor 
location in terms of accessibility by sustainable modes of transport.   

19. Having considered all the matters raised, whilst the proposal would result in 
some social, economic and environmental benefits, they are insufficient to 

outweigh the demonstrable harm that would be caused to the character and 
appearance of the countryside and the poor accessibility of the site.  As a 
consequence, I therefore conclude that the proposal cannot be considered to 

be a sustainable development and so would be contrary to policy MD3 of the 
SAMDev Plan, the development plan as a whole and the Framework.  The 

appeal should therefore be dismissed.   

Ian Radcliffe 
 

Inspector 

 



  

 
 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 5 January 2017 

by Jason Whitfield  BA (Hons) DipTP MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government 

Decision date: 26th January 2017 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/L3245/W/16/3159738 

Cwm Gweld, Stoneacton Farm Junction to Brook House Farm, Junction 
with B4371, Wall Under Heywood SY6 7DS 

 The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

 The appeal is made by Mr and Mrs Jeremy Southorn against the decision of Shropshire 

Council. 

 The application Ref 16/02831/FUL, dated 24 June 2016, was refused by notice dated  

30 August 2016. 

 The development proposed is the erection of three dwellings with detached garages. 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Main Issue 

2. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of 

the landscape, having particular regard to whether the proposal would 
conserve the landscape and scenic beauty of the Shropshire Hills Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). 

Reasons 

Planning Policy Context 

3. Paragraph 14 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) sets 
out a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  For decision taking 
this means ‘approving proposals which accord with the development plan 

without delay’ and ‘where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 
policies are out-of-date, granting permission unless any adverse impacts of 

doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when 
assessed against the policies of the Framework taken as a whole.’ 

4. Paragraph 12 of the Framework nevertheless makes clear that the statutory 

status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making has 
not changed.  Development that accords with an up-to-date Local Plan should 

be approved and development that conflicts should be refused unless other 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

5. The appellant suggests that the primacy of the development plan as the 

starting point carries no greater weight than ‘other material considerations’.  
However, whilst the Framework is in itself a material consideration of some 

importance, it does not absolve the decision maker of the statutory duty in 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3159738 
 

 
2 

respect of the development plan.  Although the weight attributed to material 

considerations is a matter for the decision maker, and such considerations may 
indeed be capable of outweighing conflict with the development plan, this does 

not diminish the primacy of the development plan as the starting point for 
decision taking. 

6. The development plan in this instance comprises the Shropshire Local 

Development Framework: Adopted Core Strategy 2011 (CS) and the 
Shropshire Site Allocations and Management Development Plan 2015 

(SAMDev). 

7. Policy CS1 of the CS sets out the strategic approach to new development over 
the plan period, with the rural areas accommodating around 35% of 

Shropshire’s residential development.  Policy MD7a of the SAMDev seeks to 
strictly control new market housing outside of Community Hubs and 

Community Clusters.  Policy CS4 of the CS states that in rural areas, 
communities will become more sustainable by not allowing development 
outside of Community Hubs and Community Clusters unless it meets Policy 

CS5.  The appeal site does not lie within a Community Hub or a Community 
Cluster Settlement identified under Policy MD1 of the SAMDev. 

8. Policy CS5 seeks to strictly control new development in the countryside.  
Development will be permitted on appropriate sites which maintain and 
enhance countryside vitality and character and where they improve the 

sustainability of rural communities.  In addition, Policy MD3 of the SAMDev 
states that planning permission will be granted for other sustainable housing 

development having regard to other policies of the Local Plan, including policies 
CS2, CS4, CS5, MD1 and MD7a. 

9. Consequently, the proposal would conflict with the relevant development plan 

policies, unless it can be demonstrated that the proposal would constitute 
sustainable development and would, as a consequence, accord with Policy CS5 

of the CS as well as other relevant local plan policies. 

Character and Appearance 

10. The appeal site lies within the Shropshire Hills Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty (AONB).  The appeal site and Wall under Heywood are located within a 
gentle plateau of rolling countryside that is punctuated by occasional 

development.  It comprises fields with wooded areas and undulating slopes 
rising to hilltops.  These features encapsulate the landscape and scenic beauty 
of the AONB. 

11. The appeal site comprises part of an agricultural field to the rear of a detached 
bungalow which sits adjacent to the junction of Stone Acton Lane and B3471.  

The site lies close to the core of Wall-under-Heywood and is largely surrounded 
by open, agricultural fields. 

12. Paragraph 115 of the Framework states that great weight should be attached 
to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs, which along with National 
Parks, have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape and scenic 

beauty. 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3159738 
 

 
3 

13. Planning permission1 was granted in September 2015 for the erection of three 

dwellings on the appeal site.  I understand that prior to the grant of planning 
permission the previous scheme was amended to comprise a single detached 

house along with two link-detached properties with a footprint of around 
170m² on plot 1 and 130m² on plots 2 and 3. 

14. In contrast, this appeal proposal seeks to erect three detached dwellings each 

with a footprint of around 220m².  The dwellings would be 1.5 storey in height 
and the scheme would include a large expanse of permeable surfaced driveway 

and detached garages.  The proposal would create individually designed 
dwellings based on a variety of vernacular modelling, details and materials.  

15. I note that the site is reasonably well screened from the B4371 and Stone 

Acton Lane by established trees and hedging along the field boundaries, as well 
as by the existing property to the east and an agricultural building to the north.  

Nevertheless, despite the utilisation of the roof space for upper floor 
accommodation, the height of the properties, the scale and extent of the roof 
pitches and gables, and the overall footprint of the dwellings would mean that 

from certain vantage points in the immediate area, the presence of built form 
in this location would be readily apparent.   

16. Moreover, the majority of built form in the settlement is localised on the 
opposite side of the B4371, with only sporadic housing and other buildings 
located out with.  Housing on the appeal site would stand apart, and be visually 

distinct, from the development within Wall under Heywood.  

17. The appellant indicates that the layout of the housing would not be perceptible 

in public views.  However, the proposal would be seen in longer-distance views 
from higher ground and would be observed in the context of the flat plateau of 
adjacent fields which are agricultural in nature and are typical of the 

countryside which characterises the AONB.  As a result, the development would 
appear as a prominent and suburban element of built form within what is a 

large expanse of relatively unfettered countryside. 

18. I conclude, therefore, that the proposal would have a harmful effect on the 
character and appearance of the landscape and would fail to conserve the 

landscape and scenic beauty of the Shropshire Hills AONB.  Consequently, it 
would conflict with Policy MD2 of the SAMDev which states that proposals 

should contribute to and respect locally distinctive or valued character.  It 
would also conflict with Policy MD12 and Policy S5 of the SAMDev which state 
that proposals which would have a significant adverse effect on the special 

qualities of the Shropshire Hills AONB will only be permitted where the social or 
economic benefits outweigh the harm, and that new development must 

recognise the importance of conserving the special qualities of the AONB. 

Sustainable Development 

19. The appellant makes reference to the case of Wychavon District Council v 
Secretary of State and Crown House Developments Ltd [2016] EWHC 592 
(Admin) in which the Court found that the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development exists outside of paragraph 14 of the Framework.  However, the 
Court later found in Trustees of the Barker Mill Estates v Test Valley BC & 

SSCLG [2016] EWHC 3028 (Admin) that the presumption in favour of 

                                       
1 14/04973/FUL 

https://pinslibrary.org.uk/vufind/Record/22074
https://pinslibrary.org.uk/vufind/Record/22074


Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3159738 
 

 
4 

sustainable development is solely contained within paragraph 14 of the 

Framework and similarly in East Staffordshire BC v SSCLG and Barwood 
Strategic Land [2016] EWHC 2973 (Admin) that the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development exists only within paragraph 14.  Where a plan is not 
absent silent or out of date the presumption means approving development 
that accords with it without delay.  Development that is in conflict with such a 

plan, as is the case here, cannot benefit from the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development.  As a result, in this instance, the weighted balance 

set out in the presumption in paragraph 14 does not apply. 

20. Nevertheless, the policies within the Framework are an important material 
consideration which must, in this instance, be weighed in the balance.  I note 

that the recent adoption of the SAMDev does not necessarily have the effect of 
rendering settlements previously judged to be sustainable as unsustainable.  

However, sustainability is not solely confined to a consideration of accessibility 
to services and facilities. 

21. Paragraph 7 of the Framework sets out that there are three dimensions to 

sustainable development – economic, social and environmental.  Paragraph 8 
of the Framework sets out that these roles should not be undertaken in 

isolation because they are mutually dependent.  Therefore, in judging whether 
the proposal would achieve sustainable development, I must have 
consideration to the proposal against the policies in the Framework as a whole. 

22. The parties agree that, in contrast to the extant permission, the proposal 
should not make a contribution towards affordable housing, in line with the 

Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) of 28 November 2014 and the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) in respect of affordable housing and tariff based 
contributions.  On the evidence before me, I have no reason to disagree.  

Nevertheless, the lack of affordable housing provision would reduce the social 
benefits of the proposal in comparison to the extant scheme. 

23. The proposal would generate Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) payments, 
however, such payments are designed to offset the impact of new development 
on the infrastructure of an area.  CIL payments would, therefore, be a neutral 

consideration. 

24. The proposal would have some social benefits, however, as it would make a 

modest, but nevertheless important, contribution towards meeting housing 
need in the area.  Furthermore, the proposal would make a small contribution 
towards supporting local services and facilities through increased spending 

from future residents.  There would also be some economic benefits as the 
proposal would support employment during construction.  The Council has 

raised no particular concerns with the suitability of the location of the appeal 
site, noting that it has some services, facilities and employment opportunities 

within walking distance.  I have no reason to disagree. 

25. However, such considerations would not outweigh the harm that would arise to 
the character and appearance of the landscape, and the failure to conserve the 

landscape and scenic beauty of the AONB.  In line with paragraph 115 of the 
Framework, this is a matter to be afforded great weight.  As a result, the 

proposal would fail to fulfil the environmental role of sustainability. 

26. Consequently, having regard to the provisions of the Framework, the appeal 
proposal would not constitute sustainable development and would conflict with 



Appeal Decision APP/L3245/W/16/3159738 
 

 
5 

Policy CS5 of the CS and Policy MD3 of the SAMDev.  The proposal would also, 

therefore, conflict with CS Policies CS1, CS4 and SAMDev Policies MD1, MD3 
and MD7a. 

Other Matters 

27. The appellant has made reference to an appeal decision at Yew Tree Inn, 
Shrewsbury Road, All Stretton2.  In contrast to my findings in this case, the 

effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of the landscape and 
the AONB was not a main issue of dispute between the parties in the All 

Stretton appeal and the Inspector subsequently found no harm would arise to 
the character or appearance of the AONB.  In addition, the Inspector found that 
the proposal would fulfil all 3 dimensions of sustainable development.  That is 

not the case here.  In any event, I have considered this appeal on its own 
merits.  I therefore afford the referenced appeal limited weight. 

28. The appellant argues that the previous permission provides a fallback which 
would justify the grant of planning permission here.  Whilst the fallback 
position would serve a similar purpose to the appeal proposal, the appellant 

indicates that the permission is ‘held to ransom’ by the affordable housing 
requirement attached to it.  This casts doubt on whether there is a reasonable 

prospect of the extant permission being implemented if this appeal is 
dismissed.  Furthermore, I have found that, on the evidence before me, the 
appeal proposal would be more harmful than the permitted scheme.  I am 

therefore unable to afford the fallback position more than moderate weight. 

Conclusions 

29. Whilst I have afforded considerable weight to the benefits of the scheme and 
given moderate weight to the presence of a fallback position, there are no 
considerations in this instance that would outweigh the conflict with the 

development plan nor the harm that would arise to the character and 
appearance of the landscape, the failure of the proposal to conserve the 

landscape and scenic beauty of the Shropshire Hills AONB and the subsequent 
failure of the proposal to constitute sustainable development. 

30. For the reasons given above, and having considered all other matters, the 

appeal should be dismissed. 

Jason Whitfield 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

 

                                       
2 APP/L3245/W/16/3149461 




	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Dun Cow Farm Rocks Green Ludlow Shropshire SY8 2DS (14/05573/OUT)
	6 Proposed Holiday Chalets At Upper Marsh Catherton Shropshire (16/02758/FUL)
	7 Schedule of Appeals and Appeal Decisions
	Appeal Decision - 16-02548-FUL
	Appeal Decision -16-02831-FUL


